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This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes "forwaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pev@gcurities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These forwe-looking statements relate to expectations conogrmatters that are not historical facts, and aemgrally
identified by words such as "believe", "expecthtiaipate”, "estimate”, "intend”, "strategy"”, "may'will likely" and similar words or phrases.
A forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor aantee of future events or circumstances, andaatual results could differ
materially and adversely from those expressed jnfarward-looking statement. These forward-lookstatements are all based on currently
available market, operating, financial and compes&tinformation and assumptions and are subjeetarious risks and uncertainties that are
difficult to predict. Important information regamij factors that could cause actual results to diff@terially from such expectations is
disclosed in this Report, including, without lintitan, information under the captionRisk Factors". These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to risks associated with the laumacid commercial success of our products, prograntstachnologies; the success of product
partnerships; continuing development, qualificateomd volume production of EXPRESSvault™, NVvauli$herCloud™ and VLP Plan-X
Registered Dual I-line Memory Module ("RDIMM"); the rapidly-changinature of technology; risks associated with irgedlial property,
including the costs and unpredictability of litig@t over infringement of our property and the pb8#y of our patents being reexamined by
United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPT@jMatility in the pricing of DRAM ICs and NANDhanges in and uncertainty of
customer acceptance of, and demand for, our egigtinducts and products under development, inclydincertainty of and/or delays in
product orders and product qualifications; delapsour and our customers' product releases and dgweént; introductions of new produr
by competitors; changes in end-user demand fomtglclgy solutions; our ability to attract and retaskilled personnel; our reliance on
suppliers of critical components and vendors inghpply chain; fluctuations in the market pricecdfical components; evolving industry
standards; and the political and regulatory envineant in the People's Republic of China ("PRC").dpt@s required by law, we do not
undertake any obligation to revise or update amywérd-looking statements for any reason.

PART |
ltem 1. Business
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-perforce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacesstierer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of dynamic random access ongintegrated circuits ('DRAM
ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"), appliation-specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") andhet components assembled on
printed circuit boards ("PCBs"). We primarily matlkad sell our products to leading original equiptmaanufacturer ("OEM") customers. C
solutions are targeted at applications where merlays a key role in meeting system performanceirements. We leverage a portfolio of
proprietary technologies and design technique$ydirag efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques and custom semiconductor
logic, to deliver memory subsystems with high meyraensity, small form factor, high signal integrigttractive thermal characteristics and
low cost per bit.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@02&nd commenced operations in September 2000.
Our Products
HyperCloud™

In November 2009, we introduced HyperClouB™R3 memory technology. HyperCloud™ utilizes anl@$hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthrcreases memory capacity and load reductiomiaolyy that increases memory bandwi
We expect that these patented technologies willenpaissible improved levels of performance for menitensive
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datacenter applications and workloads, includingmmise virtualization, cloud computing infrasttue, business intelligence real-time data
analytics, and high performance computing. Hypeu@1¢ memory has been under evaluation by seve@iio©EM customers for use in their
server products. In February 2012, we achieved mgoalification of HyperCloud™ at certain major ME.

In November 2011, we introduced a 32GB tirtital rank RDIMM integrating HyperCloud™ with oproprietary Planar-X technology.
The new memory module enables up to 768GB of DRAMMOIry in next generation two-processor serversitiuhglly, we announced
collaborative agreements with each of Hewlett-Petkzompany ("HP") and International Business Maeki('IBM"), pursuant to which these
OEMs have agreed to cooperate with us in effortpuiadify HyperCloud™ memory products for use whtleit respective products. After
qualification is achieved by one or both of thed&M3, the qualifying OEMs will engage with us injoimarketing and further product
development efforts. We and each of the OEMs hawentitted financial and other resources toward thaloration. However, the efforts
undertaken under either of the collaborative age@mmay not result in any new revenues for us.

NVvault™

In February 2010, we announced generalahitify of NVvault™ battery-free. Like the NVvaul battery-powered product, NVvault™
battery-free provides non-volatile cache memorysgatem targeting RAID, storage virtualization amlgeo cache-protection and data logging
applications. NVvault™ products provide server atatage OEMs a solution for enhanced datacentéirrzovery. Unlike our traditional
battery-powered fault tolerant cache product whéihed solely on batteries to power the cache, N\MV¥ battery-free utilizes a combination
of DRAM for high throughput performance and flash éxtended data retention. The introduction of HMt™ battery-free, as well as the
launch of the current version of the battery-power®dule in connection with Dell's introductiontbé PERC 7 line of servers in December
2009, has resulted in NVvault™ revenues of $39 anj or 66% of total revenues for 2011. We expedecline in NVvault™ sales to Dell
through 2013 following Intel's launch of its Romlghatform in the first quarter of 2012. This redantin sales could have a significant impact
on our revenues and gross profit. In order to legerour NVvault™ technology into a more diversg@mer base, we continue to pursue
additional qualifications of NVvault™ with other stomers. We also introduced EXPRESSvault™ in M2@&hl and we are in the process of
qualifying next generation DDR3 NVvault™ with custers. While nearly 100% of 2010 sales were madzeth as a result of our
diversification efforts, approximately 7% of NVval revenues in 2011 were to other customers.

Specialty Memory Modules and Flash-Based Products

The remainder of our revenues arose prlynfidm sales of specialty memory modules and flaabed products, the majority of which
were utilized in data center and industrial appiares. When developing modules for an equipmentdipcolaunch, we engage with our OEM
customers from the earliest stages of new prodefitition, providing us unique insight into theirlfrange of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collaboratmsalso allowed us to develop a significant l@faystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigchtgiques, including efficient planar design, altgive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritk high speed, capacity and signal integrity, $rimem factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues Bpetialty modules and flash-based products afjedtb fluctuation as a result of the life
cycles of the products into which our modules amoiporated. Our ability to continue to produceerayes from specialty memory modules
flash-based products is dependent on our abilityuelify our products on new platforms as currdatfprms reach the end of their lifecycles,
and on the state of the global economy.
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Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techigés and design techniques and have assembledyareering team with expertise in
semiconductors, printed circuit boards, memory gsiiesn and system design. Our technology competenuitude:

IC Design Expertise. We have designed special algorithms that camp&emented in stand-alone integrated circuitst@grated into
other functional blocks in ASICs. We utilize thedgorithms in the HyperCloud™ chipset to incorperatnk multiplication and load reduction
functionality. We also incorporate these algoritimsur NVvault™ product line of RDIMMS.

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create memory ystiess in a form factor of less than one inch iiglte We
believe our proprietary board design technologyaicularly useful in the blade server market, mehefficient use of motherboard space is
critical. Our technology has allowed us to decrebsesystem board space required for memory, apdoive thermal performance and
operating speeds, by enabling our customers taltsmative methods of component layout.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integriiyhim a PCB.
These technigues include the use of 8- or 10-lagards, matching conductive trace lengths, a mzgchnumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among ottieg$h help reduce noise and crosstalk between ejaaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulesstamponents allow us to assemble memory subsystémsignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with sméddietprints for their customers.

Planar-X Designs. Our patented Planar-X circuit design providadigonal board space for a large number of DRAMhponents. This
enables us to produce higher capacity RDIMM modwdash as our 32GB twartual rank HyperCloud™ RDIMM, at a lower cost Ajowing
us to use standard, currently available 4GB DRAbht®logy.

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretiwiideeat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsystenirduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange compts to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compsieat do not meet specifications. We use thesmallation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgysiems, which enables our engineers to quicklglde accurate solutions for potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsacteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Customers

We primarily market and sell our productdeading OEMs in the server, storage and commtioitemarkets. Consistent with the
concentrated nature of the OEM customer base itanget markets, a small number of large custoinave historically accounted for a
significant portion of our net sales. Dell reprasenapproximately 70% of our net sales in 2011uitiog 93% of our NVvault™ sales. Dell
and F5 Networks, Inc. ("F5 Networks") representepraximately 59% and 19%, respectively, of ourgadés in 2010. Net sales to some of
OEM customers include memory modules that are figelby us directly with the OEM customer and stwiatlectronic manufacturing services
providers ("EMSs"), for incorporation into produatsinufactured exclusively for the OEM customelimsome instances, to facilitate credit
and logistics. These net sales to EMSs have hisityifluctuated period to period as a portionta# total net sales to the OEM customers. Net
sales to Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. Ltd., anEEbperating under the trade name of Foxconn thatpges memory modules from us for
incorporation into products manufactured exclugiet Dell, represented approximately 96% of né¢sao Dell for 2011 and 2010.
Flextronics International Ltd.
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("Flextronics") is an EMS for F5 Networks. Substally all of our products used by F5 Networks avkdgo Flextronics for incorporation in
subassembly products. For further information regay our sales to our OEM customer base, please teNote 12 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part IV, Item 1%his Report.

We expect that our key customers or ottiegyd OEMs will continue to account for a substamtixtion of our net sales in 2012 and in the
foreseeable future. The composition of major custenand their respective contributions to our atshave varied and will likely continue to
vary from period to period as our OEMs progreseufgh the life cycle of the products they produce sell. For example, we expect a decline
in sales of our NVvault™ sales to Dell following iaunch of servers incorporating Intel's Romleatfpkm. Our sales are made primarily
pursuant to standard purchase orders that maysbheeduled on relatively short notice. Customergarerally allowed limited rights of return
for up to 30 days, except for sales of excess itoras, which contain no right-of-return privilegésstimated returns are provided for at the
time of sale based on historical experience orifipédentification of an event necessitating aam®. While these returns have historically
been within our expectations and the provisionalgished, we cannot guarantee that we will contiouexperience similar return rates in the
future. Any significant increase in product failueges and the resulting product returns could lzar@terial adverse effect on our operating
results for the period or periods in which suclumes materialize.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgemerally ranging from one to three years, deipgnzh the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctamtéges require us to repair or replace defectioglpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatewéoranty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaieacement costs. While such costs have histbribaken within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes irréaihates could have a material adverse impact preqairing additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througlrectisales force and a network of independenssalgresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at téehnical, marketing and executive managementdevighin market-leading
OEMs. Additionally, our marketing strategy for Hygdoud™ includes the creation of demand througheset evaluation and demonstration
activities in vertical computing markets. Our OENstomers design systems for a variety of applioatibat require a significant number of
high performance memory subsystems, representingtautial opportunities for us. We have been ssfaem developing OEM relationships
through our ability to provide high performance noeynsubsystems. Our direct sales group and figidiegtion engineers work closely with
our OEM customers at an early stage of their desygies to solve their design challenges and t@desur products into their systems.

We believe in the timely communication axg¢hange of information with our customers. Wezdilwell-trained, highly technical
program management teams to successfully drivepmeduct development and quickly respond to ouraiusts' needs and expectations. Our
program management teams provide quick respongs timd act as a single point-of-contact for rousaes during the sales process.
Additionally, they address the long-term business technology goals of our customers. We emplaaatapproach to business development
whereby our sales team and independent represegadientify, qualify and prioritize customer presgs through offices in a number of
locations worldwide. For additional information egding our net sales from external customers byggghic area, refer to Note 13 of Note:
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Ratem 15 of this Report.
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Manufacturing

We manufacture substantially all of ourdarots at our facilities in Suzhou in the PRC. Qdvamnced engineering and design capabilities,
combined with our in-house manufacturing processié®y us to assemble our memory subsystems rgleatd in high volume. Our advanced,
customized manufacturing facilities are capablsuface mount assembly, subsystem testing, systeehtburn-in testing, programming,
marking, labeling and packaging. At each stagéefproduction cycle, including product prototypiggalification sample production and
high-volume manufacturing and delivery, we focuspooviding our customers with rapid response amdtghanufacturing turn-around times.
Manufacturing cycle times for our products are tgfly one week or less, and in some cases as féwoadays, from receipt of order.

We acquire components and materials su&B#8s, DRAM ICs and NAND directly from integratedcuit manufacturers and assemble
them into finished subsystems. We believe thatadrair key strengths is the efficient procurement emanagement of components for our
subsystems, which benefits our customers in tha fafrlower costs and increased product availabife have a limited number of suppliers,
including Samsung Electronics, Hynix Semiconduetaod Micron Semiconductor, each of which have cosgarimore than 10% of our total
purchases in either or both of 2011 and 2010. &dhér information regarding our supplier concetidres, refer to Note 12 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rartem 15 of this Report. We have developedrsgreupplier relationships with these and
other key DRAM IC and NAND manufacturers, which badieve gives us direct and ready access to thieatircomponents that we need for
our production activities. We typically qualify oproducts with our customers using multiple manufeers of DRAM ICs and NAND. The
flexibility to choose from several DRAM IC and NAN®roviders allows us to minimize product cost arakimize product availability. Our
HyperCloud™ RDIMM contains an ASIC chipset compdn#&yie intend to procure these ASICs from multiplieegrated circuit vendors.

We schedule production based on purchater aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systeictv allows for internal quality analysis, directass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to ngamanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the tdlig to sell excess quantities of certain compariaventories of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory integratemlits. However, the ASIC and DRAM components usedur HyperCloud™ product have
limited alternative uses. As such, we may not be @bsell excess quantities of the componentgjlshwee fail to achieve sufficient sales
volumes. Our sales of excess inventory generassdthen 1% of our net sales in 2011 and 2010.

Our quality assurance engineers work withsuppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. These
engineers also perform onsite supplier factorytguatid use our internal test and inspection systemerify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofastig with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and aflomtbe elimination of potential problems at thelieat possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afrmemory subsystems undergo functional and system-in testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities atthianced imaging technology to inspect the qualfityur assemblies.
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We are certified in 1ISO 9001:2000 Qualitahdhgement Systems, 1ISO 14001:2004 Environmentahlyianent Standards, and OSHAS
18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Manage®gstems.

Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for seever, high performance computing and commuminatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMsir @rimary competitors are memory
module providers such as STEC, SMART Modular Tetgies, Inc., and Viking Interworks, a division 8anmina-SCI Corporation. We face
competition from DRAM suppliers, including HynixaBisung and Micron for many of our products, inahgdHyperCloud™. We also face
potential direct or indirect competition from logappliers such as Inphi and IDT. As we enter neaxkets and pursue additional applications
for our products, we may face competition fromrgéa number of competitors that produce solutidiliging similar or competing
technologies.

Certain of our competitors have substagtigteater financial, technical, marketing, distion and other resources, broader product lines,
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customers suppliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivaipatetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag pavprietary products or technologies that arepmtditive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strateglationships with, or acquire, existing high-dépnsnemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand foprmducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgmintegrated circuits may be able to
manufacture competitive products at lower costtelbgraging internal efficiencies, or could choosegduce our supply of memory integrated
circuits, adversely affecting our ability to manctfizre our memory subsystems on a timely basi¢,dfla

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend inéapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products nedytand cost-effective basis, and to respondhanging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the st of high performance memory subsystems by pgiatecustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business requiresy
. timeliness of new vali-add product introduction:

. design characteristics and performance;

. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume deliver

. credibility with the custome!

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; and

. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. However, our current atwtd competitors could develop competing
products that could cause a decline in sales srdbsarket acceptance of our products.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatiswlevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory to be
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successful as a leading supplier. We believe treatontinued and timely development of new prodantsimprovement of existing products
are critical to maintaining our competitive positi®ur team of engineers focuses on developingousemiconductor logic devices and
products with innovative thermal solutions, packggsolutions and improved electrical signal intggtiiat enhances reliability over the life of
the system and achieves higher speeds and loweaes gonsumption. Also, our engineers incorporatéoua new techniques and
methodologies for testing as well as new procef&sananufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages withOEM partners and their engineering teams & stages in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understamedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical constrantr engineers use this information to providiglgice and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our OEM partners.myoirtant aspect of our research and developmemnt éfto understand the challenges
faced by our OEM partners and provide cost effecsivlutions that satisfy their requirements byizitiy our industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in developwifemtr products that allow us to model behavioaaignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compaitein the system. These design tools enable imalgimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Ifputput Buffer Information Specification ("IBIS") afur suppliers’ components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitéerd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tieermal simulation tools to identify potentiaétmal problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to devefapmam thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westrzontinue to focus on developing advanced mensmtynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices armegirdted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performance example, our HyperCloud™ logic devices enable@RAM-based subsystems to
achieve higher speeds and address greater menpayigaat a lower price point than currently avialdaproducts in the market. Logic devices
in our NVvault™ battery-free product enable DRAMldtash memory to be efficiently combined for themoses of backing up data storage.
The development of these semiconductor devicearammportant part of our overall effort to maintaiistrong competitive position in our
industry based on advanced memory technology.

Our customers typically do not separatelynpensate us for design and engineering work irebia developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for redeand development were approximately $14.9 nnilhod $14.8 million for 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our high performance memory subsystemsleveloped in part using our proprietary intelleCpuaperty, and we believe that the strer
of our intellectual property rights will be impontato the success of our business. We utilize pated trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property aber proprietary information.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 27 U.Sergatissued and 20 U.S. and 3 foreign patent agjgits pending. Assuming that they are
properly maintained, our patents will expire ativas dates between 2022 and 2029. Our issued patrdtpatent applications relate to the use
of custom logic in high performance memory subsystePCB design, layout and packaging techniques. We
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intend to actively pursue the filing of additionetent applications related to our technology adearents. While we believe that our patent
and other intellectual property rights are importanour success, our technical expertise andtgbdiintroduce new products in a timely
manner also will continue to be important factorsleveloping and maintaining our competitive positiAccordingly, we believe that our
business is not materially dependent upon any @i én any of our existing patents or pending patgplications.

Despite our precautions, a third party meserse engineer, copy or otherwise obtain ancdus@roducts, services or technology without
authorization, develop similar technology indeperitjeor design around any patents issued to ustelten be no assurance that our efforts
taken to prevent misappropriation or infringemefindur intellectual property by third parties haweeh or will be successful.

Employees

At December 31, 2011, we had approxima2&§ employees (including 153 regular employeesl@ddtemporary employees).
Approximately 73 of the regular employees were edan the U.S., and approximately 80 were locéteather countries (mainly in the PRC).
We had 189 employees in operations, 49 employeesearch and development, 25 employees in satesarketing, and 13 employees
engaged in other administrative functions. We ateparty to any collective bargaining agreementt wny of our employees. We have never
experienced a work stoppage, and we believe outoge relations are good.

General Information

We maintain a websitewatvw.netlist.congthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an inaettextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form 10-K). We reports with the Securities and Exchange Cdassion ("SEC"), and make available,
free of charge, on or through our website, our ahreports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on FAGrQ, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
and information statements and amendments to ttepsets filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange ,
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as seaeasonably practicable after we electronicaleyguch material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our website also contains copies of our cateagovernance policy, code of business conducetnids, insider trading policy and
whistleblower policy, as well as copies of the ¢l for our audit committee, compensation commigied nominating and corporate
governance committee.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider each of the following fact@svall as the other information in this Report irakiating our business and our
prospects. The risks described below are not tig @mes we face. Additional risks we are not pridgeaware of or that we currently belie
are immaterial may also impair our business openagi The trading price of our common stock couldlide due to any of these risks, and you
could lose all or part of your investment. In asseg these risks, you should also refer to theratifermation contained or incorporated by
reference in this Report, including our consolighfmancial statements and related notes.

Risks related to our business

We expect a number of factors to cause our opergtiesults to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual ®ia, which may make it difficult to
predict our future performance

Our operating results have varied signiftbain the past and will continue to fluctuaterfr@uarter-to-quarter or year-to-year in the future
due to a variety of factors, many of which are belour control. Some of the factors relating to lousiness that may contribute to these
quarterly and annual fluctuations include the foilag:

. general economic conditions, including the posisybdf a prolonged period of limited economic grévénd disruptions to tr
credit and financial markets in the U.S., Europe elsewhere;

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlcég tichieve customer or market acceptance in dtimanner, including our
HyperCloud™ memory module and our flash-based mgmparducts;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of ourglucts with our current customers or to qualifyrent and future products with
our current or prospective customers in a timelyinga or at all;

. the timing of actual or anticipated introductioriompeting products or technologies by us or aumgetitors, customers
suppliers;

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesatéey customer;

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we oaie;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performamegnory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated

. our customers' failure to pay us on a timely basis;

. costs, inefficiencies and supply risks associatith @utsourcing portions of the design and the nfacture of integrated circui

. our ability to absorb manufacturing overhead if mwenues decline or vary from our projections;

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orail@ire to fulfill orders;

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of keyponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NANI

. dependence on large suppliers who are also comrgetihd whose manufacturing priorities may not suppur productior
schedules;
. changes in the prices of our products or in thé abthe materials that we use to build our produietcluding fluctuations in the

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;




Table of Contents

. our ability to effectively operate our manufactgrifacility in the PRC;

. manufacturing inefficiencies associated with tlat-up of new manufacturing operations, new productsiaitiation of volume
production;

. our failure to produce products that meet the ¢ypiadiquirements of our customers;

. disputes regarding intellectual property rights grmelpossibility of our patents being reexaminedigyUSPTO

. the costs and management attention diversion adedawith litigation;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. changes in regulatory policies or accounting pples;

. our ability to adequately manage or finance integnawth or growth through acquisitior
. the effect of our investments and financing arramgiets on our liquidity; and

. the other factors described in this "Risk Factsegtion and elsewhere in this report.

Due to the various factors mentioned abawned, others, the results of any prior quarterlgromual periods should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future operating performanceofre or more future periods, our results of openatimay fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evaetptarket price of our common stock would likelgléitee. In addition, the market price of our
common stock may fluctuate or decline regardlessuofoperating performance.

We have historically incurred losses and may coninto incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2008 have only experienced one fiscal year (2008) profitable results. In order to regain
profitability, or to achieve and sustain positivash flows from operations in the future, we musthier reduce operating expenses and/or
increase our revenues. Although we have in thegragged in a series of cost reduction actionspatidve that we could reduce our current
level of expenses through elimination or reductibstrategic initiatives, such expense reductidneemay not make us profitable or allow us
to sustain profitability if it is achieved. Our &ty to achieve profitability will depend on incread revenue growth from, among other things,
increased demand for our memory subsystems antedglaoduct offerings, as well as our ability tpard into new and emerging markets.
may not be successful in achieving the necessagntee growth or the expected expense reductionsedwer, we may be unable to sustain
past or expected future expense reductions in gulesé periods. We may not achieve profitabilitysostain such profitability, if achieved, ol
quarterly or annual basis in the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutésult in increased capital requirements and pressuour liquidity position. We believe our
future capital requirements will depend on manydeg; including our levels of net sales, the timamgl extent of expenditures to support sales,
marketing, research and development activitiese®pansion of manufacturing capacity both domelyyiead internationally and the contint
market acceptance of our products. Our capitaliregquents could result in our having to, or otheeaghioosing to, seek additional funding
through public or private equity offerings or déibancings. Such funding may not be available emseacceptable to us, or at all, either of
which could result in our inability to meet certaihiour financial obligations and other related coitments.
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Our revenues and results of operations are subsialht dependent on NVvault™.

For 2011, our NVvault™ non-volatile RDIMMed in cache-protection and data logging applinationcluding our NVvault™ battery-
free, the flash-based cache system, accounte®6rd total revenues. We expect a decline of D&/ault™ sales through 2013 following
Intel's launch of its Romley platform in the ficgiarter of 2012. Although we cannot predict the dtdecline in our sales to Dell, it is possible
that we will experience a rapid decline in salesaty as the second quarter of 2012. This redudticales could have a significant impact on
our revenues and gross profit. In order to leveagaNVvault™ technology and diversify our custorbase, we continue to pursue additional
qualifications of NVvault™ with other OEMs. We alsdroduced EXPRESSvault™ in March 2011 and werathe process of qualifying ne
generation DDR3 NVvault™ with customers. Our futaperating results will depend on our ability toveoercialize these NVvault™ product
extensions, as well as other new products suchyper@loud™. We may not be successful in marketmgreew or enhanced products. If we
are not successful in generating sales of othetymts, the expected reduction in sales of NVvaytr®ducts to Dell will significantly reduce
our revenues and negatively affect our resultgpefations.

We are subject to risks relating to our focus onveéoping our HyperCloud™ product and lack of markdiversification.

We have historically derived a substarg@tion of our net sales from sales of our highfgrenance memory subsystems for use in the
server market. We expect these memory subsysteomitimue to account for a significant portion af met sales in the near term. Continued
market acceptance of these products for use ireseiw critical to our success.

In an attempt to set our products aparnftbose of our competitors, we have invested afggnt portion of our research and
development budget into the design of ASIC devigedyuding the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem, initl in November 2009. This
design and the products it is incorporated intosaitgect to increased risks as compared to our ptteelucts. For example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or markepsaoee of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or atber products, ¢
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner;

. the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or other new prizdmay contain currently undiscovered flaws, thieection of whict
would result in increased costs and time to market;

. we are dependent on a limited number of supplarddth the DRAM ICs and the ASIC devices thatesgential to the
functionality of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystemd could experience supply chain disruption assalt of business issu
that are specific to our suppliers or the indusya whole; and

. we are required to demonstrate the quality andbyiity of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or otfew products to our
customers, and are required to qualify these nedumts with our customers, both of which have neggliand will continue to
require a significant investment of time and researprior to the receipt of any revenue from sudtamers.

We experienced a longer qualification cyblen anticipated with our HyperCloud™ memory sasms, and as of December 31, 201:
have not generated significant HyperCloud™ prodexcenues relative to our investment in the prods.have entered into collaborative
agreements with both HP and IBM pursuant to whitdsé OEMs have agreed to cooperate with us inteffoqualify HyperCloud™ for use
with their products. After qualification is achiel/by one or both OEMs, such OEM will engage withru@int marketing and further product
development efforts. We and each of the OEMs hawengitted financial and other resources toward tiilaboration. However, the efforts
undertaken pursuant to either of the collaboratigreements may not result in any new
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revenues for us. Further delays or any failurelaeipg or qualifying this product with HP, IBM other potential customers would adversely
impact our results of operations.

Additionally, if the demand for serverset@rates or if the demand for our products torfm®iporated in servers declines, our operating
results would be adversely affected, and we woelébbced to diversify our product portfolio and darget markets. We may not be able to
achieve this diversification, and our inabilitydo so may adversely affect our business.

We may lose our competitive position if we are uteato timely and cost-effectively develop new ohanced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptan

Our industry is characterized by intensmpetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and tdogital change or new, competitive technologiaddoender our existing products
obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to compete i tiuture will depend in large part on our abilityitlentify and develop new or enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effective basis, tangspond to changing customer requirements.dardo develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential customers;
. identify and adapt to emerging technological treadd evolving industry standards in our markets;
. design and introduce creffective, innovative and performar-enhancing features that differentiate our prodfrots those o

our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential suppliers ofmponents required for these new or enhanced praduc
. qualify these products for use in our customeipcts; anc
. develop and maintain effective marketing strateg

Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseeantges or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreaweee these things are identified, if at all, wé meed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel or retain third party designers, devébepproduct, identify and eliminate design flawsg ananufacture the product in production
quantities either in-house or through third-partgnufacturers. As a result, we may not be able ¢toessfully develop new or enhanced
products or we may experience delays in the dewedmp and introduction of new or enhanced produéays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or del@tygienerating, net sales and the loss of marlateskas well as damage to our reputation. Even
if we develop new or enhanced products, they mayneet our customers' requirements or gain madeg@Eance.

Our customers require that our products undergoenbithy and expensive qualification process withauty assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magigificant commitment of resources to test anduata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them ingirtsystems. This extensive qualification prodgasgelves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuediarmonths or longer and is often subject to delayaddition to qualification of specific
products, some of our customers may also requite usdergo a technology qualification if our protidesigns incorporate innovative
technologies that the customer has not previoustpentered. Such technology qualifications oftde tsubstantially longer than product
qualifications and can take over a year to compl@telification by a prospective customer doesemsture any sales to that prospective
customer. Even after successful qualification aaldssof our
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products to a customer, changes in our productsnamufacturing facilities, our production processse our component suppliers may requ
new qualification process, which may result in éiddal delays.

In addition, because the qualification mexis both product-specific and platform-specdia, existing customers sometimes require us to
requalify our products, or to qualify our new preth) for use in new platforms or applications. Example, as our OEM customers transition
from prior generation DDR2 DRAM architectures taremt generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we muesigh and qualify new products
for use by those customers. In the past, the psamfedesign and qualification has taken up to sixaths to complete, during which time our
sales to those customers declined significantlyer®dur products are qualified, it can take severahths before the customer begins
production and we begin to generate net sales &uch customer.

Likewise, when our memory component vendiissontinue production of components, it may beessary for us to design and qualify
new products for our customers. Such customersretqyire of us or we may decide to purchase an egtinguantity of discontinued memory
components necessary to ensure a steady supptystig products until products with new componesds be qualified. Purchases of this
nature may affect our liquidity. Additionally, oestimation of quantities required during the traasimay be incorrect, which could adversely
impact our results of operations through lost rexeopportunities or charges related to excess bsdl&te inventory.

We must devote substantial resources, diatudesign, engineering, sales, marketing and gemant efforts, to qualify our products w
prospective customers in anticipation of salesniigant delays in the qualification process, sastthose experienced with our HyperCloud™
product, could result in an inability to keep ughwiapid technology change or new, competitive nedbgies. If we delay or do not succeed in
qualifying a product with an existing or prospeetaustomer, we will not be able to sell that pradadhat customer, which may result in our
holding excess and obsolete inventory and harnoperating results and business.

Sales to a limited number of customers represesignificant portion of our net sales and the los§ or a significant reduction in sales tc
any one of these customers could materially harnr dusiness.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers Haswrically represented a substantial majoritypof net sales. Approximately 70% of our net
sales in 2011was to one of our customers and appadely 59% and 19% of our net sales in 2010 wettevd of our customers. We currently
expect that sales to major OEM customers will coargito represent a significant percentage of ousales for the foreseeable future. We do
not have long-term agreements with our OEM custspaarwith any other customer. Any one of thesearusrs could decide at any time to
discontinue, decrease or delay their purchase mpmducts. In addition, the prices that theseamsts pay for our products could change at
any time. The loss of any of our OEM customers significant reduction in sales to any of themyldssignificantly reduce our net sales and
adversely affect our operating results. As desdritreviously, we expect a decline of Dell NVvauls#les following Intel's launch of its
Romley platform in the first quarter of 2012. Altigh we cannot predict the rate of decline in sedd3ell, it is possible we will experience a
rapid decline in sales as early as the secondequair2012. This reduction in sales could havegaiftant impact on our revenues and gross
profit.

Our ability to maintain or increase our safes to our key customers depends on a varidgctdrs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' cmetil sales of servers and other computing systeshéicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of sadpcts into their systems. Because of these aref fdictors, net sales to these customers
may not continue and the amount of such net satgsnuot reach or exceed historical levels in anyrieiperiod. Because these customers
account for a substantial portion of our net sdles failure of any one of these customers to pag timely basis would negatively impact our
cash flow. In addition, while we may not be contuadly obligated to accept returned products, wg determine that it is in our best interes
accept returns in order to maintain good relatiwitb our customers.
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A limited number of relatively large potential cusiners dominate the markets for our produc

Our target markets are characterized lyiaeld number of large companies. Consolidationnie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsomntinue to be concentrated among a limited
number of large customers in the foreseeable fuiWeebelieve that our financial results will dependignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships withd affecting substantial sales to, these potentisianers. Even if we establish these
relationships, our financial results will be largelependent on these customers' sales and busasests.

If a standardized memory solution which addressks tlemands of our customers is developed, our atdssand market share may declir

Many of our memory subsystems are spedifickesigned for our OEM customers' high perforneagstems. In a drive to reduce costs
and assure supply of their memory module demandO&M customers may endeavor to design JEDEC stdridlRAM modules into their
new products. Although we also manufacture JEDE@Qutss, this trend could reduce the demand for alrdr priced customized memory
solutions which in turn would have a negative imtgactour financial results. In addition, custome@eploying custom memory solutions today
may in the future choose to adopt a JEDEC standadithe adoption of a JEDEC standard module idsiéa previously custom module
might allow new competitors to participate in arghaf our customers' memory module business tleatiqgusly belonged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEAR@ard modules, our future business may be limidédentifying the next generation of
high performance memory demands of OEM custometglareloping solutions that addresses such dembmdit fully implemented, this
next generation of products may constitute a muaéiller market, which may reduce our net sales aadket share.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piasi because of the intense competition in our tatgd markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and neaaegnition, a larger base of customers and lesgerding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of thesetitors are able to devote greater resourcémtdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we aneflicence customer acceptance of their products eveproducts. These competitors also may
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdobies or standards and may be able to deliverymsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetiompetitors. We also expect to face
competition from new and emerging companies that emer our existing or future markets. These p@eoompetitors may have similar or
alternative products which may be less costly orjole additional features.

In addition to the competition we face fr@RAM and logic suppliers such as Hynix, Samsungrdh, Inphi and IDT, some of our OE
customers have their own internal design groupsntizy develop solutions that compete with ours.sehdesign groups have some advantages
over us, including direct access to their respeativmpanies' technical information and technola@g@dmaps. Our OEM customers also have
substantially greater resources, financial andretise, than we do, and may have lower cost strestthian ours. As a result, they may be able
to design and manufacture competitive products refireiently or inexpensively. If any of these OEMstomers are successful in competing
against us, our sales could decline, our marginfddee negatively impacted and we could lose maskate, any or all of which could harm
business and results of operations. Further, sdroaro
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significant suppliers are also competitors, manwlém have the ability to manufacture competitiveducts at lower costs as a result of their
higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriowe the performance of their current productdyce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater padoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocmat exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would detexierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.

Our operating results may be adversely impacteduayldwide economic and political uncertainties asgecific conditions in the markets \
address, including the cyclical nature of and valdy in the memory market and semiconductor indugt

Adverse changes in domestic and global@mimand political conditions have made it extreyrdifficult for our customers, our vendors
and us to accurately forecast and plan future legsiactivities, and they have caused and couldneento cause U.S. and foreign businesses tc
slow spending on our products and services, whighldvfurther delay and lengthen sales cycles. titah, sales of our products are
dependent upon demand in the computing, networkiogymunications, printer, storage and industrialkets. These markets have been
cyclical and are characterized by wide fluctuationproduct supply and demand. These markets hgwerienced significant downturns, often
connected with, or in anticipation of, maturing gwot cycles, reductions in technology spendingd@eaines in general economic conditions.
These downturns have been characterized by dingéidiphoduct demand, production overcapacity, higkritory levels and the erosion of
average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-teegiituctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demandany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our ptd@As a result, our sales will likely decline ihgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfixy, if we are unable to control our expensesjadeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbaldegatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our costos may face issues gaining timely access tocseffiti credit, which could result in an
impairment of their ability to make timely paymeixsus. If that were to occur, we may be requirethtrease our allowance for doubtful
accounts and our days sales outstanding would ¢petimely impacted. Furthermore, our vendors mag fimilar issues gaining access to
credit, which may limit their ability to supply cgranents or provide trade credit to us. We cannedipt the timing, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown or subsequent economic recoeéther generally or in the memory market and relatmiconductor industry, or any
disruptions in the credit or financial marketsciédit and financial markets, economic conditiangéneral or the markets in which we operate
do not improve or if conditions worsen, our busgdmancial condition and results of operation8 kikiely be materially and adversely
affected. Additionally, the combination of our lehg sales cycle coupled with challenging macroecginaonditions could compound the
negative impact on the results of our operations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled ordes;, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoer demand, makes it difficult to forecast
our short-term production requirements to meet thdgmand, and any failure to optimally calibrate oproduction capacity and inventory
levels to meet customer demand could adverselycafferr revenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regardingléwvels of business that we will seek and acceptyrction schedules, component procurement
commitments, personnel needs and other resource
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requirements, based on our estimates of custorgaireenents. We do not have lotgrm purchase agreements with our customers. hsoea
customers often place purchase orders no morewmaweeks in advance of their desired delivery datel these purchase orders generally
have no cancellation or rescheduling penalty pious The short-term nature of commitments by mafnyur customers, the fact that our
customers may cancel or defer purchase ordersjoremson, and the possibility of unexpected chaingedemand for our customers' products
each reduce our ability to accurately estimaterutwstomer requirements for our products. Thig faambined with the quick turn-around
times that apply to each order, makes it diffitalforecast our production needs and allocate mtoolu capacity efficiently. We attempt to
forecast the demand for the DRAM ICs, NAND, andestbomponents needed to manufacture our produets times for components vary
significantly and depend on various factors, suetha specific supplier and the demand and sujplsg tomponent at a given time.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofwstomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Asslt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglom a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovémestie customer demand, we may have excess rawialateentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the @icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventoryiliall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or NAND inventg which may result in a significant decreaseun gross margin and financial
condition. Also, to the extent that we manufacfureducts in anticipation of future demand that deetsmaterialize, or in the event a customer
cancels or reduces outstanding orders, we couldriqre an unanticipated increase in our finishmmtlg inventory. In the past, we have ha
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, excesstifies and declines in market value below outxosny significant shortfall of customer
orders in relation to our expectations could hut @perating results, cash flows and financial ¢iorl

Also, any rapid increases in productioruregd by our customers could strain our resouroglsraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient inugritb DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture egloproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capad any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will leadelays in the delivery of our products, andowald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.

Declines in our average sales prices, driven byatité prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other fears, may result in declines in oL
revenues and gross profit.

Our industry is competitive and historigdilas been characterized by declines in averags pate, based in part on the market price of
DRAM ICs and NAND, which have historically constiéd a substantial portion of the total cost of m@&mory subsystems. Our average sales
prices may decline due to several factors, inclgdimercapacity in the worldwide supply of DRAM aN&ND memory components as a result
of worldwide economic conditions, increased mantufidicg efficiencies, implementation of new manutaitg processes and expansion of
manufacturing capacity by component suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are netgatjave are generally unable to revise pricing whtht customer until our next regularly
scheduled price adjustment. Consequently, we gresex to the risks associated with the volatilitthe price of DRAM ICs and NAND
during that period. If the market prices for DRARIJ and NAND increase, we generally cannot paspribe increases on to our customers for
products purchased under an existing purchase.okdex result, our cost of sales could increasecamdjross margins could decrease.
Alternatively, if there are declines in the pride o
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DRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to reduce our sgllmices for subsequent purchase orders, whichrasaylt in a decline in our expected
net sales.

In addition, since a large percentage ofsales are to a small number of customers thatrarearily distributors and large OEMs, these
customers have exerted, and we expect they witimoa to exert, pressure on us to make price caimes If not offset by increases in volu
of sales or the sales of newly-developed produdts mgher margins, decreases in average salessowiould likely have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results.

We use a small number of custom ASIC, DRAM IC andND suppliers and are subject to risks of disruptiin the supply of custom ASIC
DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders orqauce qualification samples is dependent on acserft supply of DRAM ICs and NAND, which
are essential components of our memory subsysi¢tasre also dependent on a sufficient supply ofocaASIC devices to produce our
HyperCloud™ memory modules. There are a relatigetall number of suppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, amd purchase from only a
subset of these suppliers. We have no long-term MRANAND supply contracts. Additionally, we coufiaice obstacles in moving production
of our ASIC components away from our current desigd production partners. Our dependence on a simalber of suppliers and the lack of
any guaranteed sources of ASIC components, DRAMNSND supply expose us to several risks, includimginability to obtain an adequate
supply of these important components, price inagadelivery delays and poor quality.

Historical declines in customer demand amdrevenues caused us to reduce our purchaseRAKDCs and NAND. Such fluctuations
could occur in the future. Should we not maintaiffisient purchase levels with some suppliers, ahitity to obtain supplies of raw materials
may be impaired due to the practice of some sugpli@allocate their products to customers withhighest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsl&AND have required some suppliers to limit thpy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM ¢€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI& NAND to meet our customers' requirements gl@stomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslatdlich would cause our net sales to decline arthhour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ablegtace any lost business with new customers, anthayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the ASIC componeDRAM ICs and NAND of our suppliers for use in theystems. If one of our suppliers
should experience quality control problems, it rhaydisqualified by one or more of our customerss Would disrupt our supplies of ASIC
components, DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce the nunobsuppliers available to us, and may require Weatjualify a new supplier. If our
suppliers are unable to produce qualification sasiph a timely basis or at all, we could experiadglays in the qualification process, which
could have a significant impact on our ability &l shat product.

If the supply of other component materials usedn@nufacture our products is interrupted, or if ounventory becomes obsolete, our rest
of operations and financial condition could be adegely affected.

We use consumables and other componeptading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsyst¥essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourcetake advantage of volume pricing discounts. Makshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt the manufacture of our productsifrime to time in the future. These delays in mantifring could adversely affect our results
of operations.
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Frequent technology changes and the inttiolu of next-generation products also may resulhe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichldwaduce our gross margin and adversely affecoperating performance and financial
condition. We may not be able to sell some proddeteloped for one customer to another customexusecour products are often designed to
address specific customer requirements, and ewea #re able to sell these products to anotheomest our margin on such products may be
reduced.

A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facilit could have a material adverse effect on our buwess, financial condition and results «
operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in tARRC for producing most of our products, whichwaBas to utilize our materials and proces
protect our intellectual property and develop #whhology for manufacturing. A prolonged disrupt@rmaterial malfunction of, interruption
in or the loss of operations at our manufactureaglity, or the failure to maintain a sufficienblar force at such facility, would limit our
capacity to meet customer demand and delay newiptaivelopment until a replacement facility andipment, if necessary, were found. -
replacement of the manufacturing facility couldgan extended amount of time before manufactunpegaiions could restart. The potential
delays and costs resulting from these steps caud b material adverse effect on our businessadinhcondition and results of operations.

If we are unable to manufacture our products effaitly, our operating results could suffe

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatisi&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, to lower our costs and toretlse remain competitive. As we manufacture momaglex products, the risk of
encountering delays or difficulties increases. $taet-up costs associated with implementing newufaaturing technologies, methods and
processes, including the purchase of new equipraedtany resulting manufacturing delays and iniefficies, could negatively impact our
results of operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityegpansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyagelor unexpected costs resulting from this auditess could adversely affect our net sales
and results of operations. In addition, we canmotértain that we will be able to increase our nfecturing capacity on a timely basis or meet
the standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufaetwustom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, SUCABKTS, that are used in some of our products sadhyaerCloud™ are designed and
manufactured by third parties. The ability and wghess of such third parties to perform in accocgawith their agreements with us is largely
outside of our control. If one or more of our destg manufacturing partners fails to perform itéigdgions in a timely manner or at satisfact
quality levels, our ability to bring products to rket or deliver products to our customers, as aglbur reputation, could suffer. In the event of
any such failures, we may have no readily availalifrnative source of supply for such productsgesiin our experience, the lead time nee
to establish a relationship with a new design ana¥anufacturing partner is at least 12 months,thadkstimated time for our OEM customers
to re-qualify our product with components from avne=ndor ranges from four to nine months. We camagstire you that we can redesign, or
cause to have redesigned, our customized compoteebésmanufactured by a new manufacturer in alyimenner, nor can we assure you-
we will not infringe on the intellectual property @ur current design or manufacture partner whemegesign the custom components, or ci
such components to be redesigned by a new mantgacfumanufacturing disruption experienced by manufacturing partners, the failure of
our manufacturing partners to dedicate adequateiress to the production of our products, the famarinstability of our manufacturing or
design partners, or any
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other failure of our design or manufacturing parsrte perform according to their agreements withamuld have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results adrafions.

We have many other risks due to our depeeclen third-party manufacturers, including: redlicentrol over delivery schedules, quality,
manufacturing yields and cost; the potential latkdequate capacity during periods of excess depamited warranties on products supplied
to us; and potential misappropriation of our irgetlal property. We are dependent on our manufagtpartners to manufacture products with
acceptable quality and manufacturing yields, toveelthose products to us on a timely basis arallozate a portion of their manufacturing
capacity sufficient to meet our needs. Although praducts are designed using the process desigs ofithe particular manufacturers, we
cannot assure you that our manufacturing partnédrbevable to achieve or maintain acceptable Welddeliver sufficient quantities of
components on a timely basis or at an acceptalske Additionally, we cannot assure you that our ufacturing partners will continue to
devote adequate resources to produce our productsiinue to advance the process design techresdagi which the qualification and
manufacturing of our products are based.

If our products do not meet the quality standardsaur customers, we may be forced to stop shipmerfigsroducts until the quality issue
are resolved.

Our customers require our products to et quality standards. Should our products neetsuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtedolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmees and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defgetsystems, we may be subject to warranty, prodecalls or product liability claims

If our products are defectively manufactijreontain defective components or are used inctieéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to warranty and product liability claimsdgroduct recalls, safety alerts or advisory natid®hile we have product liability insurance
coverage, it may not be adequate to satisfy clan@de against us. We also may be unable to obtsimance in the future at satisfactory rates
or in adequate amounts. Warranty and product ifglzilaims or product recalls, regardless of thafimate outcome, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition ancutapion, and on our ability to attract and retailstomers. In addition, we may determine th
is in our best interest to accept product retunnsiricumstances where we are not contractuallygat#d to do so in order to maintain good
relations with our customers. Accepting productimes may negatively impact our operating results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourwstomers or our competitors might gain access to ptoprietary designs, processes a
technologies, which could adversely affect our ogting results.

We rely on a combination of patent protactitrade secret laws and restrictions on disceotuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdigg our proprietary processes and technologg.nbt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Wieind to continue filing patent applications wiéispect to most of the new processes and
technologies that we develop. However, patent ptimie may not be available for some of these preeesr technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:
. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or ainention of, our existing intellectual propertyhtg;
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. prevent our competitors from independently develgmEimilar products, duplicating our products asigaing around any
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and knowtochird parties or into the public domain;

. result in valid patents, including internationatqras, from any of our pending or future applicasipor

. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual prypeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineery coptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetthgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takepraevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigpuntries, such as the PRC, where we have establsimanufacturing facility and where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights to shene extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patepplications are not allowed, or if any of our Iletetual property protections are limited in scope
by a court or circumvented by others, we could faceecased competition with regard to our productsreased competition could significar
harm our business and our operating results.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bedtvwed in costly legal and administrative proceedin® defend against claims that we
infringe the intellectual property rights of othersr to enforce or protect our intellectual propertights.

As is common to the semiconductor industny have experienced substantial litigation regeygiatent and other intellectual property
rights. Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights have been ang mahe future be brought against us, anc
are currently defending against claims of invajidit the USPTO. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolid&iadncial Statements, included in this
Report, for a description of our legal contingescie

The process of obtaining and protectingpistis inherently uncertain. In addition to théepaissuance process established by law and th
procedures of the USPTO, we must comply with JERB®inistrative procedures in protecting our intdlkal property within its industry
standard setting process. These procedures evedrdime, are subject to variability in their amgaliion, and may be inconsistent with each
other. Failure to comply with JEDEC's administratprocedures could jeopardize our ability to cl#iet our patents have been infringed.

By making use of new technologies and émgemew markets there is an increased likelihoed tithers might allege that our products
infringe on their intellectual property rights. igation is inherently uncertain, and an adverseaue in existing or any future litigation could
subject us to significant liability for damagesimralidate our proprietary rights. An adverse outecalso could force us to take specific
actions, including causing us to:

. cease manufacturing and/or selling products, arguséertain processes, that are claimed to be gifrgha third party's
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be tines aictual damages), including royalties on pagitare sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectuagarty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed to bangifrg a third party's intellectual property.
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If any adverse ruling in any such mattezuss, any resulting limitations in our ability tcanket our products, or delays and costs assor
with redesigning our products or payments of lieefees to third parties, or any failure by us teedep or license a substitute technology on
commercially reasonable terms could have a matadiatrse effect on our business, financial condlitind results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced téchl personnel that we can draw upon to meet bimghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during theneeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work histsi In the past, some of these competitors hauwaeththat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existiegployees or make such claims in the future tegreus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thisreo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggrain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.

We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaaid former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property, contractual and commerdigthts including, in particular, our trade secretswell as to challenge the validity and scope
of the proprietary rights of others. We could beemnbject to counterclaims or countersuits agaissts a result of this litigation. Moreover,
any legal disputes with customers could cause tioerease buying or using our products or delay fh@ichase of our products and could
substantially damage our relationship with them.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcom&uld be time consuming and costly to resolve, digar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wenodrmssure you that current or future infringenwaiims by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will Hm asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

We may become involved in non-patent related litiga and administrative proceedings that may matdly adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involvedarious legal proceedings relating to mattergiental to the ordinary course of our
business, including commercial, product liabile&ynployment, class action, whistleblower and othigration and claims, and governmental
other regulatory investigations and proceedingshSnatters can be time-consuming, divert managésnatiéntion and resources and cause us
to incur significant expenses. Furthermore, becdtigation is inherently unpredictable, these aw§ could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations or financialdton.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thjpdrty intellectual property and we fail to do sayobusiness could be harme

Although some of the components used infioal products contain the intellectual properfytiord parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any rightd Bcenses to such third party intellectual propewhile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asyou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of our business and our ability to
compete successfully depends significantly on oatinued operation without claims of infringementdemands resulting from such claims,
including demands for payments of money in the fofpfor example, ongoing licensing fees.
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We are also developing products to enter markets. Similar to our current products, we mag components in these new products that
contain the intellectual property of third partigghile we plan to exercise precautions to avoidtiging on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, we cannot assure you that disputésiet arise.

If it is determined that we are requiredbtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainriges, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opeagatsults and financial condition could be sigrifidy harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving acmmpetitive, and we may not have rights to manutaetand sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we mpée required to pay a royalty to sell productsliatng these formats

The flash-based storage market is constantliergoing rapid technological change and evglumlustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memorynfts, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufacturen@igh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@iiMs may choose to adopt these higher-volume, lmwst formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otlmedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFlasiSBrproducts. If we decide to
manufacture flash memory products utilizing emegdisrmats such as those mentioned, we will be reduio secure licenses to give us the
right to manufacture such products that may na\mlable at reasonable rates or at all. If wenateable to supply flash card formats at
competitive prices or if we were to have produdrtdges, our net sales could be adversely impastiddur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.

Our indemnification obligations for the infringemenby our products of the intellectual property rigghof others could require us to pay
substantial damage:

As is common in the industry, we curreritive in effect a number of agreements in which sxeehagreed to defend, indemnify and hold
harmless our customers and suppliers from damagksasts which may arise from the infringement by mroducts of third-party patents,
trademarks or other proprietary rights. The scdpsioh indemnity varies, but may, in some instanieedude indemnification for damages and
expenses, including attorneys' fees. Our insurdones not cover intellectual property infringemé@rite term of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual any time aftecigtion of the agreement. The maximum potentialuarhof future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agesemis unlimited. We may periodically have to m@gpto claims and litigate these types of
indemnification obligations. Although our suppliensyy bear responsibility for the intellectual pragenherent in the components they sell to
us, they may lack the financial ability to standhipel such indemnities. Additionally, it may be dpdb enforce any indemnifications that they
have granted to us. Accordingly, any indemnificatitaims by customers could require us to incunificant legal fees and could potentially
result in the payment of substantial damages, bbtthich could result in a material adverse effattour business and results of operations.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we losesénvices of any of those employees or are un&blgire additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependenherxperience, relationships and technical knovdexfgertain key employees. We believe
that our future success will be dependent on oilityato retain the services of these key employelevelop their successors, reduce our
reliance on them, and properly manage the tramsiifdheir roles should departures occur. The tdsbese key employees could delay the
development and introduction of, and negativelyaatmur ability to sell our products

22




Table of Contents

and otherwise harm our business. We do not havéogmpnt agreements with any of these key emplogétesr than Chun K. Hong, our
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard. We carry "Key Man" life insurance on @i Hong; however, we do not carry
"Key Man" life insurance on any of our other empes.

Our future success also depends on outyatailattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, and other technical
and sales personnel. Competition for experiencesbpeel is intense. We may not be successful ia@ihg new engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagireeers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets,ability to continue to provide our current gucts and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttin our business. In addition, the shortage of egpeed engineers, and other factors, may
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corspton costs for such engineers, which may exceeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineergdiffior may increase our operating expenses.

Historically, a significant portion of oworkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higbwar rates in our contract employee workforceictvimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convert af these contract employees into permanent grepk) we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.

We rely on third-party manufacturers' representagis and the failure of these manufacturers' represatives to perform as expected could
reduce our future sales.

We sell some of our products to customemsugh manufacturers' representatives. We are ernalgredict the extent to which our
manufacturers' representatives will be successfmarketing and selling our products. Moreover, ynainour manufacturers' representatives
also market and sell other, potentially competirgdpcts. Our representatives may terminate thkitiomships with us at any time. Our future
performance will also depend, in part, on our apith attract additional manufacturers' repres@rgatthat will be able to market and support
our products effectively, especially in marketsvimich we have not previously distributed our pragutf we cannot retain our current
manufacturers' representatives or recruit additioneeplacement manufacturers' representativassales and operating results will be harn

The operation of our manufacturing facility in th&RC could expose us to significant risks.

Since 2009, substantially all of our wowéte manufacturing production has been performemiatmanufacturing facility in the People's
Republic of China, or PRC. Language and culturfiéinces, as well as the geographic distance éonheadquarters in Irvine, California,
compound the difficulties of running a manufactgroperation in the PRC. Our management has relativeited experience in overseeing
foreign operations, and management of the PRGtfaoiquires substantial amounts of their time. W&y not be able to maintain control over
product quality, delivery schedules, manufactusirdds and costs. Furthermore, the costs relatédting excess capacity have in the past
may in the future continue to have an adverse itgaour gross margins and operating results.

We manage a local workforce that may suhjedo regulatory uncertainties. Changes in therlé&aws of the PRC could increase the cost
of employing the local workforce. The increasedustiialization of the PRC, as well as general eotin@nd political conditions in the PRC,
could also increase the price of local labor. Eithfethese factors could negatively impact the sasings we currently enjoy from having our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.
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Economic volatility and instability in tHERC could result in significant currency fluctuatsan the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), which
could result in increased manufacturing and shigpists relative to the US dollar. Fluctuationshi@ exchange rate between RMB and U.S.
dollars may adversely affect our expenses andteesfibperations as well as the value of our asseddiabilities. These fluctuations may also
adversely affect the comparability of our periogptriod results.

The PRC currently provides for favorabbe tates for certain foreigowned enterprises operating in specified locationtke PRC throuc
2012. We have established our PRC facility in satiixfavored location. Should we fail to achieve prdfitiy while favorable tax rates are
effect, or before our loss carryforwards in the P&@ire, it is possible that we would not realilze tax benefits to the extent originally
anticipated and this could adversely impact ouraigey results.

Economic, political and other risks associated wititernational sales and operations could adversaffect our net sales

Part of our growth strategy involves maksades to foreign corporations and delivering aedpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. Selling in foreign countries subjectdauadditional risks not present with our domeseperations. We are operating in business and
regulatory environments in which we have limiteeypous experience. We will need to continue to ovare language and cultural barriers to
effectively conduct our operations in these enwinents. In addition, the economies of the PRC ahdratountries have been highly volatile in
the past, resulting in significant fluctuationdacal currencies and other instabilities. Theséainifities affect a number of our customers and
suppliers in addition to our foreign operations andtinue to exist or may occur again in the future

In the future, some of our net sales magidrominated in RMB. The PRC government contraspfocedures by which RMB is
converted into other currencies, and conversioRMB generally requires government consent. As alteRMB may not be freely convertible
into other currencies at all times. If the PRC goweent institutes changes in currency conversioeguures, or imposes restrictions on
currency conversion, those actions may negativepaict our operations and could reduce our operatimgits. If we decide to declare
dividends and repatriate funds from our PRC openatiwe will be required to comply with the procestuand regulations of applicable PRC
law. Any changes to these procedures and regu&tarour failure to comply with those procedured eegulations, could prevent us from
making dividends and repatriating funds from ouCPsperations, which could adversely affect ourditial condition. If we are able to make
dividends and repatriate funds from our PRC openatithese dividends would be subject to U.S. gatpancome tax.

International turmoil and the threat ofuitg terrorist attacks, both domestically and ira¢ionally, have contributed to an uncertain
political and economic climate, both in the U.Sd gobally, and have negatively impacted the woitthweconomy. The occurrence of one or
more of these instabilities could adversely affaat foreign operations and some of our customessippliers, each of which could adversely
affect our net sales. In addition, our failure teghapplicable regulatory requirements or overcoutiiral barriers could result in production
delays and increased turn-around times, which wadicersely affect our business.

Our international sales are subject tootis&s, including regulatory risks, tariffs andet trade barriers, timing and availability of ekpo
licenses, political and economic instability, diffities in accounts receivable collections, diffi@s in managing distributors, lack of a
significant local sales presence, difficulties btaining governmental approvals, compliance withide variety of complex foreign laws and
treaties and potentially adverse tax consequehtesidition, the U.S. or foreign countries may ierpknt quotas, duties, taxes or other charges
or restrictions upon the importation or exportatidrour products, leading to a reduction in sales profitability in that country.
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Our operations could be disrupted by power outagestural disasters or other factors.

Due to the geographic concentration ofroanufacturing operations and the operations o&edf our suppliers, a disruption resulting
from equipment failure, power failures, quality tahissues, human error, government interventionatural disasters, including earthquakes
and floods like those that have struck Japan amildrd, respectively in 2011, could interrupt ceiflere with our manufacturing operations
and consequently harm our business, financial ¢immdand results of operations. Such disruptionsld@ause significant delays in shipments
of our products and adversely affect our operatasylts.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws andgulations could subject us to significant fines étiabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs

We are subject to various and frequentgnging U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theasid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafrinated sites and the maintenance of a safe \lam#&pln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handlelapose of hazardous materials from time to tiog.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdoltlee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required faiysts entering the European Union. We could isalnstantial costs, including clean-up
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of, or
noncompliance with, environmental laws and regaofeti These laws and regulations also could reasite incur significant costs to remain in
compliance.

Our internal controls over financial reporting mampot be effective, which could have a significantdadverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @f28nd the rules and regulations of the SEC, wivieltollectively refer to as Section 404,
require us to evaluate our internal controls oirearfcial reporting to allow management to reporttarse internal controls as of the end of ¢
year. Effective internal controls are necessaryfoto produce reliable financial reports and ampdrtant in our effort to prevent financ
fraud. In the course of our Section 404 evaluatisresmay identify conditions that may result inrsfgcant deficiencies or material weaknesses
and we may conclude that enhancements, modificatiorchanges to our internal controls are necessatgsirable. Implementing any such
matters would divert the attention of our managetmesuld involve significant costs, and may negaltmpact our results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maintain effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materialakieesses in our internal controls, we may be unalpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a losgweestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, otgsources, systems and controls may be strained@dresults of operations may suffe

We have in the past expanded our operatlmith domestically and internationally. Any futgewth may strain our resources,
management information and telecommunication systamd operational and financial controls. To marfagure growth effectively,
including the expansion of volume in our manufacigfacility in the PRC, we must be able to imprare expand our systems
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and controls. We may not be able to do this imeelly or cost-effective manner, and our currentesystand controls may not be adequate to
support our future operations. In addition, ouiagffs have relatively limited experience in manggirrapidly growing business or a public
company. As a result, they may not be able to pi@tie guidance necessary to manage future grawttaimtain future market position. Any
failure to manage our growth or improve or expandexisting systems and controls, or unexpectditdifies in doing so, could harm our
business.

If we acquire other businesses or technologiestie future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bness and harm our operating resul
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquiresimesses or technologies that might complementwuwent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaing other businesses or technologies. Acqoisgtientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resnitkiding, but not limited to:

. difficulties in integrating the operations, techogikes or products of the acquired compar

. the diversion of management's time and attentiom fihe normal daily operations of the business;

. insufficient increases in net sales to offset insezl expenses associated with acquisitions orrachcompanies;

. difficulties in retaining business relationshipgwsuppliers and customers of the acquired compg

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayelaealizing those synergie

. entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stronger ptgs&sitions; and
. the potential loss of key employees of the acqui@dpanies.

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitigsaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownershepcpntages of our existing stockholders. Furthegmacquisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substargiaciiion, deferred compensation charges, in-gooesearch and development charges, the
amortization of amounts related to deferred stoaell compensation expense and identifiable purdhasmgible assets or impairment of
goodwill, any or all of which could negatively afteour results of operations.

Our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedsave incur could adversely affect our cash flowdgprevent us from fulfilling our
financial obligations.

We have incurred debt under our revolvirgdi facility and two term loans with Silicon Veyt Bank. Incurring debt could have material
consequences, such as:

. requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffosmn operations and other capital resources t¢ sietvice, thereby reducir
our ability to fund working capital, capital expétudes, and other cash requirements;

. increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid exdustry conditions

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our businedsralustry, which may place
at a competitive disadvantage; and

. limiting our ability to incur additional debt on @&ptable terms, if at all.
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Additionally, if we are unable to maintdiquidity levels, as defined in the credit agreemen if we were to default under our credit
agreement and were unable to obtain a waiver foin audefault, interest on the obligations wouldrae@t an increased rate. In the case of a
default, the lenders could accelerate our obligationder the credit agreement; however, acceleratilbbe automatic in the case of
bankruptcy and insolvency events of default.

Additionally, to the extent we have madinompany loans to our subsidiaries and have plkdgch loans to the lenders under the ¢
agreement, our subsidiaries would be required yaipaamount of the intercompany loans to the lendethe event we are in default under
credit agreement. Any actions taken by the lendgasnst us in the event we are in default undectedit agreement could harm our financial
condition. Finally, the credit facility containsrtain restrictive covenants, including provisiomestricting our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, guarantee certain obligations, coeaesume liens and pay dividends.

Our investment in an auction rate security is subjeo risks which may cause losses and affect flqaiblity of this investment.

We hold an investment in an auction rateigty that has failed, or may in the future fé#, auction. An auction failure means that the
parties wishing to sell their securities could dotso. As a result of failed auctions, our abilayliquidate and fully recover the carrying value
of our investment in the near term may be limiteshat exist. If the issuer of this investment isble to close future auctions and its credit
rating deteriorates, we may in the future be regfuto record an impairment charge on this investnWe also may be required to wait until
market stability is restored for this investmentatil the final maturity of the underlying notep(to 30 years) to realize our investment's cost
value.

Risks related to our common stock

The issuance of additional sales of our common $toar the perception that such issuances may océacjuding through our "at the
market" offering, could cause the market price ofiocommon stock to fall.

We have entered into a Sales AgreementAsttendiant Capital Markets, LLC ("Ascendiant"); fbe offer and sale of up to $10 million
in aggregate amount of our shares from time to timeugh Ascendiant, as our sales agent, pursaant effective Registration Statement on
Form S-3. Ascendiant is not required to sell argcefc number or dollar amount of shares of our own stock but will use its reasonable
efforts, as our agent and subject to the termbheBales Agreement, to sell that number of sharée 810 million upon our request. Sales of
the shares, if any, may be made by any means pgedtiy law and deemed to be an "at the markettioffeas defined in Rule 415 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and will gdlyelb®@ made by means of brokers' transactions elNMASDAQ Global Market or otherwise
at market prices prevailing at the time of salea®otherwise agreed with Ascendiant.

We may issue shares of our common stodk aggregate sales proceeds of up to $10 milliom fiime to time in connection with this
offering. As of February 28, 2012, we have sold,89@ shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement aighted average sales price of $2.98, net
of commissions. We may terminate the Sales Agreéateany time. Whether we choose to effect futalesunder the at-the-market program
will depend upon a variety of factors, includingy@ng others, market conditions and the tradingepoicour common stock relative to other
sources of capital. The issuance from time to tifhese new shares of common stock through otiveatnarket program or in any other
equity offering, or the perception that such sab@y occur, could have the effect of depressingrtheket price of our common stock.
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Our principal stockholders have significant votingower and may take actions that may not be in tlestinterest of our other stockholders.

As of December 31, 2011, approximately 28d our outstanding common stock was held byiafék, including 22% held by Chun K.
Hong, our chief executive officer and chairman of board of directors. As a result, Mr. Hong has ability to exert substantial influence over
all matters requiring approval by our stockhold@rsluding the election and removal of directord amy proposed merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets atiter corporate transactions. This concentratioroofrol could be disadvantageous to other
stockholders with interests different from thosévisf Hong and our other executive officers and clives. For example, our executive officers,
directors and principal stockholders could delapmvent an acquisition or merger even if the taatien would benefit other stockholders. In
addition, this significant concentration of shavenership may adversely affect the trading pricediar common stock because investors may
perceive disadvantages in owning stock in companittsstockholders that have the ability to exez@gynificant control.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdaDelaware law could delay or prevent a change ohtol and could also limit the
market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylagetain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders mightsider favorable. In addition, these provisioogla limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock. The following are examples of provisiargch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to designate and issue peefestock, commonly
referred to as "blank check” preferred stock, wiigiits senior to those of our common stock;

. stockholder action by written consent is prohibjt

. nominations for election to our board of directamsl the submission of matters to be acted upondakisolders at a meeting are
subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorized &ke alter or repeal our bylawv

In addition, we are governed by the prauisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpdratv, which may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, daubke it more difficult for stockholders or poti@hticquirers to obtain control of our
board of directors or initiate actions that are aggul by the then-current board of directors, incdgdielaying or impeding a merger, tender
offer, or proxy contest or other change of contrahsaction involving our company. Any delay oryanetion of a change of control transaction
or changes in our board of directors could prete@mtconsummation of a transaction in which ourldtotders could receive a substantial
premium over the then-current market price forrtkbares.

The price of and volume in trading of our commonosk has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly tradedesNovember 2006. The price of our common stoukthe trading volume of our shares
volatile and have in the past fluctuated signifibanThere can be no assurance as to the prioghiah our common stock will trade in the
future or that an active trading market in our casnrstock will be sustained in the future. The magkee at which
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our common stock trades may be influenced by maatpfs, including but not limited to, the following

. our operating and financial performance and praspéwluding our ability to achieve and sustaiofipability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

. the availability and level of research coveragaml market making in our common sto

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatigmd by analysts;

. sales of our newly issued common stock or othaurstégs in association with our $40 million effeatishelf registration o

Form S-3, or the perception that such sales mayrpcc
. general financial and other market conditions; and

. changing and recently volatile domestic and intéomal economic conditions.

In addition, shares of our common stock #redpublic stock markets in general, have expegdnand may continue to experience,
extreme price and trading volume volatility. Thésetuations may adversely affect the market pateur common stock and a shareholder's
ability to sell their shares into the market at desired time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the marketgariof our common stock, securities litigation waiiated against us. Given the historic volati
of our industry, we may become engaged in this tfdiigation in the future. Securities litigatios expensive and time-consuming.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located pragmately 28,700 square feet of space in Irvidaljfornia, under a lease that expires in June
2013. We also currently lease approximately 42 2f)tare feet of space for our manufacturing facititthe PRC. This lease expires March
2017. In addition, we lease approximately 4,50(sgdeet of space for a design office in San J8a#fornia, under a lease that expires in
2014.

We believe that our current facilities adeequate for our current and expected operatiarthiéonext twelve months and that additional
space can be obtained if needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionitied Patent Claims under Note 9 of Notes to Ctidated Financial Statements, included in
Part 1V, Item 15 of this Report is incorporateddintby reference.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NA®D®@lobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"avember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices ferammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $ 3.9€ $ 1.04

Third Quartel 2.1C 1.0¢

Second Quarte 2.81 2.0C

First Quartel 3.04 2.0¢
Year Ended January 1, 2011

Fourth Quarte $ 39C $ 2.12

Third Quartel 3.5¢ 2.2

Second Quarte 3.7¢ 1.81

First Quartel 6.1C 3.1¢

As of February 15, 2012, there were appnately 52 holders of record of our common shares.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash didgem our capital stock. Our current credit fagiptohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or paycash dividends on our capital stock in the feeeble future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boardda®ctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapiens, earnings, capital requirements, legal
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsrakerelevant by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholderviptesly approved our Amended and Restated 2000tEqnéentive Plan and our Amended and
Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. Except asdigt the table below, as of December 31, 2011deveot have any equity based plans,
including individual
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compensation arrangements that have not been aggpbyvour stockholders. The following table progid&formation as of December 31, 2
with respect to our equity compensation plans:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

(@) (b) ©
Equity compensation plat
approved by security
holders 5197,76° $ 2.6C 149,59((1)
Equity compensation plat
not approved by securi
holders 170,00((2)$ 3.27 —

Total 5,367,76° $ 2.6z 149,59(

1) Subiject to certain adjustments, on December 311,20& currently are able to issue a maximum of 3,266 shares of
common stock pursuant to awards granted under meniled and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plart. agimum
number will automatically increase on the first @dyeach calendar year by the lesser of (i) 5.0%@fnumber of shares
of common stock that are issued and outstandimg & first day of the calendar year, and (ii)aD 200 shares of
common stock, subject to adjustment for certaipaorate actions.

(2 Consists of:

0] 50,000 options to purchase shares of our commak steued to our Director of Marketing in connestigith his
hiring in June 2009. The options vest over a peoiod years, are exercisable at $0.35 per shadecamtain a
contractual term of 10 years from the date of grant

(i) 100,000 options to purchase shares of our comnoawk &sued to our Vice President of Sales and Matén
connection with his hiring in January 2010. Theiam vest over a period of 3.3 years, are exerldsati$5.00 pe
share, and contain a contractual term of 10 years the date of grant.

(i) 20,000 options to purchase shares of our commak steued to our Controller and Director of Finahci
Reporting in connection with her hiring in April 20. The options vest over a period of 4 yearseaezcisable at
$1.92 per share, and contain a contractual terh® glears from the date of grant.

See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated FinanciakBtants, included in Part 1V, Item 15 of this Repfot additional
information on equity compensation pla

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relategs included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

This report contains forward-looking statementsaneling future events and our future performanceesehforward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could causeiakresults to differ materially from those exptor projected. These risks and uncertair
include, but are not limited to risks associatethvihe launch and commercial success of our pragyrbgrams and technologies; continuing
development, qualification and volume productioE¥PRESSvault™, NVvault™, HyperCloud™ and VLP RPiax&DIMM,; the rapidly-
changing nature of technology; risks associatedhwitellectual property, including the costs andradictability of litigation over
infringement of our property
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and the possibility of our patents being reexamibgthe USPTO; volatility in the pricing of DRAMd@nd NAND; changes in and uncerta
of customer acceptance of, and demand for, outiegiproducts and products under development, ol uncertainty of and/or delays in
product orders and product qualifications; delagsour and our customers' product releases and agveént; introductions of new produ
by competitors; changes in end-user demand fomtelclgy solutions; our ability to attract and retaskilled personnel; our reliance on
suppliers of critical components and vendors inghpply chain; fluctuations in the market pricecdfical components; evolving industry
standards; and the political and regulatory envinoant in the PRC. Other risks and uncertaintiesggscribed under the heading "Risk
Factors" in Part I, Item IA of this Annual Report 8orm 1(-K. Except as required by law, we undertake nogattion to revise or update
publicly any forwarelooking statements for any reason.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-perforce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacesstierer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of DRAM ICs, NAND, ASICs aather components assembled
on PCBs. We primarily market and sell our prodtctieading OEM customers. Our solutions are tarjateapplications where memory plays
a key role in meeting system performance requirésn&ke leverage a portfolio of proprietary techigids and design techniques, including
efficient planar design, alternative packaging téghes and custom semiconductor logic, to delivemory subsystems with high memory
density, small form factor, high signal integrigftiractive thermal characteristics and low costier

In November 2009, we introduced HyperClouBIR3 memory technology. HyperCloud™ utilizes anl@$hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthrecreases memory capacity and load reductiomiaolyy that increases memory bandwi
We expect that these patented technologies willenpaissible improved levels of performance for menistensive datacenter applications :
workloads, including enterprise virtualization, etbcomputing infrastructure, business intelligerezd-time data analytics, and high
performance computing. HyperCloud™ memory has hmeeler evaluation by several of our OEM customersi$e in their server products. In
February 2012, we achieved memory qualificatiorigperCloud™ at certain major OEMs.

In November 2011, we introduced a 32GB tiwrtisal rank RDIMM integrating HyperCloud™ with oproprietary Planar-X technology.
The new memory module enables up to 768GB of DRAMMDIry in next generation two-processor serversitiuhally, we announced
collaborative agreements with each of Hewlett-Pettkzompany ("HP") and International Business Maehi(l'IBM"), pursuant to which these
OEMs have agreed to cooperate with us in effortpuaify HyperCloud™ memory products for use whieit respective products. After
qualification is achieved by one or both of thedeM3, the qualifying OEMs will engage with us infobimarketing and further product
development efforts. We and each of the OEMs hawengitted financial and other resources toward tiilaboration. However, the efforts
undertaken under either of the collaborative age@mmay not result in any new revenues for us.

In February 2010, we announced generalahitify of NVvault™ battery-free. Like the NVvaul battery-powered product, NVvault™
battery-free provides non-volatile cache memorysgatem targeting RAID, storage virtualization amlgeo cache-protection and data logging
applications. NVvault™ products provide server atatage OEMs a solution for enhanced datacentéirrzovery. Unlike our traditional
battery-powered fault tolerant cache product whédled solely on batteries to power the cache, NMV4 battery-free utilizes a combination
of DRAM for high throughput performance and flash éxtended data retention. The introduction of HMt™ battery-free, as well as the
launch of the current version of the battery-power®dule in connection with Dell's introductiontbé PERC 7 line of servers in December
2009, has resulted in NVvault™
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revenues of $39.9 million, or 66% of total revenf@2011. We expect a decline of Dell NVvault™esathrough 2013 following Intel's laur
of its Romley platform in the first quarter of 20Ithis reduction in sales could have a signifidengact on our revenues and gross profit as
soon as the second quarter of 2012. In order trége our NVvault™ technology into a more divengsteamer base, we continue to pursue
additional qualifications of NVvault™ with other stomers. We also introduced EXPRESSvault™ in Ma&@&hl and we are in the process of
qualifying next generation DDR3 NVvault™ with custers. While nearly 100% of 2010 sales were madzeth as a result of our
diversification efforts, approximately 7% of NVval revenues in 2011 were to other customers.

The remainder of our revenues arose prlynidm OEM sales of specialty memory modules dadH-based products, the majority of
which were utilized in data center and industrigblecations. When developing modules for an equipipeoduct launch, we engage with our
OEM customers from the earliest stages of new prodefinition, providing us unique insight into th&ull range of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collabordt@amalso allowed us to develop a significant lefalystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigchtgiques, including efficient planar design, altgive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsystertlk thigh speed, capacity and signal integrity, $fwaim factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues fpetialty modules and flash-based products afjedub fluctuation as a result of the life
cycles of the products into which our modules ammiporated. Our ability to continue to produceerasves from specialty memory modules
flash-based products is dependent on our abilityutadify our products on new platforms as currdatfprms reach the end of their lifecycles,
and on the state of the global economy.

Consistent with the concentrated naturdn@fOEM customer base in our target markets, al smaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionafr net sales. One customer represented appradymé% of our net sales in 2011 and two
customers represented approximately 59% and 198@rafiet sales in 2010.

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of operations tfetraportant to management's assessment of
our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of outhhgrformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioestimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-tesitas agreements with our customers.
Although OEM customers typically provide us withrAlminding forecasts of future product demand ovecsigeperiods of time, they genera
place orders with us approximately two weeks inaaxbe of scheduled delivery. Selling prices areciihy negotiated monthly, based on
competitive market conditions and the current pdEBRAM ICs and NAND. Purchase orders generallyehao cancellation or rescheduling
penalty provisions. We often ship our productsuo @ustomers' international manufacturing sites oAbur sales to date, however, are
denominated in U.S. dollars. We also sell excesspoment inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND to distrilous and other users of memory ICs.
As compared to previous years, component invergalgs remain a relatively small percentage of alessas a result of our efforts to diversify
both our customer and product line bases. Thigsiifigation effort has also allowed us to use congus in a wider range of memory
subsystems. We expect that component inventorg sdlecontinue to represent a minimal portion of met sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of materiabnufacturing costs, depreciation and amortinaif equipment,
inventory valuation provisions, stock-based compéos, and occupancy costs and other allocated fbosts. The DRAM ICs and NAND
incorporated into our products constitute a sigaifit portion of our cost of sales, and thus out ebsales will fluctuate
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based on the current price of DRAM ICs and NAND. stempt to pass through such DRAM IC and NANDHlagemory cost fluctuations to
our customers by frequently renegotiating pricimigmpto the placement of their purchase orders. elew, the sales prices of our memory
subsystems can also fluctuate due to competittuatsdns unrelated to the pricing of DRAM ICs andMD, which affects gross margins. The
gross margin on our sales of excess component DRARhd NAND inventory is much lower than the grasargin on our sales of our
memory subsystems. As a result, fluctuations in RE and NAND inventory sales as a percentage ofoverall sales could impact our
overall gross margin. We assess the valuation ofnmentories on a quarterly basis and record &ipian to cost of sales as necessary to
reduce inventories to the lower of cost or netizahle value.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsrpyimieemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based comjpmsnon-recurring engineering fees, computeedidesign software licenses, reference
design development costs, patent filing and prirdegal fees, depreciation or rental of evaluagguipment, and occupancy and other
allocated overhead costs. Also included in reseanchdevelopment expense are the costs of madedabverhead related to the production of
engineering samples of new products under developoreproducts used solely in the research andldpreent process. Our customers
typically do not separately compensate us for aeaigd engineering work involved in developing apgdiion-specific products for them. All
research and development costs are expensed aeohcWe anticipate that research and developmerrelitures will increase in future
periods as we seek to expand new product oppaesaniticrease our activities related to new andrgimg markets and continue to develop
additional proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisoprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentrepliessentative commissions, professional servgresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other alldoaterhead costs. A significant portion of outisgleffort is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatpwocess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products marwfed for qualification is included in selling exgses. As we continue to service existing
and establish new customers, we anticipate thasales and marketing expenses will increase.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting prinegpgenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecepherted amounts of assets and liabilities and asces of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememtisthe reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tdharent degree of uncertainty. We base our estémateur historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what coodttur in the future considering available inforimat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thesgneates, which may result in material adversect$fen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoing policies involve our more significant assumpand estimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with tharféial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accaogt
Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingve recognize revenues when there is persuasience that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdtes price is fixed or determinable, and colld@idjof the resulting receivable is reasone
assured.
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We generally use customer purchase ordet®acontracts as evidence of an arrangementv@®gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaeipt for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents agd tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assoeiétethe transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess componeantaxies, which contain no right-of-return
privileges. Estimated returns are provided fohattime of sale based on historical experiencecific identification of an event necessitat
a reserve. We offer a standard product warranbutacustomers and have no other post-shipmentatiigs. We assess collectibility based on
the creditworthiness of the customer as determiryectedit checks and evaluations, as well as tiséoawer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatedgiipping and handling are classified as net salbie all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, aceqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumethis. tban for certain investments in
auction rate securities, commercial paper and gbam corporate bonds, the fair value of our caghivalents and investments in marketable
securities is determined based on quoted pricastine markets for identical assets or Level 1 ispBecause of their short-term nature,
commercial paper and short-term corporate bondaa@réequently traded. Although there are obsdesghotes for these securities, the
markets are not considered active. Accordingly féirevalues of these investments are based onll2ewguts. The fair value of our auction
rate securities is determined based on Level 3tsaple recognize transfers between Levels 1 thr@ughthe fair value hierarchy at the
beginning of the reporting period. We believe tihat carrying values of all other financial instrurteeapproximate their current fair values due
to their nature and respective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.We perform credit evaluations of our customi@nsgincial condition and limit the amount of credit
extended to our customers as deemed necessapgierally require no collateral. We evaluate thkectbility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In cases where wexasare of circumstances that may impair a specifstamer's ability to meet its financial
obligations subsequent to the original sale, wénedord an allowance against amounts due, aneétigeeduce the net recognized receivab
the amount that we reasonably believe will be ctdld. For all other customers, we record allowafeedoubtful accounts based primarily on
the length of time the receivables are past duedan the terms of the originating transaction,cimegent business environment and our
historical experience. Uncollectible accounts drarged against the allowance for doubtful accowmtsn all cost effective commercial means
of collection have been exhausted. Generally, ceditlosses have been within our expectationstl@grovisions established. However, we
cannot guarantee that we will continue to expegesredit loss rates similar to those we have egpedd in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conetatt among a small number of customers, and disigmi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have amahidverse effect on the collectability of oacaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of thieuakcost to purchase or manufacture the inverdothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averaxgt basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Ahdrdance sheet date, we evaluate ending invegtamgtities on hand and record a provit
for excess quantities and obsolescence. Among &dbtars, we consider
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historical demand and forecasted demand in relatighe inventory on hand, competitiveness of pobadferings, market conditions and
product life cycles when determining obsolescenmzkreet realizable value. In addition, we considearges in the market value of DRAM ICs
and NAND in determining the net realizable valueof raw material inventory. Once established, &ri{e downs are considered permanent
adjustments to the cost basis of our excess olletesoventories.

A significant decrease in demand for owdgicts could result in an increase in the amoueioéss inventory quantities on hand. In
addition, our estimates of future product demang prave to be inaccurate, in which case we may hianerstated or overstated the provision
required for excess and obsolete inventory. Irfukére, if our inventories are determined to bergakied, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales at the tifreeich determination. Likewise, if our inventarigre determined to be undervalued, we may
have over-reported our costs of sales in previen®gds and would be required to recognize additignass profit at the time such inventories
are sold. In addition, should the market value BfAM ICs or NAND decrease significantly, we may leguired to lower our selling prices to
reflect the lower current cost of our raw materiffisuch price decreases reduce the net realizaible of our inventories to less than our cost,
we would be required to recognize additional expenur cost of sales in the same period. Althowghmake every reasonable effort to
ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of futureygbdemand, any significant unanticipated changekeimand, technological developments or
the market value of DRAM ICs or NAND could have atarial effect on the value of our inventories and reported operating results.

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsWe evaluate the recoverability of the carryuadue of long-lived assets held and used in our
operations for impairment on at least an annuaklmsvhenever events or changes in circumstameisate that their carrying value may not
be recoverable. When such factors and circumstasdsts we compare the projected undiscounted éutet cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their estinageful lives against their respective carryimgant. These projected future cash flows may
vary significantly over time as a result of incred€ompetition, changes in technology, fluctuationdemand, consolidation of our customers
and reductions in average selling prices. If theyirag value is determined not to be recoverabdenffuture operating cash flows, the asset is
deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recodrizéhe extent the carrying value exceeds thenastid fair value of the asset. The fair
value of the asset or asset group is based on make when available, or when unavailable, ocalisited expected cash flows.

Warranty Reserve. We offer product warranties generally rangiranf one to three years, depending on the produthegotiated tern
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctamtégs require us to repair or replace defectroglpct returned to us during the warranty
period at no cost to the customer. Warranties ateffered on sales of excess inventory. Our edémbor warranty-related costs are recorded
at the time of sale based on historical and estichatture product return rates and expected repagplacement costs. While such costs have
historically been consistent between periods arlinvour expectations and the provisions estahblisheexpected changes in failure rates
could have a material adverse impact on us, reguatditional warranty reserves, and adverselyctffg our gross profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to hon-empleyeaccordance with ASC Topic 505. All transacsiam
which goods or services are the consideration veddior the issuance of equity instruments are aienl for based on the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of theiggastrument issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measurement date used to
determine the fair value of the equity instrumastied is the earlier of the date on which the tparty performance is complete or the date on
which it is probable that performance will occur.
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In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the gebriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expeitest, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredbmestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estidaaverage forfeiture rates are based on histdddaiture experience and estimated future
forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveat@ employees and directors is calculated usiadthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expattime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafi&ir values of our common stock option
awards. The expected term of options granted @utztked as the average of the weighted vestinggend the contractual expiration date of
the option. This calculation is based on the safédr method permitted by the SEC in instances avtiex vesting and exercise terms of opt
granted meet certain conditions and where limitstbhical exercise data is available. The expeutgdtility is based on the historical volatility
of our common stock. The risk-free rate selectedhiae any particular grant is based on the U.8a3ury rate that corresponds to the expectec
term of the grant effective as of the date of theng The expected dividends assumption is basediohistory and our expectations regarding
dividend payouts. We evaluate the assumptions tasealue our common stock option awards on a qogrbasis. If factors change and we
employ different assumptions, stock- based compgiemsaxpense may differ significantly from what Wave recorded in prior periods.
Compensation expense for common stock option awaittisyraded vesting schedules is recognized dra@ght-line basis over the requisite
service period for the last separately vestingipordf the award, provided that the accumulated E=ognized as of any date at least equa
value of the vested portion of the award.

We recognize the fair value of restricteztk awards issued to employees and outside dieatstock-based compensation expense on :
straight-line basis over the vesting period forldet separately vesting portion of the awards: ¥alue is determined as the difference between
the closing price of our common stock on the goate and the purchase price of the restricted steeked, if any, reduced by expected
forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancélas of the underlying vested or unvested stocletasvards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stoakdba@mpensation expense, or record additional esepfem vested stock-based awards.
Future stock-based compensation expense and udestouk- based compensation may increase to tleatetkiat we grant additional common
stock options or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogphio reflect the estimated future tax effectBibire deductible or taxable
amounts attributable to events that have been réped on a cumulative basis in the consolidateanfoial statements, calculated at enacted tax
rates for expected periods of realization. We radylreview our deferred tax assets for recoveitgtahd establish a valuation allowance, w
determined necessary, based on historical taxabterie, projected future taxable income, and theebegl timing of the reversals of existing
temporary differences. Because we have operatedioss for an extended period of time, we did Bobgnize deferred tax assets related to
losses incurred in 2011. Benefits recognized in020&re limited to those made available as a one-tanry-back through economic recovery
legislation. In the future, if we realize a defeftax asset that currently carries a valuationaaloce, we may record an income tax benefit or a
reduction to income tax expense in the period ohsealization.
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ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghmdd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andsition. Under ASC Topic 740 we may only recognize@ntinue to recognize tax positions
that meet a "more likely than not" threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulatimsubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigonent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afjelan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, dvelution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our esti@satwvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseegiously recorded tax liabilities.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatied statements of operations as a percentagé séles for the years indicated:

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 67 74
Gross profi 33 26
Operating expense
Research and developm 25 39
Selling, general and administrati 18 29
Total operating expens 42 68
Operating los: 9 (42
Other (expense) incom
Interest expense, n — —
Other (expense) income, r — —
Total other (expense) income, | — —
Loss before income tax bene (9) (42
Income tax benef © 2
Net loss (9% (40)%
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to the Yewted January 1, 2011
Net Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit.

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the years endeceBoer 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1, %
2011 2011 Change Change
Net sales $ 60,72¢ $ 37,85t $ 22,87« 60%
Cost of sale: 40,46¢ 27,91( 12,55¢ 45%
Gross profi $ 20,26 $ 9,94t $ 10,31¢ 104%
Gross margit 33.2% 26.2% 7.1%

Net Sales. The increase in net sales for 2011 as compaitbd?010 resulted primarily from increases of apgpmately (i) $19.7 million
in sales of NVvault™ RDIMMS used in cache-protestand data logging applications, including $16.6iam from the launch of NVvault™
battery-free, the flash-based cache system thainbegenerally available in 2010, (ii) $3.4 millionsales of flash memory products, resulting
from existing and new customer qualifications, &iig$1.0 million in sales of HyperCloud™ memoryoaules, offset by a decrease of
$2.4 million in sales of specialty memory modulsediin industrial applications as one customer stbproduction as a result of its product
nearing the end of its life cycle. Approximately?®®f our NVvault™ sales were made to Dell in 200/e expect a decline of Dell NVvault™
sales through 2013 following Intel's launch offtsmley platform in the first quarter of 2012. Thésluction in sales could have a significant
impact on our revenue and gross profit. We expedbereasing percentage of our revenue to come §ales of NVvault to a more diverse
customer base, as well as from sales of our HypeitCM products.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. The overall improvements in gross profit andsgrmargin are due to increased sales and maniifactu
volume, as well as a shift in sales toward highargim products. Gross profit for 2011 as compaoe2iX10 increased due to the 60% increase
in net sales between the two periods, resultirgniimproved ability to absorb fixed manufacturimgts. These volume based improvements
were augmented by decreased DRAM prices, whichtipelsi affected margins in some product categoresnoted previously, the expected
decline in Dell NVvault™ sales could have a sigrfit impact on our revenue and gross profit.

Research and Development.

The following table presents research aktbpment expenses for the years ended Decemhp203B1 and January 1, 2011 (in thousa
except percentages):

Year Ended
December 31, January 1, %
2011 2011 Change Change
Research and developm: $ 14,92¢ $ 14,76 $ 162 1%

The increase in research and developmemrese in 2011 as compared to 2010 resulted priyrfaoiin increases of $1.4 million in
engineering expenses as a result of an incredsalininternal engineering headcount and outsidéractors engaged in new product
development activities offset by reductions of§@ 9 million in legal and professional fees dug¢hi deferral of certain patent protection court
cases while we respond to reexamination requesite diISPTO, and (ii) $0.3 million in material expgen related to product builds and testing,
primarily related to our HyperCloud™ products.
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Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, gehand administrative expenses for the years ebagegmber 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1, %
2011 2011 Change Change
Selling, general an
administrative $ 10,70t $ 11,04: $ (336) 3)%

Selling, general and administrative expateereased by approximately $0.3 million in 201t@mpared to 2010. We incurred increases
of approximately $0.1 million in headcount cost &d1 million in outside administrative servicefset by a decrease of $0.5 million in
overhead-related expenses, primarily due to loweitify cost.

Other Income, Net.

The following table presents other incomet, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and dahya011 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1, %
2011 2011 Change Change
Interest expense, n $ (229 $ (42) $ (18¢) 442%
Other (expense) income, r (56) 71 (127) (179)%
Total other (expense) income, | $ (284) $ 28 $ (319 (1,079%

The increase in interest expense, net@&@d Zompared with 2010 was the result of interasbur borrowings under our two term loans,
which were originated in September 2010 and May1201

Other expense, net for 2011 was primadimprised of a realized loss of $59,000 from the s&lan auction rate security that was
purchased in 2008. llliquidity in the market forctian rate securities had resulted in unrealizedds on two securities that were owned. The
unrealized loss was recorded as a component of otimeprehensive loss through the date of disp¥galwere able to liquidate one of the
securities at approximately its book value as altes a tender request from the issuer. We comtitauown one auction rate security which has
been marked to its fair value through other comensive loss. Other income, net, for 2010 was piilgneomprised of cash proceeds from the
early termination of a sublease of our headquaféeibty.

Income Tax Benefit.

The following table presents the benefitifcome taxes for the years ended December 31, @0d January 1, 2011 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
December 31, January 1, %
2011 2011 Change Change
Income tax bene $ (53) $ (7149 $ 661 (93)%

The federal statutory rate was 35% for 284d 2010. In both 2011 and 2010 we continueddwige a full valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets, which consist primafihet operating loss carry-forwards. In 2011 a0d0, our effective tax rate differed from
the 35% statutory rate primarily due to the valatllowance on newly generated loss carry-forwastfset in 2010 by the realization of $0.7
from a one-time carry-back of net operating losdksved by economic recovery
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legislation. For further discussion see Note &h@€onsolidated Financial Statements included ihIFaltem 15 of this Report.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefit®@cember 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 was appatedy $0.02 million and $0.08 million,
respectively, of tax positions that, if recognizesuld affect our annual effective tax rate. Weusel our unrecognized tax benefits by
approximately $55,000 during 2011 as a resultlapae in a federal statute of limitations, resgliim an income tax benefit.

In 2008, we began operating under tax lghdn the PRC, which are effective from Januai@&hrough December 2012. Since we
operated at a loss in the PRC in 2011 and 201@jiaveot realize any benefit attributable to the hakdays.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operasigmimarily through issuances of equity and debustes and cash generated from operations.
We have also funded our operations with a revolliimg of credit and term loans under our bank dridility, capitalized lease obligations,
and from the sale and leaseback of our domestiaifaaturing facility.

Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Matable Securities.

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments iketedrle securities (in thousands):

December 31 January 1,

2011 2011
Working capital $ 17,77 $ 17,69:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,53t $ 14,21(
Shor-term marketable securities( 824
Long-term marketable securiti 444 89C

$ 10,97¢ $ 15,92«

1) Included in working capite

Our working capital increased slightly id12. Increases in operating assets resulting freninerease in sales and investments in
inventory required to support the development aftdyperCloud™ products were financed with the peatseof a $3.0 million term loan, a
portion of which matures on a long-term basis.

Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended Decen3de2011 and January 1, 2011.

The following table summarizes our caskwfidor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activitie: $ (7,424 $ (15,409
Investing activities 52C 2,18(
Financing activitie: 3,22¢ 17,49:
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ (3,675 $ 4,26¢
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Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended January 1, 2011 was primarily the re$(l} a net loss of
approximately $5.6 million and (ii) approximatel$.8 million in net cash used by changes in opegadssets and liabilities, primarily accounts
receivable and inventory. Cash used to fund neeless reduced by approximately $4.0 million inmat-cash operating expenses, mainly
comprised of depreciation and amortization andkstzsed compensation.

Accounts receivable increased approximekl million at December 31, 2011 compared withuday 1, 2011, primarily as a result of
net sales of $16.4 million in the fourth quarte26f.1 compared with $10.1 million in the fourth geaof 2010. During 2011 and 2010, we
were successful in collecting cash from sales tocastomers substantially in accordance with camdard payment terms to those customers.

Inventories increased approximately $1.Bioni during 2011 primarily due to qualificationtadgties for our HyperCloud™ products.
Specifically, we received $2.5 million under a fhase commitment for ASIC devices and purchasechiove to build samples that we are
required to supply as a result of our HyperClouddNaboration agreements with HP and IBM. In theufet our inventory levels will continue
to be determined based on, among other factordetleé of customer orders received and overall dedres well as the stage at which our
products are in their respective life cycles anehgetitive situations in the marketplace. We makeresf to balance such considerations against
the risk of obsolescence or potentially excessritony levels.

Accounts payable, net of amounts due foperty and equipment purchases, decreased apptekn$8.2 million during 2011 despite
increased production levels, primarily as a regbigxpansion of trade credit, and continued strimgash management.

Net cash used in operating activities far year ended January 1, 2011 was primarily thdtres(i) a net loss of approximately
$15.1 million and (ii) approximately $4.0 million net cash used by changes in operating asset@hitities, primarily accounts receivable
and inventory. Cash used to fund net losses iscertiby approximately $3.7 million in net non-caple@ting expenses, mainly comprised of
depreciation and amortization and stock-based cosgim®n.

Investing Activities. In 2011 and 2010, we continued to invest reinginet proceeds from our public offerings and detatncing in
various money market and marketable securitiesstnvents in connection with our efforts to both pres capital as well as achieve
competitive returns on our investments.

Net cash provided by investing activities the year ended December 31, 2011 was priméu@yesult of proceeds from the maturities
sales of marketable securities of approximatel $dillion. We also used approximately $0.7 millioncash primarily to purchase equipment
related to our production facilities in the PRC anudl research and development activities in Irvidaljfornia.

Net cash provided by investing activities the year ended January 1, 2011 was primarilyakelt of proceeds from the maturities and
sales of marketable securities of approximatel$ $5llion, partially offset by purchases of invesnts in marketable securities of
approximately $2.4 million. We also used approxieha$0.9 million in cash primarily to purchase qmuent.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities foe tyear ended December 31, 2011 was primarilyabeltrof the net
proceeds of $2.9 million from a new term loan ahédli from Silicon Valley Bank and $1.9 million fraiime sale of 697,470 shares of our
common stock through our sales agreement with Alaat) described below under the capt@apital Resourcesoffset by repayments of
$1.7 million on the term loans and capital leaskégakions.

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended January 1, 2011 was primarilyahkelt of the net proceeds of $16.2 million
from the sale of 4,594,250 shares of our commorkstoa registered public offering, which closedMarch 24, 2010, and the proceeds of a
$1.5 million term loan obtained from Silicon VallBank, offset by repayments of $0.3 million on teem loan and capital lease obligations.
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In 2011 and 2010, we utilized our linesdit with Silicon Valley Bank to fund sharm working capital needs and collateralize ve!
credit.

Capital Resources.

On October 31, 2009, we entered into aitegpieement with Silicon Valley Bank, which wasemmded on March 24, 2010, June 30, 2010,
September 30, 2010, May 11, 2011 and August 101.20drrently, the credit agreement provides fdna of credit pursuant to which we can
borrow up to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible agots receivable, or (ii) $10.0 million. We have thgion to increase credit availability to
$15.0 million at any time through the maturity dafe&September 30, 2013, subject to the conditidriecredit agreement.

The credit agreement contains an overdlisit of $10.0 million to collateralize our contgient obligations under letters of credit, foreign
exchange contracts and cash management servicemimsroutstanding under the overall sublimit rediheeamount available pursuant to the
credit agreement. At October 1, 2011, letters eflitrin the amount of $2.8 million were outstandifbe letters of credit expired in October
2011, and were renewed for $2.0 million throughdbet 31, 2012.

Interest on the line of credit is payablenthly at either (i) prime plus 1.25%, as long asmaintain $8.5 million in revolving credit
availability plus unrestricted cash on deposit witd bank, or (i) prime plus 2.25%. Additionalthe credit agreement requires payments fc
unused line, as well as anniversary and early tetitn fees, as applicable.

The following table presents details ofstaimding borrowings and availability under our lofecredit (in thousands):

December 31, January 1,

2011 2011
Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 7,791 $ 5,10C
Outstanding borrowings on the revolving line ofditt — —
Amounts reserved under credit sublin (2,027) (2,900
Unutilized borrowing availability under the revahg

line of credit $ 577t $ 2,20(

Outstanding borrowings under the Siliconl&taBank line of credit did not exceed $1.0 mitliat any time during 2011 or 2010.

In addition, in connection with the SeptemB0, 2010 amendment, Silicon Valley Bank exteral§d.5 million term loan under the credit
agreement, which bears interest at a rate of ppiee2.00%. We are required to make equal monthhcjpal payments over the 36 month
term, which total $0.5 million annually. In May 2D1Silicon Valley Bank extended an additional $3llion term loan, and extended the term
of the existing credit facility through Septemb@i.3, which eliminated the potential balloon paymeamthe first term loan. The second term
loan bears interest at a rate of prime plus 2.749d,is payable in equal installments over the 24titerm of the loan, totaling $1.5 million
annually. As of December 31, 2011, $3.0 million wasstanding under the term loans.

All obligations under the credit agreemarg secured by a first priority lien on our tangibhd intangible assets. The only restriction on
the use of funds under the revolving line of créslthat we must be in compliance with the covesafithe credit agreement. The credit
agreement includes affirmative and negative covesnamcluding financial covenants with respect tw iquidity and tangible net worth and
restrictions on the payment of dividends. As of &aber 31, 2011, we were in compliance with allriitial covenants and expect to maintain
compliance for the foreseeable future. Howeverhaxe in the past been in violation of one or maneeoants of other credit agreements, and
we could violate one or more covenants in the Ritlfrwe were to be in violation of covenants
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under our credit agreement, our lender could chtmsecelerate payment on all outstanding loannzaisand we could lose vendor credit
should the letters of credit issued under the tiaglieement become unavailable. If that were togage may be unable to quickly obtain
equivalent or suitable replacement financing. Ifwexe not able to secure alternative sources difigy such acceleration would have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition.

On November 21, 2011, we entered into essafireement with Ascendiant as sales agent. ordamce with the terms of the sales
agreement, we may issue and sell shares of our constock having an aggregate offering price ofaw$10.0 million. Sales of shares of our
common stock may be made in a series of transacfiom time to time as we may direct Ascendiarddfes deemed to be an "at the market"
offering as defined in Rule 415 under the Securifiet of 1933. Such sales are made pursuant teftective $40 million shelf registration
statement filed with the SEC in September 2011o0fA8ecember 31, 2011, we had received net procefeaisproximately $1.9 million raised
through the sale of approximately 697,470 sharesnvay terminate the sales agreement with Ascendtarty time. As a result of such
termination, we would expect to make available sergaining unsold portion of the $10.0 million ingaggate offering price for any other
sources of financing that are permitted under ffectve shelf registration statement. The salesagent with Ascendiant does not preclud
from pursuing other sources of financing.

We have in the past utilized equipmentiteaarrangements to finance certain capital exgarei. Equipment leases continue to be a
financing alternative that we expect to pursuéhmfuture.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvarrg availability under our bank credit facilignd the cash expected to be generated from
operations, will be sufficient to meet our antidgrhcash needs for at least the next 12 monthsfu@ure capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our levels of net sales,timing and extent of expenditures to supportaedeand development activities, the
expansion of manufacturing capacity both domedyicaid internationally and the continued marketeptance of our products. We could be
required, or may choose, to seek additional funttimgugh public or private equity or debt finan@ngn addition, in connection with any futi
acquisitions, we may require additional funding ethinay be provided in the form of additional debéquity financing or a combination
thereof. These additional funds may not be avalall terms acceptable to us, or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with usodidated entities or financial partnerships, saslentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifipalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In adiitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,dad we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materadposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accountingn8tards Update ("ASU") No. 2011-4, Fair Value Measoent ("ASU 11-4"). ASU 11-4
amends existing guidance to achieve convergenceasurement and disclosure between U.S. Generatlgpied Accounting Standards
("GAAP") and International Financial Reporting Sdands ("IFRS"). ASU 11-4 is effective for fiscalare2012. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that ASU 11-4 will have andbnsolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 281Comprehensive Income ("ASU 11-5"). ASU 11-5 adseexisting guidance to increase
the prominence of items reported in other comprsiverincome
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and to facilitate convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRSU 11-5 is effective for fiscal year 2012. Then@pany is currently evaluating the
impact that ASU 11-4 will have on its consolidafedancial statements.

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The financial statements and supplemerdatg required by this item are included in Partltém 15 of this Report.
ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotents on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the partitign of our management, including our principaé@xive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols and procedures, as such term is definBdile 13at5(e) under the Exchange #
as of the end of the period covered by this re@ated on this evaluation, our principal executiffecer and our principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiwere effective to provide reasonable assurdraténformation required to be disclosed
by us in reports we file or submit under the ExaeAct is recorded, processed, summarized andtegpasithin the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms, and is accumulated amsnzinicated to our management, including our ppiglogéxecutive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timelgaisions regarding required disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control diremcial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlexation of the effectiveness of our internal cohtiver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011 based on the criteria set forhtérnal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisnevaluation, our management concluded thatrwernal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.

This Annual Report does not include ansadtigon report of our independent registered pudgtimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report watssubject to attestation by our independent reggst public accounting firm pursuant to the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissidanpianit us to provide only management's repothis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal abver financial reporting during the fourth querof 2011 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our inteFgantrol over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well conveeii and operated, can provide only reasonablegygiilute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefitontrols
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must be considered relative to their costs. Becafifee inherent limitations in all control systems evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues andrioss of fraud, if any, have been detected. Thdsrént limitations include the realities that
judgments in decision making can be faulty, and tiheakdowns can occur because of simple errorditiddally, controls can be circumven:
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusibtwo or more people, or by management ovewidbe control. The design of any system
of controls is also based in part upon certain@gsions about the likelihood of future events, #mefe can be no assurance that any desig
succeed in achieving its stated goals under afimg@t future conditions. Because of the inheragnitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur ande detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluatmfreffectiveness to future periods are subjectdksrthat controls may become inadequate be
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compBamith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

In December 2011, we received gross praceédpproximately $2,151,000 and net proceedppfaximately $1,891,000 raised through
the sale of 697,470 shares of our common stockuputgo our sales agreement with Ascendiant. Theeshwere released for sale to the public
at a price equal to the current market price ifiadrthe-market" offering as defined under Rule 4h8er the Securities Act of 1933, and are
made under our effective shelf registration statgmpeeviously filed with the SEC. We paid commissi®f 3.5%, or approximately $75,000
Ascendiant. Additionally, we paid Ascendiant $5@0 a nonaccountable expense reimbursement in associatitrtied initiation of the sale
agreement. We also incurred third party transaatasis totaling approximately $135,000.

PART Il
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

The following individuals serve as the Ri@'s and executive officers of our company. Theeeno familial relationships between any of
our directors or our executive officers and anyeotiirector or executive officer.

Date Elected or

Name Age Board Committees Positions Appointed
Chun Ki Hong 51 President, Chief Executi 200(
Officer and Chairman of
the Boarc
Richard J. Char 52 Audit (Chair) and Director 201C
Compensatiol
Thomas F 54 Audit, Compensatio Director 200¢€
Lagatta (Chair) and Nominating
and Corporate Governan
Claude M. 56 Director 2011
Leglise
Alan H. Portnoy 66 Audit and Nominating an  Director 200¢
Corporate Governance
(Chair)
Gail Sasak 55 Vice President, Chie 200¢
Financial Officer and
Secretary

46




Table of Contents

Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors currently consists @kfimembers, four of whom have been determined independent
under the rules and listing requirements of The RA® Global Market, referred to herein as the NASDA(Es. Please see the section titled
"Director Independence” below for more informatidacancies on the Board may be filled only by pesselected by a majority of the
remaining directors. A director elected by the Rio@rfill a vacancy in a class shall serve forthmainder of the full term of that class, and
until the director's successor is elected and fiedliThis includes vacancies created by an inerégathe number of directors.

The biographies of each of the nomineedglii@ctor below contains information regarding piegson's service as a director, business
experience, director positions held currently cat time during the last five years, informatiegarding involvement in certain legal or
administrative proceedings, if applicable, andekperiences, qualifications, attributes or skiiattcaused the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and the Board to determirtehbagerson should serve as a director for the famm

Each nominee brings a strong and uniqukdraand and set of skills to the Board of Direct@ising the Board as a whole competence
and experience in a wide variety of areas, inclgdiarporate governance and board service, exeau@reagement, law and regulation,
experience in the memory systems market and exmeri@ith manufacturers.

Chun Ki Hongs one of the founders of Netlist and has beerpoesident and chief executive officer and a dinestioce our inception.
Mr. C.K. Hong assumed the title of chairman of Beard of Directors in January 2004. From Septer2B80 to September 2001, Mr. C.K.
Hong served as president and chief operating afi€énfinilink Corporation, a DSL equipment compamr. C.K. Hong assisted us on a part-
time basis until his departure from Infinilink,\ahich time he assumed full-time responsibilitieshais. From July 1998 until September 2000,
Mr. C.K. Hong served as Executive Vice Presider¥iaing Components, Inc., a memory subsystems netufing company. From
November 1997 to June 1998, he was General Mamé@ales at LG Semicon Co., Ltd., a public semicmtor manufacturing company
South Korea. From April 1992 to October 1997, MIKCHong served as Director of Sales at LG Semigmerica, Incorporated, a subsidiary
of LG. From December 1983 to March 1992, Mr. C.Knig held various management positions at LG Sudréédi in South Korea. Mr. C. K.
Hong received his B.S. in economics from Virginiantmonwealth University and his M.S. in technologgnagement from Pepperdine
University's Graduate School of Management. Asafreaur founders, Mr. C.K. Hong brings to the Boasdensive knowledge of the
organization and our market.

Richard J. Chahas served as Managing Director and Global Heddfofmation Services for Citi's Global Enterprisayfhents group
since September 2011. Citi GEP is leading Cititaitive to be the world's leading digital bank.eTimformation services business applies Big
Data analytics to Citi information resources inartb present Citi customers with highly targetéférs from leading retailers and businesses.
Mr. Char served as CEO of VIPGift LLC, a providércorporate and consumer loyalty and incentive mog from October 2008 to March
2010. From June 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Char was#méor vice president of corporate developmentgarral counsel at Blackhawk
Network, Inc., a provider of prepaid merchant gdtds and network branded cards. From March 208t 2005, Mr. Char served as t
president and chief executive officer of IC Mediadeveloper of CMOS image sensors that was acquir&gdril 2005. Prior to joining IC
Media, from March 1999 to January 2002, Mr. Chas weanaging director with the Technology Group céditr Suisse First Boston. From
1997 to 1999, Mr. Char was co-head of technologgstment banking at Cowen & Company, and from 1884097; he was a partner in the
law firm of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati. Mrh@r currently serves on the board of directordenid, Inc. (AMEX: ITI) and serves as a
member of its audit committee. Mr. Char receivesiAiB. degree from Harvard College and his J.Dreledrom Stanford Law School.

Mr. Char brings to the Board of Directors execule@&dership experience, as well as corporate fimanc corporate development experience.
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Thomas F. Lagatthas served as Executive Vice President of World@alkes for Broadcom Corp. since June 2006. Pritrag he
served as the Enterprise Computing Group's sefgerpresident and general manager since 2003.iHedd@roadcom in 2002. Prior to that,
Mr. Lagatta served as vice president and generabgex of Anadigics, Inc., a semiconductor manufactiBefore Anadigics, Mr. Lagatta
served as vice president of business developmetradt, Inc. Prior to Avnet, Mr. Lagatta servedvarious senior management and technical
positions for over 11 years at Symbios Logic, asgje systems company. Mr. Lagatta received hisEBES from Ohio State University and
M.S.E.E. from the University of Southern CalifornMr. Lagatta has leadership experience with marufang companies in sales managen
and building strategic relationships with largeteys OEMSs.

Claude M. Legliseo-founded ClearSpot Energy, Inc., a solar eneegyices company in 2007, where he serves as Mag&ymector.
From 2010 to February 2012, Leglise served as abeeof the Board of Directors of Camelot Informati®ystems Inc., a publicly held
company that is a leading provider of enterpriggieption services and financial industry inforneatitechnology services in China. Prior to
tenure at ClearSpot Energy, Inc., Leglise servedeses] of the San Francisco office of WI Harper @rauventure capital firm where he also
served as Managing Director from 2006 to 2007.rRadV| Harper, Leglise had a successful careémtat Corporation that spanned more tl
two decades. From 2001 to 2005, he served as VYesdent of Intel Capital where he was responditi¢he company's venture capital
investments outside the United States. From 198005, he served as Vice President and General déamd the Home Products Group, Vice
President of the Content group, Director of WorldevDeveloper Relations, Director of Marketing ie ticroprocessor division and as
General Manager of the Supercomputers Componergsa@pn.

Alan H. Portnoyhas served as a member of our Board of Directaredilarch 2004. He is also a business consultafurioal
Advisors, LLC, a corporate advisory firm. Mr. Parnhas previously served as president of MacromneAca, Inc., chief operating officer of
LG Semicon America, vice president of General lmstents Corporation and senior vice president af@il Systems. Mr. Portnoy began his
career with Fairchild Semiconductor. He receivdl&. in Electrical Engineering from Rensselaer Rallinic Institute and an MBA from
Carnegie-Mellon University. Mr. Portnoy brings leaship to the Board, experience in the memory netufing industry and decades of
operating experience.

Gail Sasakhas been our vice president and chief financiateffsince January 2008 and our secretary sinceigt®p07. From 2006 to
January 2008, Ms. Sasaki has served as our vie@pre of finance. From 2001 to 2005, Ms. Sasakk time away from the workforce for
personal reasons. From 2000 to 2001, Ms. Sasaleédeas chief financial officer of eMaiMai, Inc.cammercial technology company based in
Hong Kong and mainland China. From 1997 to 2000, $4saki was senior vice president of finance etagr and treasurer of eMotion, Inc.,
formerly Cinebase Software, a Vienna, VA-based bigper of business-to-business media managementaeftand services. From 1989 to
1997, Ms. Sasaki was chief financial officer of ktiklet Technology, Inc., an Irvine-based leadettanagye technology. Ms. Sasaki spent seven
years in public accounting leaving as an audit ganaith Arthur Young (now known as Ernst & YoungR) in Century City, CA. Ms. Sas:
earned a Bachelor's degree from the Universityaiff@nia at Los Angeles, and also earned a Mast&usiness Administration degree from
the University of Southern California.

Corporate Governance Guidelines; Code of Businesso@duct

Our Board of Directors has adopted a sebgborate governance guidelines established istake Board of Directors and its committees
in performing their duties and serving the bestrasts of the company and our stockholders. Oyrotate governance guidelines are available
on our website, located http://www.netlist.comWe also have a Code of Business Conduct and<€fhigs code describes certain ethical
principles that we have established for the condfiour business and

48




Table of Contents

outlines certain key legal requirements of whidreaiployees must be generally aware and with whicmployees must comply. Our Codr
Business Conduct and Ethics is available on oursitebocated atttp://www.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to, or
grant any waivers of, a provision of the Code ofiBass Conduct and Ethics that applies to the ijpahexecutive officer, principal financial
officer, or principal accounting officer that reqes disclosure under applicable rules promulgatetuthe Securities Act or Exchange Act, we
intend to disclose such amendment or waiver andehgons there for on our Internet site.

Board Committees

Our Board of Directors has establishedftiewing committees: the Audit Committee, the Campation Committee, and the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee.

Audit Committet

Messrs. Char, Portnoy and Lagatta serveauoudit Committee during fiscal year 2011. Mhat joined the Audit Committee, and
became its Chair upon his appointment to the Bo&mirectors in January 2010. Our Board of Direstdetermined that Mr. Char qualifies as
an "audit committee financial expert" in accordandth Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SE@eés, and that each current member
of our Audit Committee is "independent” under th&NDAQ rules.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a writtarter for our Audit Committee. The charterasferth on our website, located at
http://www.netlist.com Our Audit Committee (a) oversees the integritpof consolidated financial statements, our finah@@porting process,
systems of accounting, internal controls and d&ale controls and procedures, and our financiartgw legal and regulatory compliance,

(b) reviews and approves in advance any transachgrus with related parties, (c) appoints our peselent registered public accounting firm,
(d) monitors the independence and performance oinolependent registered public accounting firmjfeesponsible for setting the corporate
tone for quality financial reporting and sound Imesis risk practices and ethical behavior and r{fyigdes an avenue of communication among
the independent registered public accounting fimanagement, and our Board of Directors. The Audin@ittee must also pre-approve all
audit services and, subject to a "de minimus" eticapall other services performed by the independegistered public accounting firm. Our
Audit Committee also has the responsibility to eswiwith management and approve in advance anyacioss or courses of dealing with
related parties. Our Audit Committee met four tirdesing fiscal year 2011 and met with our independegistered public accounting firm
without management present on four occasions dalfigear 2011.

Compensation Committee

Messrs. Lagatta (Chair) and Char servedwrCompensation Committee during fiscal year 2@&k&kch of the members of our
Compensation Committee is independent in accordaitbehe NASDAQ rules. Each of the members of ttaemittee is also currently a
"non-employee director" as that term is definedarflule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of4l@Be "Exchange Act") and an "outside
director" as that term is defined in Internal RaveiBervice Regulations. Our Compensation Commigieiews the performance of our chief
executive officer and other executives and makessibas and specific recommendations regarding tteenpensation to the Board of
Directors with the goal of ensuring that our congaion system for our executives, as well as ollogtphy for compensation for all
employees, is aligned with the long term intere$tsur stockholders and does not encourage oungixes to take excessive or unnecessary
risks that might threaten our long-term value. Tmmpensation Committee also oversees the develdpherecutive succession plans.
Pursuant to its charter, the Compensation Commiti@e select, retain and terminate such compensatinsultants, outside counsel and other
advisors as it deems necessary or
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appropriate in its sole discretion and has theaiithto approve the fees and retention termsirgjab such consultants. The Compensation
Committee met one time during fiscal year 2011. diharter of the Compensation Committee is set fontlour website, located at
http://www.netlist.com

Nominating and Corporate Governance Commi

Messrs. Portnoy (Chair) and Lagatta sepbredur Nominating and Corporate Governance Comendteing fiscal year 2011. The charter
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commiéted our corporate governance guidelines aregétdn our website, located at
http://www.netlist.com Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitgws and makes recommendations to the Boabirettors
about our governance processes, assists in idiexgtind recruiting candidates for the Board of Diioes, reviews the performance of our B¢
of Directors and its committees, recommends tdBtb&rd proposed nominees for Board membership ahk@&sn@commendations to our Board
of Directors regarding the membership and chaitb@fcommittees of our Board of Directors. Our Neating and Corporate Governance
Committee met three times during fiscal year 2011.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangeohd 934 requires our executive officers and doecand persons who own more than 10% of
a registered class of our equity securities toréilgorts of ownership on Form 3 and changes in ostiyg on Form 4 or 5 with the SEC. Such
executive officers, directors and 10% stockholdeesalso required by SEC rules to furnish us watpies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

To our knowledge, based solely on our newé the copies of such forms received by us ottemirepresentations from certain reporting
persons that no Form 5s were required for suclopsrsve believe that, during fiscal 2011, all Smtti6(a) filing requirements applicable to
our executive officers, directors and 10% stockbddvere complied with, except as follows: (i) ChtirHong inadvertently failed to file a
Form 4 on a timely basis with respect to withhoddaf shares to satisfy tax withholding obligatianson vesting of restricted stock and an
unvested stock option grant, (ii) Gail M. Sasakiduertently failed to file a Form 4 on a timely isasith respect to one unvested stock option
grant, (iii) Richard J. Char, Thomas F. Lagatta Afah H. Portnoy inadvertently failed to file Fodrreports on a timely basis with respect to
restricted stock granted in 2011; and (iv) Claude_bglise was unable to file Forms 3 and 4 on &lnbasis due to administrative delays in
obtaining access to Mr. Leglise's unique SEC ClHeco

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The following table provides informatiorgegding the compensation we paid to our chief etreewfficer and our other most highly
compensated executive officer of the Company, @dttamed executive officer," for the fiscal yeansled December 31, 2011 and January 1,
2011. The following table excludes compensatiothenform of perquisites and other personal benpfibsided to a named executive officer
for which the total amount of such compensation leas than $10,000.
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Summary Compensation Table

Non-equity
Incentive Plan
Restricted All other
Bonus Option Stock  Compensatior Compensatior
Salary Awards  Awards Total
Name and Principal Position ($) $) ($)@) ($)(2) ($)(3) ($) $
Chun Ki Hong 2011 323,00 — 603,11( — 100,98: 65,02(4) 1,092,06!
President, Chie
Executive 201C 323,00 — — 349,00( 26,24 59,19((4) 757,43«
Officer and Chairmal
of
the Boarc
Gail Sasak 2011 200,00 — 150,77¢ — 103,77¢ — 454,53;
Vice President, Chie 201C 187,30¢ — —  52,35( 59,36! — 299,02:
Financial Officer anc
Secretary

1) Reflects the dollar amount of the grant date falug of awards granted during the respective figeats, measured in
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificatiopi€ 718 and without adjustment for estimated fitufes. For a
discussion of the assumptions used to calculateahe of option awards, refer to Note 2 "Stocké@h€ompensation” (
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements includd®hrt 1V, Item 15 of this Report. For a discossof the material
terms of each stock option award, see the tabteabehtitled "Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscaly&nd."

2) Represents the dollar value of the restricted stwekrds calculated on the basis of the fair vafueeunderlying shares
of our common stock on the respective grant datescordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 and withoyt adjustment
for estimated forfeitures. The actual value thaezecutive will realize on each restricted stoclaedwvill depend on the
price per share of our common stock at the timeeshanderlying the restricted stock awards are. §didre can be no
assurance that the actual value realized by aruéxeavill be at or near the grant date fair vatii¢he restricted stock
awarded.

3) Represents cash awards earned on the basis dfispecformance criteria set forth under our semzal Management
By Objective program. Specific objectives and assent of performance against the stated objectindsr this non-
equity incentive compensation plan were approvethbyCompensation Committee of the Board of DinectBor
Mr. C.K Hong, performance targets include our aehieent of financial plans and accomplishment ofipoh marketing
and development objectives. For Ms. Sasaki, peidoa targets include our achievement of finandaipand
accomplishment of objectives relevant to our ietetihal property strategies.

(4)  For 2011, reflects $21,931, for automobile rentafrpents, $19,080 for country club membership, $10jt vehicle

related expenses, $4,715 for health club memberahip$9,148 for income tax, and estate planning2B10, reflects
$17,888, for automobile rental payments, $19,50%éuntry club membership, $3,227 in vehicle relatgpenses,
$5,115 for health club membership, $911 in healluiance benefits and $12,544 for income tax,eptahning and
income tax audits

Employment Agreements

We entered into an employment agreemetit @ftun Ki Hong in September 2006. This agreememtiges for an initial base salary of
$323,000 plus other customary benefits, includivgreimbursement of professional fees and expensesed in connection with income and
estate tax planning and preparation, income taitsadd the defense of income tax claims, the rainsdment of membership fees and
expenses for professional organizations and onetooalub, the reimbursement of employment-reldéegl fees, the use of a company
automobile, and the reimbursement of health clusdand other similar health-related expenses. M¢. Bong may earn annual performance
bonuses, at the discretion of our Board of Direx;tof up to 100% of his base salary based upoadhievement of performance objectives.

The initial five-year term of Mr. C.K. Holsgemployment agreement will automatically be edéshfor additional one-year periods unless
we or Mr. Hong provide notice of termination six mtles prior to the renewal date, but at all times ®1K. Hong may terminate his
employment upon six months' advance written ndtices. If we terminate Mr. C.K. Hong's employmetithaut cause or if he terminates his
employment for good reason, which includes a chafigentrol of our
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company, he will be entitled to receive continuegirpents of his base salary for one year, reimbueséif medical insurance premiums
during that period unless he becomes employed aks@ya pro-rated portion of his annual performdraeus, and, if any severance payment
is deemed to be an "excess parachute payment'hwithimeaning of Section 280G of the Internal Reestiode, an amount equal to any
excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the IatdRevenue Code. In addition, pursuant to his eympént agreement, any unvested options
shall immediately become fully vested and exerdesab of the effective date of such terminationesignation. If Mr. C.K. Hong's
employment is terminated due to death or disabitieyor his estate will receive a lump sum paynegpial to half his annual base salary and
any options held shall vest to the same extert@swould have vested one year thereafter. Additlgnin the event that Mr. C.K. Hong's
employment is terminated due to death or disabildythe extent that such amounts remain restri¢kedrestriction on 25% of the restricted
stock award will immediately lapse and no additloeatrictions shall lapse thereafter. If Mr. CHong resigns without good reason or is
terminated for cause, we will have no further odign to him other than to pay his base salaryugjinc¢he date of termination.

As compensation for Ms. Sasaki's serviceuassice president, chief financial officer andstary, she will receive an annualized base
salary of $200,000, effective June 1, 2010. Puchis date her annualized base salary was $170j088e event Ms. Sasaki's employment is
terminated due to death or disability, any optibaekl shall vest to the same extent as they would kiasted one year thereafter. Additionally,
in the event that Ms. Sasaki's employment is teseith due to death or disability, to the extent gugth amounts remain restricted, the
restriction on 25% of the restricted stock awartl wimediately lapse and no additional restrictiehsll lapse thereafter. Ms. Sasaki is eligible
for a target bonus of 75% of her base salary ifastiéeves certain specific objectives to be deteechby our Board of Directors.

Outstanding Equity Awards At Fiscal Year End

Option Awards Stock Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities Number of Market Value
Underlying Underlying Shares of of Shares of
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock That Stock That
Options—(#) Options—(#) Exercise Expiration Have Not Have Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Date Vested Vested
Chun Ki
Hong 500,00((1) —1)$ 7.0C 8/7/201¢
100,00((2) —(2) $ 1.67  9/17/201
117,50((3) 2,50((3) $ 2.2C 1/2/201¢
31,25((4) 18,75((4) $ 0.3%  6/10/201
56,25((5) 243,75(5) $ 2.21  3/17/202:
62,50((13)$ 156,87
Gail
Sasak 25,00((6) —(6) $ 2.5¢ 1/5/201¢
10,00((7) —(7)$ 7.0C  8/14/201t
25,00((8) —(8) $ 1.9¢ 9/4/201"
93,75((9) 6,25((9) $ 2.0% 1/4/201¢
10,62510) 6,25((10)6 0.2¢  11/20/201
31,25((11) 18,75((11)% 0.3=  6/10/201¢
14,06412) 60,93¢12)$ 2.21  3/17/202:
9,37514)$ 23,537

() Represents options granted under our Amended asichied 2000 Equity Incentive Plan in connectiorhwithieving
one-time performance incentives related to our ingiablic offering.
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@
@)

(4)

®)

(6)
@)
®)
©)

(10)

(11)

(12)

Represents options granted under our Amended astatied 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (2006 Plan) ipt&aber 2007.

Represents options granted under our 2006 Plaaminaly 2008. These options vest with respect to @b#te indicated
shares on the first anniversary of the grant deésuming continued employment with us, the rema@miptions will vest
evenly on a monthly basis so that all options dlentirely vested on the fourth anniversary ofgtent date. In the eve
Mr. C.K. Hong's employment with us is terminatedusywithout cause or by him with good reason, jpflans will
immediately vest. In the event Mr. C. K. Hong's émgment with us is terminated due to death or diggh25% of the
options (or such lesser amount as shall then beated) will immediately vest and no additional ops will vest
thereafter.

Represents options granted under our 2006 Plamia 4009. These options vest over sixteen equateglyainstallments
In the event Mr. C.K. Hong's employment with ugeisninated by us without cause or by him with gosakson, all
options will immediately vest. In the event Mr. Ci{ong's employment with us is terminated due tlder disability,
25% of the options (or such lesser amount as el be unvested) will immediately vest and no okl options will
vest thereafter.

Represents options granted under our 2006 PlaraiitiM2011. These options vest over sixteen equateply
installments. In the event Mr. C.K. Hong's employniith us is terminated by us without cause ohisy with good
reason, all options will immediately vest. In theest Mr. C.K. Hong's employment with us is termettue to death or
disability, 25% of the options (or such lesser ami@s shall then be unvested) will immediately st no additional
options will vest thereafter.

Represents options granted under our Amended astatied 2000 Equity Incentive Plan in January 2006.
Represents options granted under our Amended asighied 2000 Equity Incentive Plan in August 2006.
Represents options granted under our 2006 PlagpteSiber 2007.

Represents options granted under our 2006 Plaaninaly 2008. Assuming continued employment withthesse options
vest in equal quarterly installments over four gfanm the date of grant. In the event Ms. Sasakiiployment with us is
terminated due to death or disability, 25% of tp&ans (or such lesser amount as shall then bestedewill
immediately vest and no additional options will viereafter.

Represents options granted under our 2006 Plamieidber 2008. Assuming continued employment witlthese
options vest in equal quarterly installments owerfyears from the date of grant. In the event $&saki's employment
with us is terminated due to death or disabiliy9®0of the options (or such lesser amount as dhafi be unvested) will
immediately vest and no additional options will vikereafter.

Represents options granted under our 2006 Plamia 4009. These options vest over sixteen equateglyainstallments
In the event Ms. Sasaki's employment with us isiteated due to death or disability, 25% of the @i (or such lesser
amount as shall then be unvested) will immediatelst and no additional options will vest thereafter

Represents options granted under our 2006 PlaraiitiM2011. These options vest over sixteen equateply

installments. In the event Ms. Sasaki's employmétiit us is terminated due to death or disabiliy¥®@of the options (or
such lesser amount as shall then be unvestedinmilediately vest and no additional options will vsgereafter
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(13) Represents restricted stock awards granted und&0&6 Plan in April 2010. These awards vest imeggual semi-
annual installments through March 7, 2014. In thené Mr. C.K. Hong's employment with us is termethtiue to death
or disability, restriction on 25% of the restrictetck (or such lesser amount as to which resiristremain effective) wi
immediately lapse and no additional restriction lapse thereafter.

(14) Represents restricted stock awards granted und&0@6 Plan in April 2010. Restrictions on theseelg lapse in eight
equal semi-annual installments through March 74201 the event Ms. Sasaki's employment with ueri:iinated due to
death or disability, restriction on 25% of the rigs&éd stock (or such lesser amount as to whictricisens remain
effective) will immediately lapse and no addition@strictions will lapse thereafte

Compensation of Non-Employee Directors

Our non-employee directors receive annaaklcompensation of $30,000, which is paid in fuarterly installments, and compensation
of $1,000 for each regularly scheduled board mgetind each board committee meeting not held osahee day as a board meeting, that is
attended by the director. The chairperson of ouwlid@ommittee receives an additional $5,000 per.y&b of our directors, including our non-
employee directors, are reimbursed for their reablenout-of-pocket expenses incurred in attendwaydb and board committee meetings. Our
non-employee directors are also granted optiopsitohase 25,000 shares of our common stock upogirgpgent or initial election to the
Board of Directors, and prior to 2010, receivedantjof options to purchase 20,000 shares of oomoon stock on August 1st of each year in
which they continue to be a director. These opgjants are subject to vesting in equal installmem&s four years, contingent upon continued
service as a director on the vesting date, and hawexercise price equal to the fair market vafub® shares of common stock underlying the
option on the date of grant as determined in acourd with the terms of the 2006 Plan. In 2010 tbarB voted to grant each director 8,000
shares of restricted stock annually in lieu of opsi to purchase 20,000 shares of common stockreBiréctions lapse ratably on a semi-annual
basis over a period of four years. In February 2812 Board voted to reinstate the practice of ingreach director options to purchase 20,000
shares of common stock annually in lieu of restdcstock grants. The Board also voted to changarthaal grant date to February to more
closely align the timing of director equity compatien grants with the Company's employee equitypmmsation practices. The following ta
sets forth a summary of the compensation we paidit;mon-employee directors in our fiscal year 2011
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Director Compensation

Fees Earned Restricted

or Paid in Option Stock Awards
Name(1) Cash ($) Awards ($)(1) ($)(2) Total ($)
Richard Cha $ 43,000 $ — $ 12,08( $ 55,08
Nam Ki Hong(3) $ 1533 $ — $ — $ 15,33t
Thomas F. Lagatt $ 38,000 $ — 12,08C $ 50,08(
Claude M. Leglis¢ $ 8,17t $ 25410 $ — $ 33,58t
Alan H. Portnoy $ 38,000 $ — 12,08C $ 50,08(

(1) Represents the dollar value of the grant datevidire of fiscal 2011 awards, measured in accordastteAccounting
Standards Codification Topic 718. For a discussibtihe assumptions used to calculate the valugtiéro awards, refer
to Note 2 "Stock Based Compensation” of Notes tog0tidated Financial Statements included in Paritdém 15 of this
Report.

(2) Represents the dollar value of the restricted séovedrds calculated on the basis of the fair vafubeunderlying shares
of our Class A common stock on the respective gilates in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 arttiauit any
adjustment for estimated forfeitures. The actudleghat a director will realize on each RS awailtldepend on the pric
per share of our Class A common stock at the tinaees underlying the RSA's are sold. There carolessurance that
the actual value realized by a director will b@abhear the grant date fair value of the RS awarded

3) Mr. N.K. Hong ceased serving as a member of ourcbobfdirectors on June 10, 20:
Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficikOwners and Management and Related Stockholder M&trs

The following table sets forth informaticegarding the ownership of our common stock asetsirfrary 15, 2012 by (a) all persons known
by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our commnstock, (b) each of our directors and named ekexofficers, and (c) all of our directors
and executive officers as a group. We know of mea@gents among our stockholders which relate tmgatr investment power over our
common stock or any arrangement the operation aftwiay at a subsequent date result in a changerfol of us.

Beneficial ownership is determined in ademrce with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act ameigdly includes voting or investment
power over securities. Under this rule, a persate@mmed to be the beneficial owner of securitias¢hn be acquired by such person within
60 days of February 15, 2012 upon the exercis@tdms. Each beneficial owner's percentage owngiishietermined by assuming that all
options held by such person that are exercisalitémb0 days of February 15, 2012 have been exaicExcept in cases where community
property laws apply or as indicated in the

55




Table of Contents

footnotes to this table, we believe that each dtolder identified in the table possesses sole gatimd investment power over all shares of
common stock shown as beneficially owned by theldtolder.

Shares Beneficially

Owned

Name of Beneficial Owner(1): Number Percent
Directors and Executive Officers:

Chun Ki Hong(2) 6,083,69. 21.81%
Gail Sasaki(3 170,46¢ *
Thomas F. Lagatta( 83,49¢ *
Alan H. Portnoy(4 93,49¢ *
Richard J. Char (4 28,50( *
Claude M. Leglis¢ *

All executive officers and directors as a groupéssons 6,459,66! 22.9¢%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of eaettdir, executive officer and person beneficiallynawg more
than 5% of the outstanding shares of our commarksggoc/o Netlist Inc., 51 Discovery, Suite 15Gjite,
California 92618.

(2) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. GHidng includes 62,500 shares of restricted stoakadhe
forfeitable until vested (restrictions on the slsapérestricted stock lapse ratably on a semi-anpasis through
March 7, 2014), 829,375 shares of common stoclatdswpon the exercise of options that are orhellested
and immediately exercisable within 60 days of Fabyul5, 2012 and 5,191,818 shares of common stdakhich
2,700,000 shares are held by Mr. C.K. Hong asdgrusf the Hong-Cha Community Property Trust.

(3)  The number of shares beneficially owned by Ms. Hasmnsists of 9,375 shares of restricted stockdha
forfeitable until vested (restrictions on the slsapérestricted stock lapse ratably on a semi-anmasis through
March 7, 2014) and 161,094 shares of common s&stlable upon the exercise of options that are lbb&/iveste
and immediately exercisable within 60 days of Fabyl5, 2012.

(4)  The number of shares beneficially owned by eadh@indicated persons includes of shares of comstmrk
issuable upon the exercise of options that areilbbe/vested and immediately exercisable withindés of
February 15,2012, 2,000 shares of stock and 1408fes of restricted stock that are forfeitablél vested
(restrictions on the shares of restricted stocK persuant to awards made in 2010 and 2011 lapsielyaon a
sem-annual basis over a 48 month period through Semeg\2014 and September 8, 20:

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence
Policies and Procedures for Approval of Related Pa&y Transactions

Our Audit Committee has the responsibii@yeview with management and approve in advangdransactions or courses of dealing v
related parties. The Audit Committee intends torapp only those related party transactions thatansidered to be in the best interests of
Netlist and our stockholders. In considering whetbeapprove any transaction, the Audit Committeesiders such factors as it dee
appropriate, which may include: (i) the relatedtyarrelationship with the Company and intereghim transaction; (ii) the material facts of the
proposed transaction, including the proposed vafgeich transaction, or, in the case of indebtesirtee principal amount that would
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be involved; (iii) the benefits of the transacttorthe Company; (iv) an assessment of whether#imsaction is on terms that are comparable to
the terms available with an unrelated party; (vjhia case of an existing transaction, the imprabtlity or cost of securing alternative
arrangements; and (vi) such other factors as thiit&Aommittee deems relevant.

Related Person Transactions

Our Vice President of Business Operati®ask Ki Hong, is the brother of Chun Ki Hong, ouegident, chief executive officer and
chairman of the Board of Directors, and of Nam Kirid, one of our former directors. During fiscal y2811, Mr. P. K. Hong earned salary in
the amount of $145,000 and earned bonus in the mhod$61,750. In addition, Mr. P. K. Hong was gexhoptions to purchase 50,000 shares
of our common stock at an exercise price of $2&lspare. The grant date fair value recognizedffiorP. K. Hong's option award in our fiscal
2011 computed in accordance with Accounting Statsl@odification Topic 718 was $100,518. For a disaan of the assumptions used to
calculate the value of option awards, refer to Nbt&tock Based Compensation” of Notes to Constditi&inancial Statements included in
Part IV, Item 15 of this Report.

During fiscal year 2010, Mr. P. K. Hong med salary in the amount of $152,000 and earnezhashin the amount of $23,944. In additi
Mr. P.K. Hong was granted 15,000 shares of resttistock valued at $52,350, which represents thard@lue of the award calculated based
on the fair value underlying shares of our commoglson the grant date computed in accordance Adgttounting Standards Codification 718.

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors has determined #eath of our directors, other than Chun Ki Hong fmcher director Nam Ki Hong, qualify as
"independent” in accordance with the NASDAQ rulEse Board has determined that Chun Ki Hong is néépendent because he is an
executive officer of our company and Nam Ki Hongsvm®t independent because he is the brother of €hblong. In making these
determinations, the Board of Directors reviewed disdussed information provided by the directord amanagement with regard to each
director's business and personal activities as ey relate to our management.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The Audit Committee has selected KMJ Cohi@ompany LLP as our independent registered puddaounting firm with respect to our
financial statements for the fiscal years endingddeber 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011.

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accountj Firm

In connection with the audit of our condatied financial statements for fiscal year 2011 ewered into an agreement with KMJ Corbi
Company LLP which sets forth the terms by which K&arbin & Company LLP will perform audit services the company. The following
table
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presents the aggregate fees billed for the indicsgevices performed by KMJ Corbin & Company LLRidg fiscal years 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010

Audit Fees $ 160,60( $ 167,47:
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total Fees $ 160,60( $ 167,47

Audit Fees. Audit fees consist of the aggregate amoungee$filled to us for the fiscal years ended Decerdbe2011 and January 1,
2011 by KMJ Corbin & Company LLP, the company'seipendent registered public accounting firm, fordhdit of our annual consolidated
financial statements and the review of our quarteshsolidated financial statements. These feesiatduded the review of our registration
statements on Form S-3 and Form S-8 and certa@r athated matters such as the delivery of conétieers and consents in connection with
our registration statements.

KMJ Corbin & Company LLP did not bill anyn-audit related fees, tax fees or other fees ia fiscal years 2011 or 2010.
Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee's charter requires Audit Committee to pre-approve all audit and pesihie non-audit services to be performed
for the Company by our independent registered puwacounting firm, giving effect to the "de minimMiwxception for ratification of certain
non-audit services allowed by the applicable rolethe SEC, in order to assure that the provisiosugh services does not impair the auditor's
independence. Our Audit Committee pre-approvedaltices performed by KMJ Corbin & Company LLPistél year 2011 and concluded
that such services were compatible with the maariea of that firm's independence in the condudsdaiuditing functions.

58




Table of Contents

PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@ (1) Allfinancial statements filed as part of théport.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mahprehensive Los F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-6

(@ (2) Exhibits

3.1(1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netlistc.l

3.2(1) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, |
10.1(2)# Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plavedlist, Inc.
10.2(3) Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and dicgst

10.5(4)# Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 degtwWetlist, Inc. and Chun |
Hong.

10.45)# Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plavedlist, Inc.

10.5(6)# Form of Restricted Stock Award issued pursuanh&2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Netlist, Inc.

10.€(7)# Stock Option Agreement dated July 1, 2009 for gmito purchase 50,000 share!
the Registrant's common stock awarded to Paul D

10.7%(8)# Stock Option Agreement dated January 4, 2010 ftdoog to purchase 100,000 sha
of the Registrant's common stock awarded to Stes€livte.

10.£(9)# Stock Option Agreement dated June 8, 2010 for aptto purchase 30,000 share!
the Registrant's common stock awarded to Lisa Ri

10.¢(21)#Stock Option Agreement dated January 20, 2012gtows to purchase 150,000
shares of the Registrant's common stock award€etard Yeh

10.1((10) Lease (Multi-Tenant; Net), dated April 2, 200y and between The Irvine
Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability comparand Netlist, Inc., a Delaware
corporation.

10.13(11) Amendment to Lease, dated May 10, 2011, by anddstwhe Irvine Company LL(
a Delaware limited liability company, and Netlistc., a Delaware corporatio

10.1%(12) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Octobg@19, between Silicon Valle
Bank, a California corporation, and Netlist, IrSubordination Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 2009, between Silicon Valley Bank, &f@aia corporation, Netlist, Inc.,
and Netlist Technology Texas, L.P., a Texas limgadnership; Security Agreement
entered into as of October 31, 2009 between, Silicalley Bank and Netlist
Technology Texas LP, a Texas limited partnershig latellectual Property Security
Agreement entered into as of October 31, 2009 biybamtween Silicon Valley Bank
and Netlist, Inc
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10.15(13) Amendment to Loan Documents entered into adayth 24, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

10.1414) Amendment to Loan Documents entered into awupé 30, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

10.15(15) Amendment to Loan Documents entered into &eptember 30, 2010, by and
between Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, It

10.1¢(16) Amendment to Loan Documents entered into adayf 11, 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

10.1%(17) Amendment to Loan Documents entered into a&sugfust 10, 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

10.1¢(18)*Design and Production Agreement relating to Reg8&IC (the "Production Regist
Agreement"), dated July 31, 2008, by and betweetfigdnc. and Toshiba America
Electronic Components, Inc. ("Toshiba

10.1¢(18)* Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreenmdated May 22, 2009, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshitk

10.2((18)* Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreendated January 28, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

10.21(18)* Amendment #2 to the Production Register Agreendated March 10, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

10.2%(18)*Design and Production Agreement relating to ID A& "Production 1D
Agreement"), dated July 31, 2008, by and betwedtididnc. and Toshibe

10.25(18)* Amendment #1 to the Production ID Agreement, ddtatlary 28, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

10.2418)* Amendment #2 to the Production ID Agreement, dMedch 10, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshitk

10.25(19)*ASIC Design and Production Agreement, dated Augis010, between Opt
Silicon, Inc. and Netlist, Inc

10.2¢(20) Sales Agreement, dated November 21, 2011, betwedistNInc. and Ascendial
Capital Markets, LLC

21.1(21) Subsidiaries of Netlist, Int
23(21) Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LLI
24.1(21) Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this report

31.3(21) Certification of Chief Executive Officer of PeriadReport Pursuant to Rule -15(e)
or Rule 15~15(e).

31.2(21) Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Redic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e)
or Rule 15~15(e).

32(21) Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chighancial Officer of Periodic Repc
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13

101.INS(4) XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH4) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
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101.CAL(4) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr

101.LAB(4) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRI(4) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

101.DEK4) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunh

(1)

(@)

@)

(4)

(5)

(6)

)

(8)

©)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

Incorporated by reference to the correspondingl@xhumber of the registration statement on Fo-1 of the registrar
(No. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and Eatogpe Commission on October 23, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 of thgigiation statement on Form S-1 of the registtbiot 333136735) filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on lazst83, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidnt 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiomagust 18, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.13 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfldot 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorSeptember 27, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant fileith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thastgtion statement on Form S-8 of the registralut (333-161834) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onebeipér 10, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thesigtion statement on Form S-8 of the registraiat 333-164261) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onalgri, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.5 of thesigtion statement on Form S-8 of the registralat. 333-168330) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 2@/y2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 10.thefcurrent report on Form 8-K of the registraledfwith the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 6, 2007

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant fileith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10012, 10.3 and 10.4 of the current report on Foikh @ the registrant
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiofNovember 2, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant fileith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 16, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2(
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(17) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant fileith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 15, 2011.

(18) Incorporated by reference to exhibits 10.3 - 10.8he quarterly report on Form 10-Q/A of the regist filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 1, 2011

(19) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q/A of the registranédilwith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 24, 2011.

(20) Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 10.thefcurrent report on Form 8-K of the registraledfwith the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembe2@P1.

(21) Filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

* Confidential treatment has been granted or reqdesith respect to portions of this exhibit pursuemRule 24b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and these confidigmbrtions have been redacted from the filing thancorporated by

reference. A complete copy of this exhibit, inchglthe redacted terms, has been separately filddtihhé Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

(b) Exhibits
See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: February 28, 2012
NETLIST, INC.

By: /sl CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Boar:

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl CHUN K. HONG President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board (Principal February 28, 2012
Chun K. Hong Executive Officer,

Vice President and Chief Financial

s/ GAIL SASAKI Officer (Principal Financial Officer at

February 28, 2012

Gail Sasaki Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ RICHARD J. CHAR

Director February 28, 2012
Richard J. Cha
/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA
Director February 28, 2012
Thomas F. Lagatt
/s CLAUDE M. LEGLISE
Director February 28, 2012
Claude M. Leglist
/s/ ALAN H. PORTNOY
Director February 28, 2012

Alan H. Portnoy
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying cons@iibtlance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididites"Company"”) as of December 31, 2011
and January 1, 2011, and the related consolidééehsents of operations, stockholders' equity amiprehensive loss and cash flows for the
years then ended. These consolidated financia@mtaits are the responsibility of the Company's igamant. Our responsibility is to expre
an opinion on these consolidated financial statésleased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement. The Company is not reglio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thigpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefah audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeeresolidated financial statement presentatioe. Welieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as otBmber 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, and the ¢datal results of their operations and their
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformithh accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
February 28, 2012
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

December 31 January 1,

2011 2011
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 10,53t $ 14,21(
Investments in marketable securit 824
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $4
(2011) and $67 (201( 11,39¢ 6,451
Inventories 6,057 4,50¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 80¢€ 1,39¢
Total current asse 28,791 27,39(
Property and equipment, r 2,771 4,07
Long-term investments in marketable securi 444 89C
Other asset 161 337
Total asset $ 32,17 $ 32,69
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 6,15t $ 6,25¢
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 1,81: 1,762
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 46C 36¢
Accrued engineering charg 45C 63€
Current portion of lon-term debt 2,14¢ 674
Total current liabilities 11,02: 9,69¢
Long-term debt, net of current portic 1,11¢ 1,062
Other liabilities 94 85
Total liabilities 12,234 10,84%
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par valu&9;000 shares authorized; no sh
issued and outstandi — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value—90,000 shares an#tthr26,390
(2011) and 25,284 (2010) shares issued and outstp 26 25
Additional paic-in capital 92,70¢ 89,07
Accumulated defici (72,740 (67,14))
Accumulated other comprehensive i (56) (113)
Total stockholders' equit 19,93¢ 21,847
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 32,17: $ 32,69

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigstents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011

Net sales $ 60,72¢ $ 37,85:
Cost of sales(1 40,46¢ 27,91(
Gross profil 20,26 9,94t
Operating expense

Research and development 14,92¢ 14,76:

Selling, general and administrative 10,70¢ 11,04:

Total operating expens: 25,62¢ 25,80:

Operating los: (5,36¢) (15,859
Other (expense) incom

Interest expense, n (22¢) (42

Other (expense) income, r (56) 71

Total other (expense) income, | (284 29

Loss before income tax bene (5,657) (15,829
Income tax benef (53 (714)
Net loss $ (5,599 $ (15,119
Net loss per common sha

Basic and dilute $ 022 $ (0.69
Weighte-average common shares outstand

Basic and dilutes 25,08¢ 23,77¢
(1)  Amounts include stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Cost of sale: $ 79 $ 42

Research and developme 60C 357

Selling, general and administrati 941 1,08:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an€omprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Series A
Preferred
Stock Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

Balance
January 2,
2010 — — 20,111 $ 20 $ 71,332 $ (52,020 $ (57%$ 19,26¢
Stoclk-basec
compensatic — — 492 — 1,48: — — 1,482
Exercise of
stock option — — 84 — 81 — — 81
Repurchase o
common
stock — — (16) — (49 — — (49
Exercise of
warrants — — 18 — 23 — — 23
Issuance o
common
stock — — 4,59¢ 5 16,20¢ — — 16,21(
Components ¢
comprehens
loss:
Change in
net
unrealizec
loss on
investmen — — — — — — (59 (54)
Net loss — — — — — (15,119 — (15,119
Comprehensiv
loss — — — — — — — (15,169

Balance,
January 1,
2011 — — 25,28¢ 25 89,07« (67,147) (117) 21,84
Stoclk-basec
compensatic — — 11 — 1,62( — — 1,62(
Exercise of
stock option — — 43t — 203 — — 203
Repurchase o
common
stock — — (37 — (78) — — (78)
Issuance of
common
stock — — 697 1 1,89( — — 1,891
Components ¢
comprehens
loss:
Change ir
net
unrealizec
loss on
investmen — — — — — — 55 55
Net loss — — — — — (5,599 — (5,599
Comprehensiv
loss — — — — — — — (5,549

Balance,

December 31,
2011 — — 26,39($ 26 $92,70¢ $ (72,740 % (56)$ 19,93¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (5,599 $ (15,119
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,24% 2,28
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaseltsrisactior — (20¢)
Realized loss on sale of investments in marketsdarities 59 —
Provision for bad deb 35 35
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,62( 1,482
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (4,987%) (2,219
Inventories (1,54 (2,277)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 75¢ (542)
Other asset 12¢ (11¢)
Accounts payabl (102) 1,907
Accrued payroll and related liabilitit 51 56
Accured expenses and other current liabili 101 777
Accrued engineering charg (18¢) (23)
Net cash used in operating activit (7,429 (15,409
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme (744) (942)
Purchase of investments in marketable secul — (2,395
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsairketable
securities 1,26¢ 5,517
Net cash provided by investing activiti 52C 2,18(
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred 50C 4,00(
Payments on lines of cret (500 (4,000
Proceeds of bank term loi 2,93¢ 1,50(
Payments on del (1,729 (273)
Proceeds from public offering, n 1,891 16,21(
Proceeds from exercise of equity awards, net afgagmitted for
restricted stocl 12¢ 55
Net cash provided by financing activiti 3,22¢ 17,49
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (3,67%) 4,26¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 14,21( 9,94:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 10,53t $ 14,21(

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2011
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistiesigns and manufactures a wide variety of higfopmance, logic-based memory subsystems
for the global datacenter and high-performance adimg and communications markets. The Company'sengsubsystems consist of
combinations of dynamic random access memory iatedrcircuits ("DRAM ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash nmaory ("NAND"), application-
specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") and othenmgmnents assembled on printed circuit boards ("PCBtlist primarily markets and sells
products to leading original equipment manufact(f®EM") customers. The Company's solutions argdged at applications where memory
plays a key role in meeting system performanceirements. The Company leverages a portfolio of petg@ry technologies and design
techniques, including efficient planar design, rali&ive packaging techniques and custom semicoadladic, to deliver memory subsystems
with high memory density, small form factor, highrel integrity, attractive thermal characteristiegduced power consumption and low cost
per bit.

Netlist was incorporated in June 2000 anlgeadquartered in Irvine, California. In 2007, @@mpany established a manufacturing facility
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), mHiecame operational in July 2007 upon the suaglegsélification of certain key
customers.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiakestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S.").

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consaialat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates undéf bs3-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closeBetcember 31. The 2011 and 2010 fiscal years
ended on December 31, 2011 and January 1, 20hkatdsely. Fiscal years 2011 and 2010 each combsité2 weeks.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2010 consolidatedrcial statements have been reclassified to conforthe current year presentation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discséicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements,thadeported amounts of net sales and expensegydug reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject ttharent degree of uncertainty.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

Significant estimates made by management includeng others, provisions for uncollectible receieastdnd sales returns, warranty liabilities,
valuation of inventories, fair value of financiakiruments, impairment of long-lived assets, stoaked compensation expense and realization
of deferred tax assets. The Company bases itsastnon historical experience, knowledge of curcenditions and our belief of what could
occur in the future considering available inforroatiThe Company reviews its estimates on an onggoasis. The actual results experienced
by the Company may differ materially and adversedyn its estimates. To the extent there are mdtdifferences between the estimates and
the actual results, future results of operatiorkhvei affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofluct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers
("OEMSs"). Revenues also include sales of excesanitories to distributors and other users of menmaggrated circuits ("ICs"), totaling less
than 1% of net revenues in 2011 and 2010.

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Financial Accounting Standards BoaFASB") Accounting Standards
Cadification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingly, the @gpany recognizes revenues when there is persuagidence that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdhes price is fixed or determinable, and colléldiyof the resulting receivable is reasone
assured.

The Company generally uses customer puecbiaters and/or contracts as evidence of an amaefe Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with shipping point terms apdn receipt for customers with destination teratsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents aed tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. Chmpany assesses whether the sales
price is fixed or determinable based on the payrteants associated with the transaction and whefigesales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsettirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of excesgponent inventories, which contain no
right-of-return privileges. Estimated returns arevided for at the time of sale based on historggderience or specific identification of an
event necessitating a reserve. The Company offstanalard product warranty to our customers anchbaher posshipment obligations. Tt
Company assesses collectibility based on the evediiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as revenubagewll costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost @&fssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cadlslaort-term investments with original maturittégshree months or less, other than short-term
investments in securities that lack an active ntarke

Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaanketable securities in accordance with ASC T8gi@. The Company determines the
appropriate classification of its investments attilme of
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purchase and reevaluates such designation at etantick sheet date. The Company's investments iketadte securities have been classified
and accounted for as available-for-sale based gragement's investment intentions relating to tisesarities. Available-fosale securities al
stated at fair value, generally based on marketegito the extent they are available. Unrealizidgjand losses, net of applicable deferred
taxes, are recorded as a component of other compsale income (loss). Realized gains and losseslaclthes in value judged to be other t
temporary are determined based on the specifidiféetion method and are reported in other incore,in the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company generally invests its excesh @adomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry fedeegosit insurance, mon
market funds and highly liquid debt instrumentdJo$. municipalities, corporations and the U.S. goweent and its agencies. All highly liquid
investments with stated maturities of three monthgss from the date of purchase are classifiathsls equivalents; all investments with sti
maturities of greater than three months are class#s investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments coristcipally of cash and cash equivalents, investi:ien marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensedednmdnstruments. Other than for certain investsi@nauction rate securities and short-term
corporate bonds (see Note 4), the fair value ofdbmpany's cash equivalents and investments inatesle securities is determined based on
guoted prices in active markets for identical esset_evel 1 inputs. Because of their short-terturea short-term corporate bonds are not
frequently traded. Although there are observablategifor these securities, the markets are nofaderes active. Accordingly, the fair values
these investments are based on Level 2 inputsCbingpany recognizes transfers between Levels 1 ghr8wf the fair value hierarchy at the
beginning of the reporting period. The Companyéyads that the carrying values of all other finahicistruments approximate their current 1
values due to their nature and respective durations

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectibilityaotounts receivable based on a combination ofifacin cases where the Company is awa
circumstances that may impair a specific custonadility to meet its financial obligations subsequ the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelbice the net recognized receivable to the afrtberCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Compangrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedaiiynon the length of time the
receivables are past due based on the terms ofigieating transaction, the current business emvirent and its historical experience.
Uncollectible accounts are charged against thevalhae for doubtful accounts when all cost effectiwenmercial means of collection have
been exhausted.
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflirrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.

The Company invests its cash equivaleritegily in money market mutual funds. Cash equintdeare maintained with high quality
institutions, the composition and maturities of @rhare regularly monitored by management. The Compad $0.5 million of FDIC insured
cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 201dstiments in marketable securities are generalygh-credit quality debt instruments. St
investments are made only in instruments issuethbanced by highality institutions. The Company has not realiaeg credit losses relat
to these investments.

The Company's trade accounts receivablerarearily derived from sales to OEMs in the congatihdustry (see Note 12). The Company
performs credit evaluations of its customers' faiahcondition and limits the amount of credit exded when deemed necessary, but generally
requires no collateral. Credit quality is monitoi®devaluation of credit scores and collectiondrist The Company believes that the
concentration of credit risk in its trade receisbis moderated by its credit evaluation procedatively short collection terms, the high level
of credit worthiness of its customers, foreign dr@tsurance and letters of credit issued on then@any's behalf. Reserves are maintained for
potential credit losses, and such losses histdyibalve not been significant and have been withimagement's expectations. Potential credit
losses are limited to the gross value of accowtsivable.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of abtwst to purchase or manufacture the inventoth@net realizable value of the inventory. Cost
is determined on an average cost basis which appabes actual cost on a first-in, first-out basigl éncludes raw materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead. At each balance sheet &€ ompany evaluates its ending inventory quastdn hand and on order and records a
provision for excess quantities and obsolescenoemy other factors, the Company considers histodieaand and forecasted demand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivenafsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles when determining
obsolescence and net realizable value. In addititnCompany considers changes in the market wdloemponents in determining the net
realizable value of its inventory. Provisions arad®a to reduce excess or obsolete inventories togbiimated net realizable values. Once
established, write-downs are considered permargastments to the cost basis of the excess or etesimiventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atarubtdepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvementsegorded at cost and amortized on a straightHasis over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives or the remaining lease term.

F-10




NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitthefcarrying value of long-lived assets held aselduby the Company for impairment on at
least an annual basis or whenever events or chamgeésumstances indicate that their carrying eatuay not be recoverable. When such
factors and circumstances exist, the Company caespiae projected undiscounted future net cash famssciated with the related asset or
group of assets over their estimated useful liggsrest their respective carrying amount. If theryiag value is determined not to be
recoverable from future operating cash flows, tbgetis deemed impaired and an impairment logc@gnized to the extent the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value of the assetfaihealue of the asset or asset group is basedarket value when available, or when
unavailable, on discounted expected cash flows.Adrapany's management believes there is no impatrafdong-lived assets as of
December 31, 2011. There can be no assurance, koweat market conditions will not change or dedhtor the Company's products will
continue, which could result in future impairmehtang-lived assets.

Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties galheranging from one to three years, dependingherproduct and negotiated terms of any
purchase agreements with customers. Such warraatjege the Company to repair or replace defeqiregluct returned to the Company
during such warranty period at no cost to the gusto Warranties are not offered on sales of excesgonent inventory. The Company
records an estimate for warranty-related costseatime of sale based on its historical and esgmhatoduct return rates and expected repair or
replacement costs (see Note 3). Such costs hategibddly been within management's expectationsthegrovisions established.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuanze®h-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 50btransactions in which goods or
services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for baedtie fair value of the consideration
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable. mbasurement date used to determine the
fair value of the equity instrument issued is thdier of the date on which the third-party perfamoe is complete or the date on which it is
probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expeitest, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredtwestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Comypmestimated average forfeiture rates are baséustorical forfeiture experience and
estimated future forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveat@ employees and directors is calculated usiadthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expttime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free
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interest rate and expected dividends, all of wiaiffact the estimated fair values of the Compangfaraon stock option awards. The expected
term of options granted is calculated as the aweddghe weighted vesting period and the contrdebgairation date of the option. This
calculation is based on the safe harbor method itedhby the SEC in instances where the vestingexedcise terms of options granted meet
certain conditions and where limited historical rexge data is available. The expected volatilithased on the historical volatility of the
Company's common stock. The risk-free rate seldct@dlue any particular grant is based on the Dr8asury rate that corresponds to the
expected term of the grant effective as of the datbe grant. The expected dividend assumptidraged on the Company's history and
management's expectation regarding dividend pay@ampensation expense for common stock optiondswaith graded vesting schedule
recognized on a straight-line basis over the réguéervice period for the last separately vestiagion of the award, provided that the
accumulated cost recognized as of any date atégasts the value of the vested portion of the dwar

The Company recognizes the fair value sfrieted stock awards issued to employees anddsutiiectors as stock-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the vestmipg for the last separately vesting portion &f #lwards. Fair value is determined as the
difference between the closing price of our commsimrtk on the grant date and the purchase prideeofestricted stock award, if any, reduced
by expected forfeitures.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeézed to reflect the estimated future tax effecadculated at currently effective tax rates, of
future deductible or taxable amounts attributableuvents that have been recognized on a cumubadisis in the consolidated financial
statements. A valuation allowance related to aleédrred tax asset is recorded when it is moréylit&n not that some portion of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghodd and measurement requirement for the finastiément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takerntanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgitaon. Under ASC Topic 740 the Company may onbjognize or continue to recognize tax
positions that meet a "more likely than not" thiddh

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxgenesed in the period incurred.
Collaborative Agreements

In 2011, the Company entered into two mgntechnology Collaboration Agreements. The firsteggnent is a HyperCloud™ Technology
Collaboration Agreement (the "IBM Agreement") witlternational Business Machines ("IBM"). Under tB& Agreement, IBM and the
Company have agreed to cooperate with respecetquhlification of HyperCloud™ technology for usg#hnBM servers and to engage in
certain joint marketing efforts if qualification &hieved. IBM and the
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Company have agreed to commit resources and fanslgoiport of these activities. The IBM Agreementids-exclusive.

The second agreement is a Collaboratioredmient (the "HP Agreement”) with Hewlett-Packardn@any ("HP"). Under the HP
Agreement, HP and the Company have agreed to catepeith respect to the qualification of HyperCl®dechnology for use with HP
servers and to engage in certain joint marketifigresfif qualification is achieved. HP and the Camp have agreed to commit resources and
funds in support of these activities. The HP Agrertis exclusive for a period of time. HP and tlmmPany agree to collaborate on the future
use of HyperCloud™ load reduction and rank multgtion technologies for next generation server nrgrfar HP.

In 2011, the Company reimbursed IBM and$8F2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, fortlzost of certain qualification activities.
The payments are included in research and develapaxpense in the accompanying consolidated staieofi®@perations. The Company may
be required to make additional payments to both B HP for joint marketing activities if and whire HyperCloud™ technology is
qualified. The Company's net sales will be deteediafter deduction of such customer allowanceacaordance with ASC 605-50.

There can be no assurance that the efiadsrtaken under either of the IBM or HP collabioraagreements will result in any new
revenues for the Company.

Through 2011, the Company maintained aaboltative arrangement with a partner in order el products using certain of the
Company's proprietary technology. Under the arraregd, the development partner was granted aexatusive license to specified intellect
property for exclusive use in the development amdipction of ASIC chipsets for the Company. Both @ompany and the development
partner provided engineering project managemenuress at their own expense. The development pasag entitled to non-recurring
engineering fees based upon the achievement ofaeuent milestones, and to a minimum portion of@mempany's purchasing allocations
the component. Expenses incurred and paid to thela@ment partner, which were insignificant in 2GIfd amounted to $0.3 million in 2010,
are included in research and development expenbe iaccompanying consolidated statements of dpasatAs of December 31, 2011, the
operational and financial obligations under theeagrent have been fulfilled.

Comprehensive Loss

ASC Topic 220 establishes standards foontey and displaying comprehensive income (lossl) iss components in the consolidated
financial statements. Accumulated other comprelvenisiss includes unrealized gains or losses orsinvents.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company has invested and expects tiinc@nto invest a significant portion of its resgraand development budget into the design of
ASIC devices, including the HyperCloud™ memory sgbsm. This new design and the products it is iporated into are subject to increased
risks as compared to the Company's existing pradiitte Company may be unable to achieve customeadtet acceptance of the
HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or other new prodoctachieve such acceptance in a timely mannerCidmpany has experienced a
longer qualification cycle than

F-13




NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

anticipated with its HyperCloud™ memory subsysteams] as of December 31, 2011 the product has metrgeed significant revenue relative
to the Company's investment in the product. The gy has entered into collaborative agreementshath HP and IBM pursuant to which
these OEMs have agreed to cooperate with the Coyripafforts to qualify HyperCloud™ for use in thegspective products. If qualification
is achieved by one or both of these OEMs, the fyiradf OEM will engage with the Company in joint rkating and further product
development efforts. The Company and each of thel©Rave committed financial and other resourcesitdwhe collaboration. There can be
no assurance that the efforts undertaken pursaaaititer of the collaborative agreements will regubny new revenues for the Company.
Further delays or any failure in placing or quatify this product with HP, IBM or other potentialstamers would adversely impact the
Company's results of operations.

The Company's operations in the PRC argesutn various political, geographical and econonigks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in the PRC. These includeatsuhot limited to, (i) potential changes in ecoimaoonditions in the region, (i) managing a
local workforce that may subject the Company toeutainties or certain regulatory policies, (iiijastges in other policies of the Chinese
governmental and regulatory agencies, and (iv) ghain the laws and policies of the U.S. governmegsrding the conduct of business in
foreign countries, generally, or in the PRC, intjgatar. Additionally, the Chinese government coigrthe procedures by which its local
currency, the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), is convdiiteto other currencies and by which dividends bayleclared or capital distributed for
the purpose of repatriation of earnings and invests If restrictions in the conversion of RMB prthe repatriation of earnings and
investments through dividend and capital distritmitiestrictions are instituted, the Company's dp®ra and operating results may be
negatively impacted. Restricted net assets of vosidiary in the PRC totaled $0.6 million and $&illion at December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011, respectively.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyteign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currefiogncial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab@bialance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigsband the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoelpexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usistgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gagslosses are included in determining net
loss. Transaction gains and losses were not sigmifiin 2011 and 2010.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculatedibigidg net loss by the weighted-average commomeshautstanding during the year, excluding
unvested shares issued pursuant to restricted atvaels under the Company's share-based compenpits. Diluted net loss per share is
calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighdedrage shares and dilutive potential common shawtstanding during the year. Dilutive
potential shares consist of dilutive shares issuapbn the exercise or vesting of outstanding stmtions and restricted stock awards,
respectively, computed using the treasury stock
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method. In periods of losses, basic and diluted pes share are the same, as the effect of stdmnemnd unvested restricted share awards on
loss per share is anti-dilutive.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accountingnitrds Update ("ASU") No. 2011-4, Fair Value Measuent ("ASU 11-4"). ASU 11-4
amends existing guidance to achieve convergenseasurement and disclosure between U.S. Generallgpded Accounting Standards
("GAAP") and International Financial Reporting Sdands ("IFRS"). ASU 11-4 is effective for fiscalaye2012. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that ASU 11-4 will have andbnsolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2B1Comprehensive Income ("ASU 11-5"). ASU 11-5 adseexisting guidance to increase
the prominence of items reported in other comprsiverincome and to facilitate convergence of U.8AB and IFRS. ASU 11-5 is effective
for fiscal year 2012. The Company is currently eatihg the impact that ASU 11-4 will have on itmsolidated financial statements.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

December 31, January 1,

2011 2011
Raw material $ 431z $ 2,631
Work in proces! 237 171
Finished good 1,50¢ 1,70

$ 6,057 $ 4,50¢
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foihg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated
Useful December 31, January 1,
Lives 2011 2011
Machinery and equipme! 3-7yrs. $ 8,13C $ 7,59
Leasehold improvemen * 1,817 1,79t
Furniture and fixture 5yrs. 457 457
Computer equipment and softw: 3-7yrs. 3,36t 3,09¢

13,76¢ 12,94¢

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (20,999 (8,869
$ 2,771 $ 4,077

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, orrmmaining lease term, whichever is shor

Included in property and equipment are tasseder capital leases with a cost of approxirga#8l5 million and $0.6 million and
accumulated amortization of approximately $0.1igrilland $0.1 million at December 31, 2011 and Jgnlia2011, respectively. Amortizatit
of assets recorded under capital leases is incladedcomponent of depreciation and amortizatipeese.

Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011

Beginning balanc $ 194 $ 24(
Estimated cost of warranty claims charged to cb

sales 34z 271
Cost of actual warranty clain (347) (317)
Ending balanc $ 18¢ $ 194
Less current portio (94) (109)
Long-term warranty obligation $ 95 $ 85

The allowance for warranty liabilities exped to be incurred within one year is includeé @®mponent of accrued expenses and other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidbbalance sheets. The allowance for warranty liggslexpected to be incurred after one year
is included as a component of other liabilitieshia accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Facility Relocation Costs

In accordance with ASC Topic 420, the Conypieecorded accruals related to the 2007 sublis édrmer domestic headquarters facility
and the 2009 sublet of a portion of its currentdogarters facility. The master lease on the forfaeitity and both subleases reached the
conclusion of their terms in 2010. The Company eheirged that its estimates regarding the net paysnéumée under the subleases exceeded its
actual liability. As a result, the Company reverapgroximately $61,000 of its accrual for facilislocation costs. The reversal of the accru
included as a component of selling, general andm@dtrative expense in the accompanying consolatlatatement of operations for 2010.

The following table summarizes the activtyd liability balance related to the facility redgion costs (in thousands):

Liability balance, January 2, 20: $ 84
Charged to costs and expen (62)
Net payment: (23
Liability balance, January 1, 20: $ —
Comprehensive Loss
The components of comprehensive loss, fietxes, consist of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011

Net loss $ (5,599 $ (15,119
Other comprehensive los
Change in net unrealized loss on investm

Unrealized loss transferred from other

comprehensive loss to earnir 59 —

Net unrealized loss on investments, net of (@) (54)

Total comprehensive lo: $ (5,549 $ (15,169

Accumulated other comprehensive loss redbon the consolidated balance sheets at Dece3ib@011 and January 1, 2011 represents
accumulated net unrealized losses on investmemsiketable securities.

F-17




NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)

Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compigtatof basic and diluted net loss per share, iriothe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdeti net loss per share (in thousands, excepghzee data):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
Basic and diluted net loss per share

Numerator: Net los $ (5,599 $ (15,119
Denominator: Weighte-average common shar

outstanding, basic and dilut 25,08¢ 23,77¢
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ 022 $ (0.69

The following table sets forth potentiadlijutive common share equivalents, consisting @frel issuable upon the exercise or vesting of
outstanding stock options and restricted stock dsyaespectively, and the exercise of warrants puted using the treasury stock method.
These potential common shares have been excludetdtfre diluted net loss per share calculations alaevtheir effect would be anti-dilutive

for the years then ended (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 January 2,
2011 2011
Common share equivaler 1,45k 1,94¢

The above common share equivalents woulé baen included in the calculation of diluted @zge per share had the Company reported
net income for the years then ended.
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Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemenliatlosures of cash flow information and non-casiesting and financing activities (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid (received) during the year -
Interest $ 227 $ 96
Income taxe: $ 4 % (715)
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anc
financing acitivies
Purchase of equipment through capitalized I¢
obligations $ 117 % 351
Debt financed acquisition of ass $ 16 $ 19¢
Purchase of equipment not paid for at the endel
year $ 23 29z
Unrealized losses from investments in marketab
securities $ 4 3 54

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

The following tables detail the fair valoeeasurements within the fair value hierarchy ofGleenpany's investments in marketable
securities (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Usii
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func  $ 5,60C $ 5,600 $ — $ —
Auction and variable floating
rate note: 444 — — 444
Total $ 6,04¢ % 560C $ — 3 444
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Fair Value Measurements at January 1, 2011 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 1, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func $  12,65¢ $ 12,65 $ — $ —
Corporate notes and bon 824 — 824 —
Auction and variable floatin
rate note 89C — — 89C
Total $ 14,36¢ $ 12,65¢ % 824 $ 89C

The following tables summarize the Compaagsets measured at fair value on a recurring bagiresented in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2@LJasuary 1, 2011:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 5,60C $ 5,60C $ — $ —
Long-term marketable securiti 444 — — 444
Total assets measured at fa
value $ 6,04¢ $ 5,60C $ — $ 444
Fair Value Measurements at January 1, 2011 Usin
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 1, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 12,65¢ $ 12,65 $ — $ —
Shor-term marketable securiti 824 — 824 —
Long-term marketable securitis 89C — — 89C
Total assets measured at fai
value $ 14,36¢ $ 12,65¢ % 824 $ 89C

Fair value measurements using Level 3 sputhe table above relate to the Company's invessts in auction rate securities. The
disruptions in the credit market continue to adebraffect the liquidity and overall market for &ioo rate securities. The Company has
estimated the fair value of these investments uaidigcounted cash flow model which included asdigng about the credit quality and
expected duration of the investments, along wiitalint rates affected for the general lack of dgui These assumptions reflect the
Company's estimates about the reasonable assumptiarket participants would likely use in valuihg investments, including assumptions
about risk, developed based on the best informati@ilable in the circumstances.
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The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the i2om's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011

Beginning balanc $ 89C $ 941
Sales of availab-for-sale marketable securiti (447 —
Realized loss included in other income (expensst) (59) —
Unrealized loss transferred from other comprehens

loss to earning 59 —
Unrealized loss included in accumulated of

comprehensive los 4 (50)
Accrued interes Q) (€8]
Ending balanci $ 444 $ 89C

Note 5—Investments in Marketable Securities
Investments in marketable securities comdithe following at December 31, 2011 and Jandar3011 (in thousands):

December 31, 2011
Net

Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Auction and variable floating rate nof $ 50C $ (56) $ 444

January 1, 2011

Net
Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Corporate notes and bon $ 824 $ — $ 824
Auction and variable floating rate not 1,001 (111) 89C

$ 1,828 $§  (111) $ 1,71«

Realized gains and losses on the saleveSiments in marketable securities are determisgdyuhe specific identification method. Other
than the sale of one of the Company's auctionseterities, described below, there were no salavaifable-for-sale securities prior to
maturity in 2011 or 2010.

F-21




NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 5—Investments in Marketable Securities (Contined)

The following table provides the breakdosfrinvestments in marketable securities with urizedl losses at December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011 (in thousands):

December 31, 201.
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 months
12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Auction and variable floating rate not $ — $ — $ 444 % (56)

January 1, 2011
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 months
12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Auction and variable floating rate not $ — $ — $ 89C % (11))

As of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 20E1Company held one and two investments, reispdctthat were in an unrealized loss
position. Excluding its auction rate securitiegrthwere no gross unrealized gains or losses omainketable securities held at January 1, 2

The following tables present the amortizedt and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available-
for-sale at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 29 tbitractual maturity (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Greater than two year: $ 50C $ 444
January 1, 2011
Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one ye: $ 824 $ 824
Greater than two year: 1,001 89C
$ 1,82 $ 1,71
* Comprised of auction rate securities which gengtadve interest rate reset dates of 90 days oblgsinal

contractual maturity dates in excess of 15 ye
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Auction Rate Securities

Disruptions in the credit market continaeatlversely affect the liquidity and overall marfatauction rate securities. As of December 31,
2011, the Company held one investment in a Ba&t rafiction rate debt securities of a municipaliihwa total purchase cost of $0.5 million.
An additional A3 rated debt obligation backed bylgmf student loans guaranteed by the U.S. Depauttiof Education with a total purchase
cost of $0.5 million was owned at January 1, 2@tH disposed of in June 2011 for a realized lo§56f000.

The Company does not believe that the atileguidity of its remaining investment in aucti rate securities will materially impact its
ability to fund its working capital needs, capiadpenditures or other business requirements. Tinep@oy, however, remains uncertain as to
when full liquidity will return to the auction ratearkets, whether other secondary markets will imecavailable or when the underlying
security may be called by the issuer. Given theskather uncertainties, the Company's investmendsiction rate securities have been
classified as long-term in the accompanying codstdid balance sheets. The Company has concludethéhestimated gross unrealized losses
on these investments, which totaled approximats8,@0 and $111,000 at December 31, 2011 and Jahpad11, respectively, are
temporary because (i) the Company believes thdtghiglity limitations that have occurred are doegeneral market conditions, (ii) the
remaining auction rate security continues to ba bigh credit quality and interest is paid as due @i) the Company has the intent and ability
to hold this investment until a recovery in the kedroccurs.

Note 6—Credit Agreement

On October 31, 2009, the Company enteredadrcredit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, @ahivas amended on March 24, 2010,
June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010, May 11, 201RAagdst 10, 2011 (the "Credit Agreement"). Curngnthe Credit Agreement provides for
a line of credit pursuant to which the Company lbarrow up to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible agots receivable, or (i) $10.0 million. The
Company has the option to increase credit avaitphd $15.0 million at any time through the maturiate of September 30, 2013, subject to
the conditions of the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains an overdilisuit of $10.0 million to collateralize the Compgs contingent obligations under letters of
credit, foreign exchange contracts and cash manageservices. Amounts outstanding under the oveudllimit reduce the amount available
pursuant to the Credit Agreement. At December 8112letters of credit in the amount of $2.0 miiliwith expiration dates through
October 31, 2012 were outstanding.

Interest on the line of credit providedthg Credit Agreement is payable monthly at eitijgorime (4.00% at December 31, 2011) plus
1.25%, as long as the Company maintains $8.5 miliiarevolving credit availability plus unrestridteash on deposit with the bank, or
(i) prime plus 2.25%. Additionally, the Credit Aggment requires payments for an unused line, dsawahniversary and early termination
fees, as applicable.
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Note 6—Credit Agreement (Continued)

The following table presents details oEneist expense related to borrowings on the linesedfit, along with certain other applicable
information (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011

Interest expens $ 35 $ 39

December 31, January 1,

2011 2011

Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 7,791 $ 5,10C

Outstanding borrowings on the revolving line ofditt — —

Amounts reserved under credit sublin (2,022 (2,900
Unutilized borrowing availability under the revahg

line of credit $ 577t $ 2,20(

In connection with the September 30, 20b@rdment to the Credit Agreement, Silicon ValleypBaxtended a $1.5 million term loan
under the Credit Agreement, which bears intereatrate of prime plus 2.00% (“Term Loan I"). Then@any is required to make monthly
principal payments of $41,666 of over the 36 mdatm of the loan, or $0.5 million annually. Termdrol matures in September 2013. In May
2011, Silicon Valley Bank extended an additional0$3illion term loan (“Term Loan II"), and extendtgk term of the existing credit facility
through September 2013. The Term Loan Il bearsastet a rate of prime plus 2.75%, and is payabégjual installments of $125,000 over
the 24 month term of the loan, or $1.5 million aalhy Term Loan Il matures in May 2013.

The term loans are classified in long-teleht in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet

All obligations under the Credit Agreeman secured by a first priority lien on the Compangngible and intangible assets. The Credit
Agreement subjects the Company to certain affireatind negative covenants, including financial oaves with respect to the Company's
liquidity and tangible net worth and restrictionsthe payment of dividends. As of December 31, 28dd Company was in compliance with
its financial covenants.
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Note 7—Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following {housands):

December 31, January 1,

2011 2011

Obligations under capital leases (see Not $ 30C $ 362
Term Loan | (see Note | 87t 1,37¢
Term Loan I, net of issuance cost of $38 (see ) 2,081 —
3,26: 1,737

Less current portio (2,149 (674

$ 1,11¢ $ 1,068

The Company has purchased manufacturingamgputer equipment through the use of varioustablgiases that mature at various dates
through October 2013 (see Note 9). The interestrah these leases vary between 6.0% and 6.8%.

As of December 31, 2011, maturities of ktegn debt were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2012 $ 2,182
2013 1,11¢
Total payments on loi-term deb! 3,30(
Debt discoun (38)
Long-term debt $ 3,262

Interest expense related to the Compaag®-term debt is presented in the following talettijousands):

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011

Interest expens $ 202 $ 56
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagymounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢arpurposes. Significant components of the Com'saisferred tax assets and liabilities
are as follows (in thousands):

December 31 January 1,

2011 2011
Deferred tax asset
Reserves and allowanc $ 1,99t $ 1,84«
State taxes, net of federal income tax bet — 1
Depreciation and amortizatic 682 37k
Other accrual 331 31¢
Compensatory stock options and rig 2,15( 1,94¢
Other 25 48
Tax credit carryforward 1,94¢ 1,29¢
Operating loss carryforwal 12,30¢ 11,51
Foreign operating loss carryforwe 1,031 87¢
Total deferred tax asse 20,46¢ 18,22(
Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid expense (299 (203)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (199 (209)
Subtotal 20,27( 18,017
Valuation allowanct (20,270 (18,017
$ — $ —

The Company evaluates whether a valuaflomance should be established against its defdemedssets based on the consideration
available evidence using a "more likely than nédthglard. In making such judgments, significant Weig given to evidence that can be
objectively verified. As of December 31, 2011 aaduary 1, 2011, a valuation allowance of $20.3iamland $18.0 million, respectively, has
been provided based on the Company's assessmeittishaore likely than not, that sufficient taxatincome will not be generated to realize
the tax benefits of the temporary differences. Fdleation allowance increased by approximately $&ilBon and $5.9 million during the yes
ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, tesgbecprimarily related to the increase in the aperating loss carryforward.

At December 31, 2011, the Company has appetely $32.3 million of federal net operatingddSNOL") carryforwards which begin to
expire in year 2029, and approximately $24.2 millas state net operating loss carryforwards whiedii to expire in year 2017, and Federal
and state tax credit carryforwards of approxima$ély® million and $1.0 million, respectively at @acber 31, 2011. Federal tax credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and statectaxlits carry forward indefinitely. In additiotnet Company has approximately $7.6 million
of operating loss carryforwards in the PRC thatilég expire in 2012.
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The deferred tax asset at December 31, 804 not include approximately $1.4 million andé®hillion of excess tax benefits from
employee stock option exercises that are a compaiehe federal and state net operating loss oaas; respectively. The Company's
stockholders' equity balance will be increased when such excess tax benefits are ultimatelizezh

For financial reporting purposes, loss befeenefit of income taxes includes the followimgnponents (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
United State: $ (4,200 $ (13,82)
Foreign (1,445 (2,002

$ (5,659 $ (15,829

The Company's income tax benefit consisthefollowing (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
Current:
Federa $ (55 $ (72€)
State 2 14
Total curren (53 (714)
Deferred:
Federa (1,516 (4,209
State (582 (8949)
Foreign (157 (801)
Change in valuation allowan: 2,25¢ 5,90¢
Total deferrec — —
Income tax benef $ 53 $ (714

During 2010, the Company carried back apipnately $1.7 million of gross net operating lossesler the Worker, Homeownership, and
Business Act and received a federal income taxacef approximately $0.7 million. During 2011, tBempany reduced its unrecognized tax
benefits by approximately $0.1 million as a resdila lapse in a federal statute of limitations.
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Note 8—Income Taxes (Continued)

A reconciliation of income taxes computgdalpplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to the
income tax benefit is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
U.S. federal statutory te 35% 35%
Valuation allowanct (25) (26)
Loss from foreign subsidiai 9 4
Effective income tax benefit ra 1% 5%

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the Company's unrecognized tax beng@iithousands):

Balance at January 2, 20 $ 77
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute lorhitations
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogditax benefit

Balance at January 1, 20 77
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute lorhitations (55)
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogditax benefit —

Balance at December 31, 20

22

©

Unrecognized tax benefits of tax positiaghsgecognized, would affect the Company's anndi@ctive tax rate.

The Company recognizes accrued interespandlties related to unrecognized tax benefits @mponent of tax expense. Interest and
penalty accruals were insignificant at Decembeadd January 1, 2011.

The Company files tax returns with fedes#te and foreign jurisdictions. The Company idamger subject to IRS or state examinations
for periods prior to 2007 although certain carryfard attributes that were generated prior to 208y still be adjusted by the IRS.

Tax Holidays
In 2008, the Company began operating utadeholidays in the PRC, which are effective framnuary 2008 through December 2012.
Since the Company operated at a loss in the PROZf4 and 2010, it did not realize any benefit $ccitnsolidated results of operations
attributable to the tax holidays.
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Leases

The Company leases certain of its facdiil@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingdahsat expire at various dates through 2017.
Rental expense, net of amortization of deferred gad sublease income, is presented in the follgtdble (in thousands):

Year Ended

December 31 January 1,
2011 2011

Rental expens $ 1,06t $ 89t

The Company also has acquired certain aeggip through the use of various capital leasesesafnwvhich contain bargain purchase
options.

In December 2005, the Company sold thedingl containing its manufacturing facility and tte¢ated land in Irvine, California to an
unrelated third party for gross proceeds of appnatély $1.9 million. Concurrent with the sale, ®empany entered into an agreement to |
the property back. The Company accounted for thed@s an operating lease. In connection withalee the Company recognized a gain of
approximately $0.6 million which was deferred anaoatized into income ratably over the term of thade-back which expired in 2010. The
Company amortized approximately $108,000 of the gaR010, which is recorded as a reduction of exqpiense in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations.

A summary of future minimum payments unleth capital and operating lease commitments &eoémber 31, 2011 is as follows (in
thousands):

Capital Operating

Fiscal Year Leases Leases
2012 $ 19 $ 562
2013 122 444
2014 — 243
2015 — 213
2016 — 207
Thereaftel — 34
Total minimum lease paymer 31 $ 1,70¢
Less amount representing inter (18
Present value of future minimum lease payments (see
Note 7) $ 30C

Litigation and Patent Reexaminations

The Company owns numerous patents anddatenvigorously protect its rights through litigat against parties that infringe and through
defense of challenges made by way of reexaminatiguests with the United States Patent and Trade®ifdice ("USPTO"). The Company
spends substantial resources protecting its ictelé property, and these activities may contirareltie foreseeable future. There can be no
assurance that any ongoing or future litigatiopatent protection activities
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will be successful. The outcome of pending litigatand patent reexaminations, as well as any delteir resolution, could affect the
Company's ability to protect against competitiothie current and expected markets for its prodaiststo license its intellectual property in
future.

Google Litigation

In May 2008, the Company initiated discaasiwith Google, Inc. ("Google") regarding the Camy's claim that Google has infringed on
a U.S. patent owned by the Company, U.S. Paten?7/289,386 ("the '386 patent”), which relates gaiheto rank multiplication in memory
modules. Preemptively, Google filed a declaratadgjment lawsuit against the Company in the U.StribisCourt for the Northern District of
California (the "Northern District Court"), seekiagdeclaration that Google did not infringe thes'®@&tent and that the '386 patent is invalid.
The Company filed a counterclaim for infringemehthe '386 patent by Google. Claim constructionceexlings were held in November 2009,
and the Company prevailed on every disputed clainsizuction issue. In June 2010, the Company filetions for summary judgment of
patent infringement and dismissal of Google's mifitive defenses. In May 2010, Google requestedwasdater granted dnter Partes
Reexamination of the '386 patent by the USPTO.ré€kgamination proceedings are described below.iRgitide conclusion of the
reexamination, the Northern District Court gran@abgle's request to stay the litigation, and hasefiore not ruled on the Company's motions
for summary judgement.

In December 2009, the Company filed a gatdringement lawsuit against Google in the NorthBistrict Court, seeking damages and
injunctive relief based on Google's infringementJo$. Patent No. 7,619,912 ("the '912 patent"),ciwhis related to the '386 patent and relates
generally to rank multiplication. In February 208Xogle answered the Company's complaint and aslsesunterclaims against the Company
seeking a declaration that the patent is invalidi ot infringed, and claiming that the Company catted fraud, negligent misrepresentation
and breach of contract based on Netlist's actsvitiche JEDEC standard-setting organization. Thenterclaim seeks unspecified
compensatory damages. Accruals have not been extfodloss contingencies related to Google's aafdgim because it is not probable th
loss has been incurred and the amount of any ssshchnnot be reasonably estimated. In October, Z&d@gle requested and was later gra
anlInter PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO.r€kgamination proceedings are described belowommection with the
reexamination request, the Northern District Cguainted the Company and Google's joint requedtiothe '912 patent infringement lawsuit
against Google until the completion of the reexatian proceedings.

Inphi Litigation

In September 2009, the Company filed argatéringement lawsuit against Inphi Corporatidmphi*) in the U.S. District Court for the
Central District of California (the "Central DisttiCourt"). The complaint, as amended, allegeslti@ti is contributorily infringing and
actively inducing the infringement of U.S. pateotened by the Company, including the '912 paterfs. Patent No. 7,532,537 ("the '537
patent), which relates generally to memory modwihk load isolation and memory domain translaapabilities, and U.S. Patent
No. 7,636,274 ("the '274 patent"), which is relatethe '537 patent and relates generally to lsathiion and memory domain translat
technologies. The Company is seeking damages @ntttive relief based on Inphi's use of its
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patented technology. Inphi has denied infringenagwt has asserted to the court that the three pateminvalid. In April 2010, Inphi requested
and was later denied &mter PartesReexaminations of the '912, '537 and '274 patgnteddUSPTO. In June 2010, Inphi submitted new
requests and was later grantedraer PartesReexaminations of the '912, '537 and '274 patgntadoUSPTO. The reexamination proceedings
are described below. In connection with the reexation requests, Inphi filed a motion to stay peatigs with the Central District Court,
which was granted and later extended through at leabruary 2012. The Central District Court hampiested that the Company notify it within
one week of any action taken by the USPTO in cotmeevith the reexamination proceedings, at whiofetthe Central District Court could
decide to maintain or lift the stay.

In November 2009, Inphi filed a patentimflement lawsuit against the Company alleging mgfeiment of two Inphi patents generally
related to memory module output buffers. In Apfll2 the court dismissed the entire case withoyugiee pursuant to a joint stipulation filed
by Inphi and the Company under which each partgedjto bear its own costs and attorney's feesca$e is now closed.

'386 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in May 2010, Googlguested and was later grantedrter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent by the USF
In October 2010, Smart Modular, Inc. ("SMOD") regtezl and was later granted later PartesReexamination of the '386 patent. The
reexaminations requested by Google and SMOD wergedeyy the USPTO into a single proceeding. In 2011, a Non-Final Action was
issued by the USPTO, rejecting all claims in theepa In July 2011, the Company responded by amenali canceling some of the claims,
adding new claims, and making arguments as todhdity of the rejected claims in view of cited eeénces. Both Google and SMOD filed
their comments to the Company's response in Oc@fitt. The reexamination of the '386 patent remare and will continue in accordance
with established procedures for merged reexamingtioceedings.

'912 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested and was later deniedrater PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO.
In June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request andlatesgranted amter PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO. In
September 2010, the USPTO confirmed the patertiabiliall fifty-one claims of the '912 patent. Howveg, in October 2010, Google and
SMOD each filed and were later granted requestsefexamination of the '912 patent. In February 2814 USPTO merged the Inphi, Google
and SMOD '912 reexamination requests into a sipgleeeding. In an April 2011 Non-Final Action iretmerged reexamination proceeding,
the USPTO rejected claims 1-20 and 22-51 and auefirthe patentability of claim 21 of the '912 patémJuly 2011, the Company responded
by amending or canceling some of the claims, addéw claims, and making arguments as to the valadithe rejected claims in view of cit
references. Inphi, Google, and SMOD filed their coents on the Company's response in August 201Qctaber 2011, the USPTO mailed a
second Non-Final Action confirming the patentapibf twenty claims of the '912 patent, includingiois that were added in the reexamination
process. In January 2012, the Company respondadibynding or canceling some of the claims, adding ne
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claims, and making arguments as to the validitthefrejected claims in view of cited referencese Téexamination of the '912 patent remains
open and will continue in accordance with establishrocedures for merged reexamination proceedings.

'627 Patent Reexamination

In September 2011, SMOD filed a requestdexamination of U.S. Pat. No. 7,864,627 ("th@ 'patent") issued to the Company on
January 4, 2011. The '627 patent is related téottizpatent. In November 2011, the USPTO grante@®BM request for reexamination of the
'627 patent and concurrently issued a Non-Finalohatonfirming the patentability of three claims.February 2012, the Company responded
by amending or canceling some of the claims, addag claims, and making arguments as to the valafithe rejected claims in view of citi
references. The reexamination of the '627 patenaies open and will continue in accordance witllgihednter PartesReexamination
procedures.

'537 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested and was later deniedraer PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO.
In June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request andlatesgranted amter PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO. In
September 2010, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Actimfirming the patentability of four claims. In @ber 2010, the Company responded
by amending or canceling some of the claims, addéw claims, and making arguments as to the valafithe rejected claims in view of citi
references. Inphi filed its comments on the Com{sargsponse in January 2011. In June 2011, the O3&SUed an Action Closing
Prosecution ("ACP") which reconfirmed the patentgbof the four claims. In August 2010, the Comparsponded by amending some of the
claims and making arguments as to the validityhefrejected claims in view of cited referenceshlrdited its comments on the Company's
response in September 2011. The USPTO issued & &igippeal Notice in February 2012, in which thaims rejection has been withdrawn,
thus confirming the patentability of all sixty (6€lgims in view of all the previously submitted cownts by both Inphi and the Company.
Either party has one month to file a notice of gppéth the USPTO. However, in accordance with ld&thedinter PartesReexamination
procedures, if no party files a timely notice opegl, then the reexamination of the '537 patertheilconcluded and the Director of the USF
will proceed to issue and publish a certificateem@l7 CFR 1.997.

'274 Patent Reexamination

As noted previously, in April 2010, Inpleiquested and was later deniedraer PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO.
In June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request andatesgranted aimter PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO. In
September 2011, the USPTO issued a Roval Action, confirming the patentability of si¥aims. The Company has responded by amendi
canceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the validity of the rejdatlaims in view of cited references.
Inphi filed its comments on the Company's respamddovember 2011. The reexamination of the '274mpatemains open and will continue in
accordance with establishéter PartesReexamination procedures.
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Other Concluded Litigation

In March 2010, Ring Technologies Entergiiled a patent infringement lawsuit against el its forty-two of its suppliers. In July
2011 the court dismissed all claims in this actgainst the Company, without prejudice, with eaghypto bear its own costs, expenses and
attorney's fees. The case against the Companyiciosed.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlhenPany has made certain indemnities, commitmerdsyaarantees under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certangactions. These include (i) intellectual propertiemnities to the Company's customers and
licensees in connection with the use, sales atidese of Company products; (i) indemnities toders and service providers pertaining to
claims based on the Company's negligence or wiltfisikonduct; (i) indemnities involving the accayeof representations and warranties in
certain contracts; (iv) indemnities to directorsl afficers of the Company to the maximum extentipged under the laws of the State of
Delaware; and (v) certain real estate leases, unbigh the Company may be required to indemnifypprty owners for environmental and
other liabilities, and other claims arising frone tBompany's use of the applicable premises. Thegidarof these indemnities, commitments
and guarantees varies and, in certain cases, magléknite. The majority of these indemnities, goitments and guarantees do not provide
any limitation of the maximum potential for futypayments the Company could be obligated to malksoHically, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for thed@gations, and no liabilities have been recordedfiese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees in the accompanying consolidated bakirests.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

The Company's authorized capital includ&©00,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, wighravalue of $0.001 per share. No shares
were outstanding at December 31, 2011 or Janu&911.

Common Stock

On March 24, 2010, the Company sold 4,588 shares of common stock in a registered pubfariofy. The shares were sold to the pu
at a price of $3.85 per share. The Company receieégroceeds of $16.2 million, after underwritdigcounts and commissions, and estimated
expenses payable by the Company.

In November 2011, the Company enteredargales agreement with Ascendiant Capital Marke@ (“Ascendiant"), whereby shares
with a total value of up to $10.0 million may béeesed for sale to the public at the discretiomahagement at a price equal to the current
market price in an "at-the-market" offering as defl in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 198Décember 2011, the Company received
net proceeds of approximately $1.9 million raisetigh the sale of 697,470 shares. The sales agreéemith Ascendiant expires in Novemt
2014.
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Stock-Based Compensation

During 2011 and 2010, the Company cancdigd22 and 16,329 shares of common stock, respéctivalued at approximately $78,000
and $49,000, respectively, in connection with iigation to holders of restricted stock to withthtthe number of shares required to satisfy the
holders' tax liabilities in connection with the tiag of such shares.

The Company is incorporated in the statBelware, and as such, is subject to various Eate which may restrict the payment of
dividends or purchase of treasury shares.

The Company has stock-based compensatiardawutstanding pursuant to the Amended and Res200 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2000 Plan") and the Amended and Restated 200&Ebuentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"), under whichagiety of option and direct stock-
based awards may be granted to employees and ntmerep of the Company. Further grants under th® ZH@n were suspended upon the
adoption of the 2006 Plan. In addition to awardslengursuant to the 2006 Plan, the Company perittglisaues inducement grants outside the
2006 Plan to certain new hires.

Subject to certain adjustments, as of Démar31, 2011, the Company was authorized to issnaxdmum of 4,205,566 shares of common
stock pursuant to awards under the 2006 Plan. mhaatmum number will automatically increase on tingt fday of each subsequent calendar
year by the lesser of (i) 5.0% of the number ofet@&f common stock that are issued and outstaradirgg the first day of the calendar ye
and (ii) 1,200,000 shares of common stock, sultfeatjustment for certain corporate actions. At&eber 31, 2011, the Company had
149,590 shares available for grant under the 2086. At December 31, 2011, an additional 170,0G0ehwere reserved for issuance upon
exercise of inducement grants. Options granted uthée2000 Plan, the 2006 Plan and outside thayeopgentive plans primarily vest at a rate
of at least 25% per year over four years and exXjiirgears from the date of grant. Restricted staelirds vest in eight equal increments at
intervals of approximately six months from the datgrant.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 10—Stockholders' Equity (Continued)
A summary of the Company's common stockoopctivity is presented below (shares in thousgnd

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)
Options outstandir—January 2, 201 429t $ 241
Options grante: 86¢ 3.1Z
Options exercise (84 0.9¢
Options cancelle (44%) 2.4¢
Options outstandir—January 1, 201 4,634 2.57
Options grante: 1,45¢ 2.21
Options exercise (435) 0.47
Options cancelle (28€) 2.8¢
Options outstandir—December 31, 201 536¢ $ 2.62 6.1 4,031
Options exercisab—December 31, 201 357C $ 2.8¢ 4.7 3,052
Options exercisable and expecte(
ves—December 31, 201 5117 $ 2.6t 5.9 3,92¢

The following table summarizes informatamout stock options outstanding and exercisalieaember 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Contractual Average
shares Life Exercise shares Life Exercise
Exercise Price Range (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) (in years) Price
$0.20- $1.00 1,39¢ 38 $ 0.2¢ 1,123 31 $ 0.2¢
$1.01- $3.00 2,75¢ 76 $ 2.1¢ 1,33¢ 58 $ 2.1¢
$3.01- $5.00 27% 72 $ 38t 181 6.6 $ 3.87
$5.01- $8.45 94k 47 $ 6.9¢ 92¢ 47 $ 6.97
5,36¢ 61 $ 262 3,57( 47 $ 2.8¢
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

December 31, 2011

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity (Continued)

A summary of the Company's restricted stokrds is presented below (shares in thousands):

Restricted Stock
Outstanding

Weighted-

Average

Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
Balance outstanding at January 2, 2 — 3 —
Restricted stock grante 52¢ 3.4€
Restricted stock veste (67) 3.4t
Restricted stock forfeite (35) 3.4k
Balance outstanding at January 1, 2 42¢ 3.4€
Restricted stock grante 24 1.51
Restricted stock veste (11¢) 3.47
Restricted stock forfeite (13 3.31
Balance outstanding at December 31, 2 31¢ $ 3.32

The following table presents details of #ssumptions used to calculate the weighted-aveyage date fair value of common stock
options granted by the Company:

December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
Expected term (in year 6.C 5.€
Expected volatility 135% 14%%
Risk-free interest rat 2.12% 1.95%
Expected dividend — —
Weighte-average grant date fair value per st $ 201 $ 2.8¢4
Grant date fair value of options ves $ 1,26¢ $ 1,931
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousar $ 96C $ 25¢

The weighted-average fair value per shatheorestricted stock granted in 2011 and 2010 ewdculated based on the fair market value of
the Company's common stock on the respective gi@es. The grant date fair value of restrictedist@sted was $0.2 million in both 2011
2010.

At December 31, 2011, the amount of unehsteck-based compensation currently estimate@ &xpensed from 2012 through 2015
related to unvested common stock options and céstiristock awards is approximately $3.6 milliort, afeestimated forfeitures. The weighted-
average period over which the unearned stock-bemmgensation is expected to be recognized is appadely 2.8 years. If there are any
modifications or cancellations of the underlyingzested awards, the Company may be required toexate) increase or cancel any remaining
unearned stock-based compensation expense orataleuld record additional expense. Future staded compensation expense and unei
stock-based compensation will increase to the éxiierh the Company grants additional common stgtloos or other stock-based awards.
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December 31, 2011
Note 10—Stockholders' Equity (Continued)
Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purcstzaes of its common stock to certain non-empleyeeservices rendered or to be rendered
in the future. Such warrants are issued outsithef000 Plan and 2006 Plan. A summary of the wagetivity is presented below:

Weighted-
Number of Average
Shares Exercise
(in thousands) Price
Warrants outstandi—January 2, 201 18 $ 1.2t
Warrants exercise (18) 1.2t
Warrants outstandi—January 1, 201 — 3 —

There were no warrants issued, exerciseduacelled in the year ended December 31, 2011ramaroutstanding at January 2, 2010 were
classified as equity. Upon the exercise of warran010, the Company issued new shares from ttwazed shares.

Note 11—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined darton plan. Employees are eligible to participiat¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppdits may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojesi to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his ogthcontributions and investment earnings. The Compaay make matching contributions on
contributions of a participant on a discretionaagis. No contributions have been made in the yeated December 31, 2011 or January 1,
2011.

Note 12—Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company's product sales have histdyib@len concentrated in a small number of custonTdrs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Comparst'sales as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
Customer A 70% 5%
Customer E * 19%

* less than 10% of net sal
Sales of the Company's NVvault productsesgnted 66% and 54% of net sales in 2011 and 2840ectively.

The Company's accounts receivable primariéyconcentrated with one customer at Decembet(11, representing approximately 80%;
and two customers at January 1, 2011, represeagipgpximately 75% and 13% of aggregate gross rab#gg. A significant reduction in sales
to, or the
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2011
Note 12—Major Customers and Suppliers (Continued)
inability to collect receivables from, a signifidcasustomer could have a material adverse impath@€ompany.

The Company's purchases have historicagnlzoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fétiowing table sets forth purchases from
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparota fpurchases as follows:

Year Ended
December 31 January 1,
2011 2011
Supplier A 24% 10%
Supplier B * 11%
Supplier C * 10%

* less than 10% of total purchas

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmmponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductiangerruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anaatedverse effect on the Company.

Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable eagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications markéhe Company evaluates financial performance oompany-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's in&ional sales relate to shipments of productsstt)i. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third- party hubs. Net sales derived fedripments to international destinations, primatéyHong Kong (including foreign subsidiaries
of customers that are headquartered in the U&pjesented approximately 83% and 70% of the Compamey sales in 2011 and 2010,
respectively. All of the Company's net sales tedwtve been denominated in U.S. dollars.

As of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 28ifroximately $1.5 million and $2.3 million oftiCompany's long-lived assets, net of
depreciation and amortization, respectively, wemated outside the U.S., primarily in the PRC. Saiglly all other long-lived assets were
located in the U.S.

Note 14—Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluatedgtintbe date that the consolidated financial statésneere issued. There were no reportable
subsequent events.
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December 31, 2011
Note 15—Quarterly Summary (Unaudited, in thousandexcept share and per share data)

Three Months Ended

December 31 October 1, July 2, April 2,
2011 2011 2011 2011

Net sales $ 16,387 $ 16,347 $ 16,00 $ 12,00(
Cost of sales(1 10,38¢ 10,81¢ 11,06¢ 8,19¢
Gross profi 5,997 5,52¢ 4,931 3,80¢
Operating expense

Research and development 3,50z 3,98¢ BN5S 3,68¢

Selling, general and administrative 2,694 2,511 2,58: 2,917

Total operating expens 6,19¢ 6,49/ 6,33¢ 6,601

Operating income (los: (204) (96€) (1,400 (2,797)
Other income (expense

Interest income (expense), 1 (82) (72) (50 (25

Other expense, n 2 1 (59 —

Total other income (expense), | (79) (72) (109) (25)

Income (loss) before provision (benefit)

income taxe! (283) (1,037) (1,510 (2,827
Provision (benefit) for income tax (56) 2 1 —
Net income (loss $ (227 $ (1,039 $ (1,51) $ (2,829
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic and dilutet $ (0.0) $ (0.0H $ (0.0 $ (0.11)
Weighte-average common shares outstand

Basic and dilutes 28,30¢ 25,02¢ 24,98¢ 24,88:
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December 31, 2011
Note 15—Quarterly Summary (Unaudited, in thousandexcept share and per share data) (Continued)

Three Months Ended

Jaunuary 1, October 2, July 3, April 3,
2011 2010 2010 2010

Net sales $ 10,09¢ $ 10,56t $ 9,30¢ $ 7,89(
Cost of sales(1 6,807 7,54t 7,48¢ 6,07
Gross profi 3,28¢ 3,02( 1,81¢ 1,81¢
Operating expense

Research and development 3,60¢ 4,95¢ 3,19( 3,00¢

Selling, general and administrative 2,87¢ 2,98¢ 2,607 2,57(

Total operating expens 6,48¢ 7,944 5,791 5,57¢

Operating income (los: (3,195 (4,924) (3,979 (3,760
Other income (expense

Interest income (expense), 1 (43 3 3 1

Other expense, n — — 4 67

Total other income (expense), | (43) 3 7 68

Income (loss) before provision (benefit)

income taxe! (3,239 (4,927) (3,972) (3,692
Provision (benefit) for income tax D 12 2 (727)
Net income (loss $ (323) % (4939 $ (3,979 $ (2,965
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic and dilutet $ 013 $ (0200 $ (0160 $ (0.19
Weighte-average common shares outstand

Basic and dilutes 25,18¢ 24,79¢ 24,78( 20,68¢

Each of the Company's quarters in fiscdl12@nd 2010 is comprised of 13 weeks.
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Exhibit 10.9

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
(Employment Inducement Grant)

This NON-STATUTORY STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT, dated @fsJanuary 20, 2012 (this “ Agreeméhtis between
NETLIST, INC., a Delaware corporation (t* Company”), and Gerard Yeh (the “ Optionég

RECITALS

A. Optionee has not previously beaarofficer, director or employee of the Companyd thiis Option (as defined below) is granted to
Optionee to attract and retain Optionee to sergeCthmpany in the capacity of Vice President of Bagring and Research and Development.

B. This Agreement, and the grant of i@ to the Optionee pursuant to the terms andlitions hereof, have been approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Bodyd

C. This Option is designated a®@a-qualified stock option, and doest qualify as an incentive stock option within the mieg of
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198@&maended (the “ Codg

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the foregoing recitals andhaf inutual covenants contained herein, the paitigs)ding to be legally bound, agree as
follows:

1. Grantf Option. The Company hereby grants to the Optionee, asdatement to accept employment with the Company,
an option (the “ Optiori) to purchase from the Company all or any numifexroaggregate of 150,000 shares (the “ Op8bares), of the
Companys common stock, $.001 par value per share, ate pfi$2.98 per share, on the terms and subjebetoonditions of this Agreemer
This grant isnot made pursuant to the Company’s 2006 Equity Incerféilan (the “ Plaf), attached as Exhibit A However, except as
otherwise expressly provided herein, this grasuigject to the rules, terms and conditions of tla@ Bs if it were a grant made pursuant to and
under the Plan, and all such rules, terms and tiondiare hereby incorporated herein by referesdéset forth herein in their entirety.
Capitalized terms used but not defined in this &grent shall have the meanings given to them ifPtar. The Option is granted as of
January 20, 2012 (the “ Grabtate”).

2. Characteaf Option. The Option is1ot intended to be treated as an “incentive stock aptigthin the meaning of
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198@&naended (the “ Codg




3. Duratiowf Option. Unless subject to earlier expiration or termmrapursuant to the terms of the Plan, the Optlwaills
expire on the ten year anniversary of the GraneDat

4, Exercisabilitgf Option. The Option may be exercised, at any time anah fime to time until its exp|rat|on or termination,
for any or all of those Option Shares in respeatloich the Option shall have become exercisablactordance with the provisions set forth
below in this Section 4, on or at any time priottte date of any such exercise. Subject to theigioms of the Plan (including, without
limitation, the provisions of Section 7.1(e) of tAn), one-fourth of the Option shall become eisalde on January 20, 2013, with the
remainder to vest thereafter in twelve equal quigrtestallments such that on January 20, 2016 h#on shall be vested as to all of the
Shares and fully exercisable, provided, howevett, iththe event that Optionee’s services with tben@any is terminated by the Company as a
result of Optionee’s death or disability, an adutiil 25% of the total number of Shares (or suckefewamber as then remain unvested) shall
Accelerate and vest on the date of such terminatioraddition, if the Company has a change of mrand if after Optionee has been
continuously employed for one year and within sisrmths of a change of control and the optionee is:

1) terminated without cause

2) assigned to a position that is not a substafitinetional equivalent without cause, or

3) Optionee’s base salary and /or target bonus@0%o of base salary amount) is significantly deseeawithout cause, or

4) Optionee’s work location (currently San Jose bmihe) are moved to locations that increase #dgutar commute distance by an
unreasonable time and distance without cause,

then vesting of options will be accelerated by ddittonal 50% of the total number of stock optigas such fewer number as then remain
unvested). These installments shall be cumulasiveh that Optionee may exercise the Option asy@aall of the Shares covered by any
installment at any time or times after such ingtalht vests and prior to termination of the Optiditne foregoing notwithstanding, except to the
extent the Option vests upon the termination ofi@te’s services with the Company as provided ahineOption shall cease vesting upon
the termination of Optionee’s services with the @amy for any reason. Notwithstanding anything exped or implied to the contrary in the
foregoing provisions of this Section 4, the exabiity of the Option may, as provided in Sectioi(d) of the Plan, at any time be Accelerated
in the discretion of the Committee.

5. Transfeof Option. Other than as expressly permitted by the promisof Section 6.4 of the Plan, the Option mayt@ot
transferred except by will or the laws of descertt distribution and, during the lifetime of the @ptee, may be exercised only by the
Optionee.




6. Incorporationf PlanTerms. The Option is granted subject to all of the aggtlle terms and provisions of the Plan, which
terms and provisions are incorporated herein lgresfce pursuant to Section 1 of this Agreemenlydieg, but not limited to, the limitations
on the Company’s obligation to deliver Option Slsaupon exercise set forth in Section 9.2 (Violatbhaw), Section 9.3 (Corporate
Restrictions on Rights in Stock), Section 9.4 (btmeent Representations) and Section 9.7 (Tax Widiring).

7. Miscellaneous This Agreement shall be construed and enfoncextcordance with the internal, substantive lanthef
State of Delaware and shall be binding upon anckitmthe benefit of any successor or assign o€thmpany and any executor, administrator,
trustee, guardian, or other legal representatitee®fOptionee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedNhs-Statutory Stock Option Agreement as a sealstiliment as of the date first
above written.

NETLIST, INC. OPTIONEE
By: /s/ Gail Sasak /sl Gerard Yel
Name: Gail Sasal Gerard Yef

Title: Secretan

Optionefs Address




EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES

Each of the following is a wholly owned direct sidiary of Netlist, Inc.:

Entity Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Netlist Electronics (Suzhou) Co., Lt Peoplfs Republic of Chini
Netlist HK Limited Hong Kong




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statements Nos. 333-139435, 333-146133,1%1644, 333-161832, 333-
161834, 333-164261, 333-165916, 333-168330 andl33846 on Form S-8 and 333-164290 and 333-1771Fon S-3 of our report dated
February 28, 2012, relating to the consolidatedrfaial statements of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiadgpearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Netlist, Inc. for the year ended Detem31, 2011.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, Californi
February 28, 201




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfer fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 of Ngliist, a Delaware
corporation (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firnaheporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrand have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrimédion relating to the Registrant, including itmsolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readersdsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant'slosire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the dise®santrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this report based
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during
the Registrant’s most recent quarter (the Regisgréourth quarter in the case of an annual repbdj has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regastr's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | Badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofiancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the Registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
Registrant’s internal control over financial rejogt

February 28, 201 /s/ CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmal
the Board (Principal Executive Office




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Sasaki, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfer fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 of Ngliist, a Delaware
corporation (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firnaheporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrand have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrimédion relating to the Registrant, including itmsolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readersdsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant'slosire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the dise®santrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this report based
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during
the Registrant’s most recent quarter (the Regisgréourth quarter in the case of an annual repbdj has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regastr's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | Badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofiancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the Registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
Registrant’s internal control over financial rejogt

February 28, 201 /s/ GAIL SASAKI
Gail Sasak
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fNetlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Netlisfr the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011, as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on February 28, 2012 (the SR8p Chun K. Hongpresident, chie
executive officer and chairman of the board of i$gthnd Gail Sasaki, vice president and chiefrfaial officer of Netlist, each hereby certifi
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipntdo Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 622@hat, to his or her knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with theterements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsriExchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) the information contained in the Retdairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of
operations of Netlist.
February 28, 2012 /sl CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmal
the Board (Principal Executive Office

February 28, 201 /s GAIL SASAKI
Gail Sasak
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
(Principal Financial Officer)




